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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SEC FORM 2O-trS

ALPHALAND CORPORATION

Province,. country or other jurisdiction of incorporation ororganization philipoines

SEC Identification
Nurnber

BIR Tax Identification
Number

183835

00t-746-612

2.

of

3.

4.

5.

6,

7.

Alphaland Makati plu.:9, 7232 AyaraAvenue corner Marugay Srreet,1209 Makati City, philippines

Registrant's telephone number, including
area code +63 2 3172031

Date, time and place of meeting of security holders

?.ur. N{.ay 7,2019, Tuesday
Time 4:00 p.m.
Place The city Club at Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 AyalaAvenue corner MalugayStreet, Makati City
Approxirnate date orl wlrich the Infbrrnalion Staternent is first to be sent orgiven tosecurity holders April I l. 2019

S.ecurities registered pursuant to Section 8 and l2 0f the code or Sections 4 and g of the RS,4(informatiolr of the number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporateregistrants)

Address
Principal
Office

Amount of l)ebt Outstanding
As Of December 3 I . 201 8

P6,lgg,g30,l97

Are any or all of the registrant's securities risted on a Stock Exchange?Yes No ./
If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of secLrrities listed therein: n/a

8.

9.

10.

lt.

t2.

Number of Common Stock
Outstanding

29,407,499,410

re requested not to send us a



A. GENERALINFORNTATION

Item l. Date, Time and place of Meeting of Stockholders

P.u," ' May 7,2Ttg, Tuesday
Time : 4:00 p.m.
Place : The Ciry Club at Alphaland Makati place.

Street, Makati Citv

The co,rnplete mailing.address of Alpharand corporation (hereinafter, .,ALpHA,,, 
theor the "Corptrratiorr") is:

ALPHALAND CORPORA,T ION
Alphaland Makati place

7232 Ayala Avenue corner l\,lalugay Street
1209 MakatiCity
Philippines

Record Date

The record date for the purpose of deterrrining the stockhorcrers entitled to notice of, and toat, the Annual Meeting of the Stockhorders is,{pril ri.20ro lttre 
.,Record 

Date,,).

The approximate date on which this Information Statement will be first sent out to the stocof the Company is on April I l. 2019.

Item 2. Dissenter's Right of Appraisal

There are no matters or proposed actions as specified in
that may give rise to a possible exercise by shareholders
as provided in Title X of the corporation code of the phiri

Pursuant to Sections 42 and gl
exercise their right of appraisal in

any amendment of the ar.ticles of incorporation
restricting the rights of any stockholder oi class of
respect superior to those of outstanding shares of
the term ofcorporate existence;

property or assets of the corporation:

liii] incurring, creatirrg or increasirrg borrded inde(iv) increase or decrease of capital itock;
("1 merger or consolidation oithe corporation with(vi) dissolution of the corporation;

7232 Ayala Avenue corner M

attached Notice of Annual Meeti
their appraisal rights or similar ri
nes.

rshareholders of the Company

class, or of extending or shortenin

corporation or other corporations;

rich has the effect of changing c

are, or of authorizing preferences i

of the Corporation
the following instances:

(ii)

(i)

sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge or other dis ition of all or substantially all of
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(vii) declaration of stock dividends;(viii) removal of directors;
(ix) extension or lirnitation of corporate ternr;(x) itrvestment of c.rporate firnds irt another corporaticln or business or for any purpose otherthan the primary purpose for which the corporatio,, *u, organized;(xi) delegation to the Bob of the power to amend or repear by-raws or adopt new by-raws.

Each share of stock is entitled to one vote during stockholders'meetings. However, at all electionsof directors' every stockholder entitled to vote ma), vote such nu,n-be, of ,to.i, lor as manypersolls as there are directors to be elected, or he,"ui 
"urrl* saicl shares ancl give one candidateas many votes as the number of directors to be elected ,rriifri.o b1,the number of his shares shall

;?:''' 
or he may distribute them on the same principle r,rorg as many candidares as he shall see

The election of directors may only be held at a meeting convened for that purpose at whichstockholders representing a majority of the outstanding-l"prrrr srock are p."r.,ii iJ person or byproxy' However' any vacancy in tlie board, other trru,ioy iuroval or expiratiorr of term. mav befilled by the majority of trre reinaining directors if stiil corxtituting a quc,rum.

A shareholder who shall have voted against any proposecl actio, rnay exercise his appraisal rightby rnaking a written dernand on the company within thirty (30) days after the date of theshareholders' meeting, Failure to make the demand within the prescribed period shall be deemed awaiver of the appraisal right. If the proposed corporate u.tion is implement.a, tn. Corpany shallpay the dissenting 
^stockholder 

upon surrendlr of the stock certificate/s representing h isshareholdings in the company basei on the fair value tlrereolas of the <Jay prior to the date of theshareholders' meeting, exclLrding any appreciation or depreci:rtion in anticipation olsuch corporateactions' provided that no payment shall'be nra<je to the ciissenting sharelrolcler unlcss the compan'has unrestricted retained earnings to caLlse such payrnent.

If within a period of sixty (60) days from the date_the corporate action was approved by thestockholders, the withdrawing stoc[holder and the company cannot agree on the lair value ofsltares, it shall be determ.ined and appraised by three 1:; iisirrterested persons. one of whom shallbe named by the shareholder' anothei by the corporation and the third by the two thus chosen. T.hefindings of the ma.jority of the upprrir.r^ shall be final and rheir award shall be paid by theCompany within thifiy (30) days after such award is rnade.

Item 3. Interest of Certain persons in or opposition to Matters to be Acted upon

There is no matter to be acted upon in which any directr:r or executive officer is involvecl or had adirect, indirect or substantial interest (except the election of directors).

No director has informed the registrant, irr writing or otherrvise. that he intends to oppose anyaction to be taken by the registrant at the Meeting.

2019 Sl--(' l-'ctrn 20-tS
page 3

Alphaland Corporotion



B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INi'ORMATION

Item 4' voting securities and principar Horders Thereof

(a) Total Number of Shares outstanding,as of.February ,2g,2019: 2g,407,499,4r0 commonshares (exclusive of 4,239,000 
"orrnonil.,ur", in t.eusrry;,-'

Number of Votes per Share: One ( I ) vote per share.

(b) Record Date: All stockholders of record as of the close of'business on April 17.2019 areentitled to notice of" and to vote at, the Annual Meeting.

There are no delinquent stocks and followirrg is the direct and indirect record of beneficial ownersof more than five percent (5%) of com,ror, .lirr", of tfr. Co,rpu,ry,

ron 
December 10,2018, the Securities and Exchange commission approved the Amended Ar.ticles ofIncorporation of the company, amending Article vll thereof by redur;ing the par value from phpl per shareto PhP0. I 0 per share.

Common Alphaland
Southgate Tower,
Inc.
(formerly
Alphaland
Development, Inc.)

The Penthouse,
Alphaland
Southgate Tower,
2258 Chino Roces
Avenue Extension
corner EDSA,
MakatiCity

Wholly-owned

13,792.109.780 48.5s%

Common RVO Capital
Ventures
Corporatiorr

l7lF Tower l,
Enterprise Clenter,
6766 Ayala
Avenue, Makati
City

Stockholder

Robefio V. Ongpin
-Beneficial Owner

Filipino 8.426.567.460 29.66%

Alphaland Corporation
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Conrmon Boerstar
Corporation

Alphaland
Southgate Tower,
don Chino Roces
Avenue corner
EDSA, MakatiCir

Roberto V. Ongpin

- Beneficial Owner
1,677,884,300

Except as stated above, the BoD and Management of the company have no knowledge of anyperson who' as at February 28,2019, was ind-irectly o, oir..try ihe beneficial owner of more thanfive percent (5%) of the- company's outstanding shares or.orron stock or who has voting poweror investment power with reipeci to shares comprising more than five percent oiir* outstandingshares of common stock' Theie are no persons holdiniro." rhu, 5%o ofthe company,s commonstocks that are under a voting trust or similar agreement.

Securitv Ownership of Management

The following are the number of shares of common stock owned of record and beneficially by thedirectors and executive officers of the company and the percentage of shareholdings of each, as atFebruary 28,2019:

Am ount ancl l\{oture oJ' Beni:Jic i6t7
()tt,rycrthin Citizenship

Ir[ru. -
Percent

0or':',

Common
C"rr";

Roberto V. Ongpin Direct l0
Ind irect 10,395,079,120 36.s6%Common Eric O. Recto Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Common Anna tJefilna ungprn
Direct I OOn Filipino 0.00%Common Mario A. Oreta Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%
I nd i rect 164,000.000 0.62%Comnron Dennis O. Valdes Direct r 000

r 000

Filipino 0.00%Conrmon Michael Angelo patrick
M. Asperin Direct Filipino 0.00%Common Cliburn Anthony A.
Orbe Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Common Margarito B. Teves Direct I 000 Filipino 0.00%Common Gregorio Ma. AraneG-l--
Iil I Dir..t lolFilipino I o.ooy"Common Juan Edgardo M.
Angara Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Common Florentino M. Herrera
III Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Common Francisco Ed. Lim Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Common

Cilberto Eduardo
Gerardo C. Teodoro, Jr. Direct l0 Filipincr 0.00%Cornrnorr Dennis A, Uy Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Commorr

Jose Ramon T. Villarin Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Common Gregorio T. Yu Direct l0 Filipino 0.00%Common Cristina B. Zapanta Direct/lndirect 0 ilipino 0.00%Common ason J. Alba Direct/lndirect 0 Filipino 0.00%Common Jonamel G, Israel-Orbe Direct/lndirect 0 Filipino 0,00%
Alphaland Corporarion
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Except as disclosed above, the conrpany has not received from any of the directors or executiveofficers of the cornpany any statement of owne^hip, *l;;er of record o,. u.nln.iully, of morethan five percent (5%) of the compani's outstanding shares of common ,dk. ;, known by thecompany' the aggregate number of common sharei owned directly, una inJi.".tly by all keyofficersanddirectorsasagroupasatFebruary23,20lgwas 
lo,54tl.og2,2l0commonshares.

Changes in Control

There are no voting trust agreements orany other similar agreement that may result in a change incontrol of the company of which the company has any Lio*l.ag.. No change in control of theCompany has occurred since the beginning of its last fi;;"i ;;;;
Item 5. Directors and Executive Officers

Pursuant to the company's By-Laws, the directors are elected at each annual rneeting ofstockholdersbystockholclersentitledtovote. Eachdirectoriselectedfirrrter,r;i;r.(r)yearor

:i::l,Hsuccessor 
is dulv elected and qualified, untessl-,.;-;L,,r, dies or is removed priorto suctr

The following names have been nominated to the BoD for the ensuing year:

l. Roberto V. Ongpin (incumbent)
2. Eric O. Recto (incurnbent)
3. Lorenzo V. Tan (incurnbent)
4. Dennis A. Uy (incumberrt)
5. Francisco pj. Lim (incumient)
6_ Juan Edgardo M. Angara (incumbent)
7. Mario A. Oreta (incumbent)
8. Dennis O. Valdes (incumbent)
9. Anna Bettina Ongpin (incumbent)
10. Margarito B. l'eves _ Independerri lincunrbent;
I L Gregorio MaaArlleta III _ Indeperrdenr (incurnbenr)
12. Jose Ramon T. Villarin _ Independent (incumbent)
13. Florentino M.- Hererra III _ Independent lincumbent)
14. Gregorio T. yu _ Independent (incumbent)
15. Gilberto Eduardo Gerardo c. Teodoro, Jr. - rndeperrdent (irrcumbent)

The followillg names have been nominated as mernbers of the Execr-rr.ive. Audit, Nominations andCompensatiorr Committees for the ensuing year:

?. Roberto V. Ongpin (Chairman)
b. Michael Angelo patrick M. Asperin
c. Lorenzo V. Tan
d. Anna Bettina Ongpin

Audit Committee
a Margarito [J. Teves (Chairrnan/lndependent Direuor)b. Mario A. Oreta
c. Dennis O. Valdes

a. Roberto V. Ongpin
b. Lorenzo V. Tan

Alphaland Corporation
2019 SEC Form 20-tS
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c. Gregorio Ma. Araneta III (lndependent)

Com pensation Committee
a. Roberto V, Ongpin
b. Anna Beftina Ongpin
c. Mario A. Oreta

;:t#r#tioned 
nominees were nomittated to the Norninations, comnrittee by shareholders of

Pursuant to Section 38 0f the Securities Regulation code and Article III, Section 2 0f thecorporation's By-Laws, the corporation is required to elect at ieast two (2) independent directors,or such independent directors constituti,g at ieast twenty p"."ent (,20%)of the mernbers of suchboard, whichever ,r 
l.,rt:.Messrs. vu.lu.ito B, Teves, drJ[r;;; Ma. Aranera IIr, Jose Ramon T.Villarin' Florentino M' l-lererra tll, Gilberto Eduardo c"r),.ao C. Teodoro and cregorio T. yLrwere all nominated by shareholders of the conrpany. rr* no,rinating shareholders are not relatedto any of the norninees for independent directors.

A majority' if not all, of the above named nominees are expected to attend the scheduled AnnualMeeting.

The execLrtive officers. ha.ve been appoi,ted by the BOD to serve for a period of one ( l) year oruntil their successors shall have been'elected and qualilied.

The following are the names, ages, citizenships and periods of service of the(as well as that of the new nominees) and executive officers of the company,description oftheir business experience during tt . puri nr. fii rl.r'

incumbent directors
together with a brief

Incumbent

ROBERTO v. oNGpIN,chairmon of the Board and chief Executive officerMr' ongpin, Filipino, 32 years old, was elected Directorund chui.ran of the Board on November11,2009. He is arso the chairman of Atok-B^ig wedge c";;";r, Inc. (AB) and Arpharand Baresinlsland club, Inc., and former Direoor 
"l t:: M6r"ia;i;;tion ('suc), per_'Horaings, Inc.(PAL) and Petron corporation (PCOR), In Hong 

"Kong, 
rr. *u, the Non-Executive Director ofshangri-La Asia and-was the Deputy clrairman ortne soitn china Morning post, both listed in theHong Kong Stock Exchang.. Ht was also a Non-Executir. olr..tor Jf porum Energy pLC(United Kingdom)' Mr' ongpin graduated cum laude in Business Administration from the Ateneode,Manila University, is a certified Public Accountant, and has an MBA from Harvard BusinessSchool.

ANNA BETTINA ONGPIN, presiclenr
Ms' ongpin, Filipino,54 years old, was elected Director of the company on l9 March2014 andelected as vice-chaip-un 

9n 3l May 2016. She is also the vice-chairman of Alphaland BalesinIsland club, Inc' and the vice chairman and President of The city club at Alphaland MakatiPlace' Inc' Ms' ongpin has more than twenty years of ,o*rrni.ations, marketing, projectmanagement, and operations experience in the-management consulting and media fields. Sheholds a Bachelor's Degree in poriticar Science from wiresrey iorrege.

2019 SEC Form 20-tS
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ERIC O. RECTO, Vice Chairman and Director
Mr' Recto, Filipino,55 years old, is also presently the Vice-Chairman and president of Atok-Bigwedge co', Inc' He is also the chairman and cdo of ISIvI comnrunications corporation (lSM);the chairman of Philippine Bank of communications (p-BC); a Member of the Board ofSupervisors of Acentic GmbH; and a Director of Petron iorporation (pcoR). Mr. Recto has adegree in Industrial Engineering from the University of the ehilippines as well as an MBA fromthe Johnson School, Cornell University.

LORENZO V. TAN, Vice Chairman and Director
Mr' Tan, Filipino,5T years old, was elected vice chairman and Director on June 20,2olg. He isalso a director of Atok-Big wedge company, Inc. He is a prominent banker who served as thePresident and chief Executive oificer of Rizal commerciai Banking corporation tiom 2007 to2016; Presidentof the Bankers Association of the Philippines from 2013 to 2016;andchairman ofthe Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. until aprit s, zol6. Mr. Tan is a member of theBoard of Directors of Smart communiiatiynl,^tn^c,; q ina.p.no.nt Director of philippine Realtyand Holdings Corporation (RLT) since July 13,2016; a director of EEI corporation (EEI) sinceJune l6' 2017' Mr' Tan is a Certified Public Accountant in pennsylvania, USA and in thePhilippines' Mr' Tan graduated from De La.Salle University, with a Bacielorois.i"n". degree inAccounting and commerce and holds a Master of vanagement degree frorn the J.L. KellogGraduate Schoo I of Management i n Evan ston, Northwestern 

"U 
n i versity.

DENNIS A. UY, Director
Mr' Uy, Filipino, 45 years old, was elected Director on June zo,zol8. He is also the chairman andPresident of Udenna corporation; chief Executive officer and president of phoenix petroleum
Philippines, Inc. (PNX) since 2002, Comstech Integration Alliance, Inc., Chelsea Shippingcorporation, Global Synergy Trade and Distribuiion corporation, Udenna DevelopmentCorporation, Value Leases Inc., and Udenna Foundation, Inc.; Chairman of 2Go Group, Inc.
9co)'.chelsea Logistics Holdings corp. (cLC), oilink Mindanao Distribution, Mindanao MediaDynamics, Le Don Printers and Bohemian Promotions and rraining center, phoenix petroleum
Holdings, Inc' F2 Logistics, and Phoenix Philippines Foundaiion, Inc. He is also an IndependentDirector of Apex Mining company, Inc. 1Ai'k; and a Director of First oriental packaging,
Sefrorita.Famts, Aquamines Philippines, Bulbscor Minerals corporation and Blucor Minerals
!^olgoratiol' Mr. U1 is. the Honorary consul of Kazakhstan to the philippines since November20ll' He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Management at the De La SalleUniversity in Manila.

FRANCISCO ED. LIM, Direcror
Atfy' Lim, Filipino, 64 years-old, is presently the Senior Partner and a member of the Executiveand Special Committees of the Angara Abello Concepcion Regala & Cruz Law offices(ACCRALAW). He served as Presidint and Chief Executive oflrcer of the philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc' from September 16,2004 to February 10,2010. He is the incumbent president ofthe Shareholders'Association of the Philippines (SharePHIL). He is also a trustee of the CIBIFoundation, Inc' and the Judicial Reform lnitiative, lnc. and a Fellow of the Institute of CorporateDirectors' He is also a member of the American Bar Association, FINEX Research Foundation,Inc', International Insolvency Institute ("lll"), Advisory cornrnitt." for the Asian principles ofBusiness Restructuring Project of the III and the Asian Business Law Institute. Affy. Lim is acolumnist of The Philippine Daily Inquirer and a law prof.rro, in the Ateneo de ManilaUniversify, San Beda Graduate School of Law and a professorial lecturer and the Vice-chair of thecommercial Law Department of the Philippine Judicial Academy. He is a director of severalpublic companies, among which are the Union Barrk of the Philippines, Energy Development

Corporation, The lnsular Life Assurance co., Ltd., and Producers Savings Bank Cirporation. He is

Alphaland Corporation
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also director of private corporations Iike the Financial Executives Institute of the philippine
carnerton lloldings, He is a member of both the Philippine Bar and the New york State Bar.

JUAN EDGARDO M. ANGARAo Direc,tor
Mr. Angara, Filipino, 47 years old, was elected Director on June 20,2Olg. He was elected
Senate of the Philippines in 2013 were he placed 6'l'. Prior to joining the company, he workr
trainee at the Metopolitan Bank and TrusiCompany in 1991, as news reporter forThe philil
Star in 1992.He served as an apprentice and member of the delegation in itre Rtritippine Missi

and

the
asa

tne

to
llo

the United Nations in New York in 1994. He worked u, un urro.]ate attorney at the Angara A
Concepcion Regala and Cruz (ACCRA) law firm from 2001 to 2003. He finished his law dr
at the University of thePhilippines College of Law, and earned his Master of Laws degreeHarvard Law School in cambridge, Massicrrusetts, United States.

MARIO A. ORETA
Mr. oreta, Filipino, 72 years old, was elected Director c,n November I l, 2009. He s
President of the Company from 2009 to 2017. He is also the Chairman of The City
Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. He graduated with honors from the Ateneo De Manila Urwith a degree in Bachelor of Laws and immediately joined the law firm of Siguion
Montecillo and ongsiako aft_er graduating from law r.nott. He is one of the runuglng
The Law Firm of Tanjuatco Oreta and partners.

DENNIS O. VALDES
Mr' Valdes, Filipino, 57 years old, was elected director of the Company since 2011.
presently the President and director of Philweb Corporation (WEB). He is alio a director of
Big Wedge Co,, Inc. (AB). His previous work experience includes l0 years with the Inq
Group of Companies, as a Director of the newspaper, and he was also in .[urg. of expanding
Internet, printing, and ink-making operations. Piior to that, he spent six years iritn rn. Nrt,
Company developing its businesses in Asia.. He is a certified public aclountant, graduated
cum laude in Business Administration and Accountancy fronr ih. Uniu"rrity of thI philippines
has an MBA degree from the Kellogg Schoolof Management, Northwestern University.

MARGARITO B. TEVES (tndepenclent)
Mr'Teves,Filipino,T5yearsold,waselectedlndependentDirectoronAugust 

31,201 l.Heis
an Independent Director of AB, Alphaland Balesin lsland Club. Inc., and The Citv CluI vr ^u' ^rPrr<trarru Dalsslll lSlan0 LIUD. lnC., and lhe Clty CIL
Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. Mr. Teves is currently the Chairman of Think Tank, Inc., a
Member of the Board of Advisers of Bank of Commerce. He was formerly Secretary of
Department of Finance, Landbank President and cEo, and a Member of the House
Representatives (representing the 3rd District of Negros Oriental). He obtained a Hilher Nati
Diploma (HND) in Business Studies, equivalent to a-gSC in Business Economics. frJm tn" cirL''rPrurrra (Ial\u., ln suslness Stuctles, equtvalent to a BSC in .Business E,conomics, from the Cit
London College, and a Master of Arts (MA) in Development Economics from th.'a;.;;
Development Economics, Williams College, Massachusetts, USA. He was recently confened
Honorary Degree, Doctor of Laws, by Williams College, and named Senior Adviser to the Chi
Asean Economic and Culture Research Center and Visiting Professor at the Guilin [Jniversity
Electronic Teclrnology irr China.

ta-

of

GREGORIO MA. ARANETA ttt (Independenr)
Mr' Araneta III, Filipino, 70 years old, was elected Independent Director of the Company
December 2014. He is presently the Chairman of the Board of Directors of philweb Corpora(wEB). He is also an Independent Director of Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc. (AB), Alphaland Bal
r s r and c r u b, r n c an d iil: 3 il ;,ffii:lffi ffiJ"il;?:1, Ht: l;l',11i ;,1 fi : Hl?rjl'* iffi:?
Executive Officer of Araneta Properties, Inc. since 2010. tle is Chairman and president ofARAZA Resources Corporation and Carmel Development Corporation; Chairman #;;;;il,
Araneta Inc., Gregorio Araneta Management Corporation, and Gamma properties, Inc, I

1.1n"t, rtudi"d ,t .un.ir"o ung Ateneo de Manila University where

AS

at

ity

rer
eir

lso

AT

I

a

of
ral
of
[or
an
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earned his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics.

.IOSE RAMON T. VILLARIN, SJ (lndepentlentl
Mr' villarin' Filipino'.59 years old, is presently the President olAteneo de Manila University. [Jeis also the vice-clrairman of the Scientific Community/Acaderne of the National Resilience
Council' He is also a member of the Board of Governor. of Ariun Institute of Management (AIM)
and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Synergeia, Manila observatory and Confucius lnstitute.
Mr' Villarin is also a member of the Board of Trustees of various private institutions among which
are the Philippine Institute of Pure and Applied Chemistry, I-oyola School of Theology and Ateneo
de Naga University. Mr. Villarin has a degree in Physics frorn the Ateneo de Man-ila University
and graduated Magna Clum Laude. Class Valedictorian and Physics Departrnental Award of the
Ateneo de Manila University.

FLORENTINO M. HERERRA tlt (Indepentlent)
Mr' Herrera, Filipino, 67 years old, is presently the founding partner of Herrera Teehalkee &
cabrera Larv offices. ue is also a director of Philippine Airlinis, Inc., Rizal Commercial Banking
Corporation (RCBC) and Lufthansa Technik Pliilippines, Inc. Mr. Herrera is the corporare
Secretary of MacroAsia corporation and Allianzpxg Life lnsurance. Inc.

GREGORIO T. YU (lndcpentlenrl
Mr' Yu, Filipino, 59_years old, is presently the Chairman of Auto Nation Group, Inc., CatsAutomobile Corp. and American Motorcycles, Inc. He is also the vice Chairman and Director of
Sterling Bank of Asia and the Chairman and President of l-ucky Star Network Communications,
Inc' Mr. Yu is also adirectorof various private institutions, amongwhich are, pAL Holdings, Inc.,
Philippine Bank of Communications, Philippine Airlines, Inc.. philequity Managemenr, Inc. and
CATS Asian Cars. Inc' He is a board member of Ballet Philippines and M"anila Syrnphony
Orchestra and an independent director of IRenrit. Inc. and F.-BLrsiness Services. Inc.

GILBERTO EDUARDO GERARDO c. TEoDoRo, JR., (rndepentlent)
Mr' Teodoro, Filipino, 54 years old, was elected Independent Director for the company on June 20,
2018' He is also a Director of Canlubarrg Sugar brtut. from l99l to present and philippine
Geothermal Productiotl Co., Inc. from 2012 to present. He is currently the Chairman and president
of Bolarn Holdings, Inc', Branko Holdings. Inc. and WIPSIAE Holdirigs, Inc. He stuclied 1aw at the
University of the Philippines and finishecl at the top of his class. Fle obtained his Masters of'Laws
degree from Harvard Lar.r'school in Carnbridge, Massachusetts. tJnited States an<J passed the State
Bar of New York.

Independent Director

As approved by the BOD, the procedure for the nomination of independent directors shall be as
follows:

The nomination of independent directors slrall be conducted by the Nominations Conrmittee prior
to the Annual Meeting. AII recornmendations shall be signed by the nominating stockholder/s
together with the acceptance and conformity by the nominees for election. T'lre Nominations
Committee shall pre-screen the qualifications and prepare a final list of all candidates and put in
place screening policies and parameters to enable ii to effectively review the qualifications of the
nominees for independent directors.

After the nomination, the Nominations Committee shall
shall contain all the information about all the nominees
existing and applicable rules, which list, shall be made

prepare a final
for independent
available to the

list of candidates which
directors, as required by
Commission and to all
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stockholders through the filing and distribution of the information staternent, or in such other
reports the Company is required to submit the Comrnissio,n. The name of the person or group of
persons who recotnrnended the nomination of the independent director shall be identified in suclr
report including any relation with the nominee,

Only nominees whose names appear on the final list of candidates shall be eligible for election as
independent directors. No other nomination for independent directors shall be entertained after the
final list of candidates shall have been prepared. No furthen nominations for independent directors
shall be entertained or allowed on the floor during the actual annual stockholders' meeting.

All nominees do not have a relationship with the Company which woLrld interfere with the exercise
of independent.iudgrnerrt in carrying oLlt respolrsibilities of a clirector. None of thern are related to
any of the directors or officers of the Company.

The Nominations Committee has taken into consideration the qualifications to be an independent
director. Attached as Annexes 66Att.6Btt, ,rctrrrrarrr,,E, and,,F, are the cer"tifications of the
Qrralification of the Nominees for Independent Directors naLmely Messrs. Teves, Araneta, Villarin.
Herrera, Teodoro and Yu.

ln approving the nomination for Independerrt Director, the Nornination Committee took into
consideration the guidelines on the nomination of Inde;rendent Directors prescribed in SEC
Memorandum Circular No. 16, Series of 2002. All the nominees for election to the BOD have at
least one ( l) share registered in their names.

MICHAEL ANGELo PATRICK M. ASpERtN. Chief o,oerating of/icer
Mr' Asperin, Filipino,60 years old, was elected director of the Cornpany on April 2,2013 and as
Clrief Operating Officer on May 31,2016. He is the presidrgnt and Chief ExecLrtive Officer of the
Alphaland Balesin Islarrd Club, Inc. (ABICI) He handles various matters for the Alphaland Crorp
of Companies including the development of the Balesin Island Club project. as well as t6e
operations of the aviation and security divisions of the Group. Prior toloi,ring ALPHA, he served
as Senior Vice President for SecLrrity for Philweb Corporation (WEB) frorr 2009 to 2012. I-le
graduated from the Philippine Military Academy in 1981.

CRISTINA B. ZAPANT A, Treasurer and senior vice pres'ident for Finance
Ms. Zapanta' Filipino, 55, was appointed Treasurer and Vice President for Finance on May 17,
20l6 and Senior Vice President for Finance on June l.20l7. She is also the Senior Vice president
for Finance of Atok-Big Wedge Co., Irrc., Alphaland Balesin Island Club, Inc, Alphaland Makati
Place, Inc', Alphaland Southgate Tower, Irrc. and Alphaland Balesin Island Resort Corporation.
She has more than 30 years solid experience in Finance. of which over half is in the real estate
industry. She is a Certified Public Accounrant.

JASON J. ALBA, Corltorate Secretary
Mr. Alba' Filipino, 45 years old, is also the Corporate Secretary, and General Clounsel of the
Cornpany and its subsidiaries. He obtained his Business Adrninistration and Law degrees from the
University of the Philippines and was adrnitted to the Philippine Bar in 2002. prior to.joining
Alphaland, Mr. Alba was an Associate at Rornulo Mabanta f]uenaventura Sayoc & Delos Angelesl
thereafter, he served as Vice President of Standard Chartered Bank and First Vice president of the
Phi lippine Bank of Cornmunicarions.
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JONAMEL G. ISMEL-ORBE, corporate Information officer
Secretary
Ms' Israel-orbe, Filipino, 46 years old, was appointed as corporate
company since Marcl"r 12,2014 to present, and is Assistant coiporate
since May 2016 to present. She is a member of the philippine Bar.

ctnd As.sistant C'orporate

Information Officer of the
Secretary of the Company

Mr. Robe(o V. Ongpin is also a director and the Chairnran of Atok-Big Wedge Co. Inc. (AB).

Mr. Mario A. Oreta is also a director of The City CIub at Alphaland Makati place, lnc. and a
director of Atok-Big Wedge Co. Inc. (AB).

Mr. Dennis O' Valdes is also a director and the President of Philweb Corporation (WEB) and a
director of Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc. (AB).

Mr. Eric O. Recto is also a director and the Chairman of pBC; director and the Chairman and CEO
of ISM, director and the President of AB.

Atty. Lim is also director of Union Bank of the
Corporation (EDC).

Philippines, Inc. (UBP) and Energy Development

Mr. Herrera is also a director of Rizal commercial l3anking corporation (RCB).
Mr. Yu is also director of PAL Holdings, Inc. (PAL), and Philippine Bank of Cornmunications,
(PBC), and an independent director of l-Rernit. Inc. (l).

Shares of AB, ISM, PBC, UBP, EDC, RCB, PAL and I are listed in the philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc. Shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. and Alphaland Balesin
Island club, Inc. are covered by Registration Statements filed with the SEC.

S i gn ifi cant [rrnplo-vees

The Company considers its entire manpower complement (including that of its subsidiaries) as
significant employees, expected to contribute positively to the Company's goals and objectives in
line with the Company's mission, vision and objectives through the impiemintation of its core and
foundational values.

Farnily Relationshins

Messrs. Dennis O. Valdes and Eric O. Recto are the nephews of Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin. Ms.
Anna Bettina Ongpin is the daughter of Mr, Roberlo V. Ongpin, Ms. Ongpin, Messr. Recto. and
Messr. Valdes are first cousins. Other than the foregoing, the persons nominated or chosen by the
Company to becorne directors or executive officers are not related to each other up to the fbunh
civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

l. Atty. Zenaida Ongkiko-Acorda, as attorney-in-fact of Atty. Mario E. Ongkiko and in behalf of
Philex Mining corporotion vs. Roberto v. ongpin, et al., sEC case No, l l-166, Branch j5g,
Regional Trial Court of Pasig. This involves a "derivative suit" filed on behalf of philex
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against RVO and other companies beneficially owned by RVO in connection with Section
23.2 of the Securities Regulation Code and in order to recover the "shoft-swing profits" which
were allegedly realized from supposed transactions involving Philex shares. Tlris case is in the
discovery stage. A related Petition for Review on Certiorari is also pending befrrre the
Supreme Court in G.R. No.204166, entitled Roberto V. Ongpin, et al. vs. Acordi, er al.There
are also two Petitions for Certiorari which are related to this case pending with the Court of
Appeals docketed as CA-G.R. SP No. 152806 (entitled Atty. Zenaida Ongkiko-Acorda, as
Attorney-in-Fact of Atty. Mario E. Ongkiko, and in behalf of Philex Mining Corporation vs.
Judge Elma M. Rafallo-Lingan. in her capacity as Presiding Judge of the Regional Trial Court,
Branch l59,PasigCity,etal.)andCA-C.R.SPNo. 159604(entitledRoberroV,Ongpin,etal.
vs' Honorable Elma M. Rafallo-Lingan, in her capacity as the presiding Judge of Branch 159
of the Regional Trial Couft of Pasig City, et al.).

2. People vs. Roberto v. ongpin, et al., s.B.-13-cRM-|10s and s.B.-t3-cNtvI-Tt06,
Sandiganbayan (Third Division). This case was filed against RVO and others in connection
with two loans obtained by Deltaventure Resources, Inc. (DVRI) from DBP. The Informations
in both cases, respectively, for violatiorrs of Section 3 (e) of R.A. No,3019 were filed on l0
January 2013. In a Resolution promulgated on 28 May 2014, the Third Division of the
Sandiganbayan granted the Accused's Motions to Quash and DISMISSED Criminal Case Nos.
S.B.-13-CRM-0105 and S.B.-13-CRIM-0106. A related Petition for Review on Certiorari is
pending before the Supreme Court in G.R. Nos.217417 and2l79l4, entitled "People of the
Philippines v. Reynaldo G. David, et al,"

In the mqtter of: Roberto v, ongpin, Mario A. oreta, Margarito B. Teves,et at., SEC'-EIpD
Case No. l1-3039.This concerns the findings of the Enforcement ad Investigation Protection
Department on the liability of respondents for violation of Section 26(3) of the Securities
Regulation Code (SRC) in connection with the issuance of shares of Alphaland Corporation in
a capital call, stock rights offering and property for share swap which were approved and
ratified by respondents as officers and members of the Board of Alphaland Corporation. On
August 24,2015, Respondents elevated the matter through notice of appeal to the SEC En
Banc, where the matter is presently pending resolution. The appeal is docketed as SEC En
Banc CaseNo.08-15-384, entitled "Roberto V. Ongpin, Mario A. Oreta, Margarito B. Teves,
et al. vs. Enforcement and Investor Protection Department.

In the Matter of: Philex Mining Corporation, SEC-EIPD Case No. 14-3044. This concerns the
findings of the Enforcement and Investor Protection Department against Mr. Roberto V.
Ongpin for allegedly committing Insider Trading when he purchased Philex shares at
Phpl9.25 to Php 19.50 per share from the open market in the morning of 02 December 2009
without disclosing to the public that the group of Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan had agreed to
purchase the said shares from him at P21.00 per share. RVO appealed the case to the SEC En
Banc but the latter affirmed the findings of the EIPD. Mr. Ongpin elevated the case to the
Court of Appeals by way of a Petition for Review docketed as CA-G.R. SP. No. 146704,
entitled "Roberto V. Ongpin v. Enforcement and Investor Protection Department". On
December 1 , 2017 , the Court of Appeals issued a decision in favor of RVO, reversing the SEC
and finding that RVO did not commit insider trading. EIPD filed a Motion for
Reconsideration, which was denied by the Court of Appeals on July 2, 2018. EIPD elevated
the case to the Supreme Court by way of a Petition for Review, which petition is presently
pending resolution,

5. People of the Philippines vs. Dennis Ang [Jy, John Does and/or Jane Does - Regional Trial
Court-Branch 14, Davao City, Criminal Case Nos. 75, 834-13 to75,845-13 and76,076-13.
On August 27,2013, The Department of Justice (DOJ) filed twelve (12) Informations before
the Regional Trial Court of Davao against Mr. Dennis A. Uy and several John Does and/or
Jane Does foralleged violations of Section 3602,in relation to Sections 360it.2530 (lXl), (3),
(4), and (5), Sections 1801, 1802 of the Tariff and Customs Code of the Philippines. These
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provisiorrs all pertairrs to unlawful irnporlation of goods allegedly committed by Mr. Uy forthe
irnportation of petroleurn products in the Philippines. On September 11,2013, additional ten
(10) criminal informations were filed by the DOJ, pertaining to additional instances of the
violations under the TCCP. These additional informations all pertain to the alleged unlawful
importation of petroleum products. On October 4, 2013, the RTC disrnissed all the cases. for
lack of probable cause, against Mr. Uy. People of the Philippines filed a Motion for
Reconsideration,whichwasdeniedbytheRTConAr.rgust l8.20l4.OnOctober27.20l4,the
petitioner People of the Philippines filed a Petition for Certiorari with the Court of Appeals,
which was denied by the latteron October 12.2016. On November 7,2016,the People of the
Philippines filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision dated October 12,2016. To
date, the Court of Appeals has not acted on the Motion for Reconsideration dated November 7.
2016 and thus the case remairrs pending.

6. Dennis A. Uy vs. Hon. Secretary of the Departntent oJ' ,lustice Leila M. De Lima and the
Bureau rtf Clustoms, CA-G.R. SP No. 131702, Courl of Appeals, Manila, Special Former
SpecialTenth Division - Dennis A. LJy filed a Petition forCertiorari with the Court of Appeals
on Septernber 4,2013 in connection to the resolution of the DOJ to file crirninal cases against
him for the alleged violations of the TCCP. On July 25,2014, the Court of Appeals issued its
Decision granting the Petition for Certiorari of Mr. Uy and declaring the Resolutions of the
DOJ dated April24.20l3 and August 13,2013 nullified and set aside and directing that rhe
Information filed against Dennis Uy withdrau'n and/or dismissed for lack of probable cause.
The DOJ and the Bureau of Customsthereafterfiled a Motion for Reconsideration. which was
denied by the Court of Appeals on July 23.2015. Subsequently, the DOJ and Bureau of
Customs filed a Petition lor Review on Certiorari with the Supreme CoLrft. The SLrprerne Court
required the parlies to file their respective Memoranda, which the parties complied with. On
December 12,2016, the Supreme Couft issued its Notice of Resolution dated November 16,
2016 noting the parties Memoranda. As of the date, the Supreme Court has not yet issued any
decision.

Other than the foregoing, the C'ompunv i.s not an'are oJ'any other legul pntceacling, inc,lucling
without lintilcttion any (a) bankruptcy petition, (b) conviction by Jinul judgment, (c) order,
judgment or decree, or (d) violation of a securititts Ltr ctttntnotlilie,s lav,, during the ta,st five (5)
yeor.s up to the date of the filing of this Statement, to which any of its Directors and Executive
Olficers is a party and which is material to an evaluation oJ'their ability or integrity to act as ,suc,h.

Certification

Based on inforn-ration provided to tlre Company. none of the above-nalned directors and offlcers
work in the government.

Certain Relationsh ips and Related Transactions

The Company is not aware of any transaction in the last tw'o (2) years, or proposed transactiorr to
which the registrant is a parry, in which the fbllowing persolts havc dircct or indirect ntaterial
interest. that were out of the ordinary coLlrse olbusiness:

l. any director or executive officer
2. any nominee for election as director
3. any security holder named above
4. any member of the immediate farnily of the above-named persons

Except as disclosed in the Company's notes to financial staterxcnts contained in the Cornpany,'s
aLrdited financial statements. there has been no lnaterial trarrsaction to which the Cornpany was or
Alphaland Corporation 2019 SEC Form 20-lS
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is to be a party in which any of the incumbent directors or nominee director or executive officer of
the Company or owners of more than ten percent of the Company's voting shares has or is to have
a direct or indirect material interest. In the ordinary course of business, the Company has
transactions with other companies in which some of such persons may have an interest. Such
transactions are negotiated on an arm's length basis comparable or better than that wlriclr can be
provided by independent third parties.

The transactions with related parties/affiliates are carried out under commercial terms and
conditions. Pricing for the sales of products are market driven. For purchases and other services,
the Company's practice is to solicit competitive quotes from third parties. Transactions from any
related pafi are evaluated on arm's length commercial terms and subject to bidding against thiri
party suppliers. Purchases and services are usually awarded on the basis of lowest cost provider.
The Company also receives/grants cash advances and other financial support from/to affiliated
companies and stockholders. These cash advances to and from affiliates bear interest rate based on
current bank rates and with no definite repayment period.

No director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the board of directors since the date
of the last annual meeting of security holders because of a disagreement with the registrant on any
matter relating to the registrant's operations, policies or practices.

Item 6. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

The aggregate compensation (including bonuses) paid or accrued during the last two years and the
ensuing year to the Company's Chief Executive Officers (CEO) and the key officers named below,
as a group are:

Name and
Principal
Position

Year Salary
(PhP)

Bonus Other
(PhP) Compensation

Aggregate
Compensation (PhP)

CEO and
Top 4 Highe
st Paid

Executives
l. Roberto
V. Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO
2. Anna
Bettina
Ongpin,
EVP
3. Michael
A. P. M.
Asperin,
EVP
4. Cristina B.
Zapanta
5. Enrico M.
Sison

2017 94.205.596.90 0 94.205.596.90

All Directors
and Officers
as a Group
Unnamed

20t1 9s.771.s96.90 95.77 t "596.e0

Alphaland Corporation

126.315.086.21CEO and 20t8 126.3t5.086,21
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Top 4
Highest Paid
Executives
L Roberto
V. Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO
2. Anna
Bettina
Ongpin,
President
3. Michael
A. P. M.
Asperin,
EVP
4. Enrico
Sison, SVP
5. Yu,
Christene,
SVP

All Directors
and Officers
as a Group
Unnamed

t27.515.086.2t20 r8 127 .51 5 .086.21

CEO and
Top 4
Highest Paid
Executives
l. Rober"to

V. Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO
2. Anna
Bettina
Ongpin,
President
3. Michael
A. P. M.
Asperin,
EVP
4. Enrico
Sison, SVP
5. Mark
Biddle,
Executive
Chef

2019 I 27.400.000.00,i 0 127.400.000.00*

All Directors
and Officers
as a Group
Unnamed

2019 129.800.000.00* 'r 129"900.000.00

* Estimated aggregote compensation for whole year 20 I 9

The above executive officers, aside from their compensation and
certain expenses which they incur as part of the ordinary course

bonus. are entitled to reimburse
of business (i.e. representation,

Alphaland Corporation 20 I 9 SEC Form 20-lS
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gasoline and other travel expenses). There are no special terms or compensatory plans or
arrangements with respect to the resignation, termirnation o1'employment of such executive officers
between the Company and any of its executive offlcers. Lilkewise, there are no warrants or options
held by the company's officers or directors either r;ingly 0r collectively.

The non-executive members of the BOD do n,ot receirre any direct compensation from the
Company. None of the directors, in their personal capacity. has been contractid and compensated
by the Company for services other than those prov;ided as a director. The BOD, upon attendance at
each Board Meeting, is authorized under the Cornpany's By-laws to receive a per diern of rrot
more than l0% of the net income before tax of tlre Corporation during the preceding year.

The Cornpany is being managed by the marlagetnent team of ASTI.

Item 7. Independent Public Accountant

In 2018, tlre Company engaged Reyes Tacandong & Co. as its external aLrditor for tlre year. with
the approval of the BOD and the stockholders. There werr3 no changes in or disagreements with
accountants on any matter of accounting principle:; or practices, finarrcial statelxent disclosr.rre, or
auditing scope or procedure dLrring the past calendar year.

The Cornpany paid its external auditor the following lees for the last three (3) years for
professional services rendered:

Aggregate Fee Amount _
Type of Service 2018 20t7 2016 Nature of Service
External Audit
Retainer

F 3,835,000 F769,500 F580,000 Audit of Financial Statements
216,000 2 16.000 'l'ax Advi

Total Fees P4,051,000 F985,500 F796.000

The Audit Committee is directly responsible in selecting and appointing the independent public
accountants, Annually, the Committee recommends that the Board request shareholder ratification
of the appointment of the independent public aocountants. The Committee is also responsible for
setting the compensation of the independent public accountants and periodically reviews the fees
charged for all permitted audit-related expenses and other services. The Committee performs
oversight functions over the Company's external auditors. lt ensures that the auditors act
independently from management and that it is given access to all records, properties and personnel
of the Company to enable it to perform its functions properly. It is also their responsibility to
evaluate and, when appropriate, to remove the independent public accountants. The Audit
Committee makes recommendations to the BOD concerning the external auditors and pre-approves
audit plans, scope and frequency before the conduct of the external audit. The Committee reviews
the financial repo(s before these are submitted to the Board, with particular focus on (i) any
changes in accounting policies and practices, (ii) Major judgmental areas, (iii) significant
adjustrnents resulting frorn audit, (iv) going concenr assumptions, (v) compliance with accounting
standards, and (vi) compliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee
has approved the audit conducted by Reyes Tacandong & Co.

There were no other professional services rendered by Reyes Tacandong & Co. during the period.

The reappointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co. as the Company's external auditor was approved by
the Stockholders in the Annual Stocklrolders Meeting held orr June 20, 2018.

There were no disagreements with respect to the transfer of the account, nor was there any
accounting/auditing issue raised in this connection.
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The reappointment of the said auditing firrn as lndependerrt Public Accountant lor the year 2019
will be sLrbrnitted to the stockholders by the Conrpany's l\udit Cornrnittee for their confirmation
and approval during the regular annual stockholders rneeting.

Pursuant to Rule 68 of the Securities Regulation Code on the 5 year rotation requirement for the
external auditor, the Audit Committee shall require the appr:intment of a new partner to handle and
oversee the external audit of the Group's financial statements. The appointment of the duly
qualified and SEC registered Independent Public Accor.rntant shall be anrrounced in the
shareholders meeting fbr corrsideration and approval of the stocklrolders.

Duly aLrthorized representatives of Reyes Tacanclong & Co. are expected to be present at the
meeting where they will have the opporllrnity to respond to appropriate questiorrs.

Item 8. Compensation Plans

On June 5,2013, the BOD of the Company approved a Stock Option Plan, with the following
salient features:

a. Allocates no rrore than 5Yo of the authorized capital (i.e.. 100 million comrron shares) for the
plan.

b. A stock option committee will make the grants.
c. Each grant is for 3 years and will vest 113 each for each of the succeeding years.
d. Strike price shall not be less than 80% of the market value at the tirne of the grarrt.

The title and amount of securities underlying sLrch optiorrs is not more than five percent (5%) of
the Company's authorized capital stock or 100 rnillion colnrlon shares of the Corrpany.

The prices, expiration dates and other material conditions Lrpon which the options rnay be

exercised will be determined by the Stock Option Committee.

The consideration received or to be received by the registrant or subsidiary for the granting or
extension of the options will be determined by the Stock Option Committee.

The amount of such options received orto be received by thLe lollowing persons will be deterrnined
by the Stock Option Cornnrittee:

A. the Chief Executive Officer;
B. the four highest paid executive officers, other than the Chief Executive Officer, who were

serving as executive officers at the end of the last completed fiscal year;
C. all current executive officers as a group;
D. each nominee for election as a director:
E. each other person wlro received or is to receive five percent (5%) of such options. warrants

or rights;
F. all current directors as a group who are not executi'v'e officers; and
G. all other employees, as a group.

This plan was approved by Stockholders (representing at least 213 of the Outstanding Capital
Stock) during the annual stockholders meeting held on December 3,2014.

On November2J,20l7. June 9,2017, and December 19,2016. the Stock Option Plan Comrnittee
awarded stock options to key officers and employees ol the Cror.rp. As of Decerrber 3 l. 20 I 8 the
Stock Option Plan is still subject to approval by the SEC and lvill not be effective until approved.
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C. ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES

Item 9. Authorization or lssuance of Securities Other than for Exchange

No action will be taken with respect to the authorization or issuance of any securities other than for
exchange of outstanding securities of the Company.

Item 8 (Compensation Plans) above sets forth the adoption of the Cornpany's stock option plan.

Item 10. Modification or Exchange of Securities

On May 10,2017, the shareholders approved the following amendment to the Seventh Article of
the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation, which amenclment was previously approved by the

Board of Directors of the Corporation on November 11,2016. as fullows:

"StsVENTH: That the authorized capital stock of said corporation is FIVE
BILLION PESOS (P5,000,000,000.00) Philippines Currency, and said capital

stock is divided into FIFTY BILLION (50,000,000,000) common shares with a

par value of Ten Centavos , Philippine currency (P0.10) each share."

The Company's Amended Articles of Incorporation reflecting the amendment to the Seventlt

Article was filed with the SEC on January 19,2018 and was approved by the SEC on December

10.20r8.

Aside from the foregoing, there were no recent planrred modifications of any class of the

Company's securities or the issuance or authorization for issuance of one class of the Company's

securities in exchange for outstanding securities of another class.

ltem ll. Financial and Other Information

Corporate I n forrrratiort.

ALPHA is a holding company incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and

Exchange Commission (SEC) on November 19, 1990. The principal business of ALPHA and its

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") is real property development.

The registered office address of ALPHA is Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 Ayala Ave. ext. cor.

Malugay Street, Makati City.

The consolidated financial statements as

approved and authorized for issuance by
2019.

at and for the year ended December 31, 2018 were

the Executive Committee of the BOD on January 31,

ALPHA's Sienificant Lesal Subsidiaries as at December 31. 2018 and 2017

a. Alphaland Balesin Island Resort Corporation UBIRC), 100%-owned by ALPHA, was

incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 26, 2010.

ABIRC's primary purpose is to invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use,

sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be

permitted by law, of realand personalproperty of every kind and description'

ABIRC has investment in preferred shares of Alphaland Balesin Island Club, lnc. (ABICI).

2019 SEC Form 20-lS
Page 19

Alphaland Corporation



c.

e,

f.

d.

Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc. (ASTI), 11l%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the

Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 29, 2007 as Alphaland

Development, Inc. On October 15,2015, the Philippine SEC approved the change in

corporate name from "Alphaland Development, lnc." to "Alphaland Southgate Towor, Inc."

ASTI's primary purpose is to engage in real property acquisition and development. ASTI's

main property is a 20-storey office tower building with a six-storey podium shopping mall

known as Alphaland Southgate Tower.

Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. (AMPI), l)}o/o-owned by ASTI, was incorporated in the

Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 6, l99l as Silvertown Property

Development Corporation. On February 26,2010, the Philippine SEC approved the change in

corporate name from "silvertown Property Development Corporation" to "Alphaland Makati

Place, [nc."

AMPI's primary purpose is to acquire by exchange of shares, purchase, lease that specific

properfy described as three-storey building with basement of strong materials together with the

warehouse, other land improvements and machinery and equipment as well as the leasehold

rights on the land, which is situated at Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street, Makati, Metro

Manila.

AMPI entered into a joint venture with Boy Scouts of the Philippines (BSP) to develop the

Malugay Property into a first class commercial development now known as Alphaland Makati

Place. It is a mixed-use property development consisting of three (3) high end residential

towers atop an upscale six-storey podium with a shopping center and a City Club.

AMPI has investment in preferred shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Inc.

(rccAMPr).

Alphaland Reclamation Corporation, 100%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the

efiilippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on April 5,2011, and primarily engaged in

the construction of reclamation projects and to contract for and perform reclamation works.

Alphaland Balesin International Gatewoy, Inc. (ABIGl), l10ok-owned by ALPHA. was

incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the SEC on May 19, 2010 as Aklan

Boracay Properties Inc. On October 17,2016, the Philippine SEC approved the change in the

Company's corporate name from "Aklan Boracay Properties, Inc." to "Alphaland Balesin

Cateway, Inc." On April I O, 2Ol8 the Philippine SEC approved the further change in the

Company's corporate name from "Alphaland Balesin Gateway, Inc." to "Alphaland Balesin

International Gateway, Inc." ABIGI's primary purpose is to invest in, purchase or otherwise

acquire and own, hold use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge' exchange or otherwise

dispose, as may be permitted by law, of real and personal property of every kind and

description.

Alphaland Aviation, Inc. (AAI), l1|oZ-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the Philippines

and registered with the Philippine SEC on July 31,2012 and is primarily engaged in the

aviation industry and its related businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of
hangarage and moorage, parking and landing operations, aircraft maintenance, supply of pafts,

oils, and lubricants and other related businesses.

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, lnc. (ABMLHI), 100%-owned by ALPHA' was

iniorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on January 17,2013 as

Alphaland Holdings Company, Inc. On September 7,2016, the Philippine SEC approved the

change in corporate name from "Alphaland Holdings Company, Inc." to "Alphaland Baguio

Mountain Log Homes, Inc.".

o
b'
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h.

ABMLHI's prirnary,pllrpose is to deal and engage in the real ,estate business in all its aspects;

to hold, develop, manage, administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent, or

otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate projects,

involving commercial, industrial, urban, residential or other k.inds of real property, improved

or unimproved, with or to such persons and enlities and und,er such terms and conditions as

rnay be permitted by law.

2258 Blue Holdings, lnc. (Blue Holdings), 1})(%t-ov,ned by l$71, was incorporated in the

Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on Septermber 17. 2012 and its primary
purpose is to purchase, owr.l and hold the stock of other corpc,rations, and to do every act and

thing covered generally by the denornination of "holding corporation," especially to direct the

operations of other corporations through the ownership of stoclk therein.

Alpholand Southgate Restaurants, Inc. (ASRI), 117%-owned by ASTI, was incorporated in the

Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 28.201I as Alphaland Ukiyo,
Inc. It was renamecl as ASRI on June 21,2013. Its prirnary purpose is to establish. maintairl

and operate restaurants, coffee slrops, refreshmertt parlors and ,;ocktail lounge.

Choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc., 1}0%-owned by Blue Ho'ldings, was incorporated in the

Philippines and registered with the SEC on November 6,2012, and is prirnarily engaged to.

conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act as a broker, and to do other related

activities.

Atphulanct Aviuliort-Pctmpungu. Inc'., 1)}'%,-otrnecl b.t' AAI, was incorporated and registered

with the Philippine SEC on December 5.2016 prirnarily to engage in aviation industry arrd its

related businesses, including but not lirnited to, the provision of hangarage and moorage,

parking and landing operations, aircraft maintenance, supply ,of parts, oils, and lubricants and

other related businesses.

Aegle Wellness C'enter, Inc. (AWCtl, 1)1%-ov,ned by ALP)7A, incorporated and registered

with the Philippine SEC on September 28,2015 primarily to provide diagnostic, therapheutic

and naturopathic services using formulated lrerbal supplement:; and natural health products and

sale of such herbal supplements.

AegleDrugstore,Inc',100?6-owneclbyAMPI,wasincorp'oratedandregisteredwiththe
Philippine SEC on December 22,2017 primarily to engage in the business of retailirrg or

wholesaling of pharmaceutical products, medicines, foodstrrffs and groceries.

Alphaforce Sec.uri|y Agency, ,tnc. (ASAI), 8O9/o-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated and

registered with the Philippine SEC on March l8.20ll prirnarily to engage in the business of
providing security and investigation services to private institutions and government

organizations.

ALPHA initially subscribed to 79,999 common shares of ASAI representing 40% of its

outstanding shares in March 201l, which was then accounte<J for as an associate. In October

2017. ALPHA purchased additional 19.999 common shares frorn an existing slrareholder for F

I 1.2 million increasing its ownership olASAI to 80%.

Alphatancl lnternalional. lnc, (All), 100%-owned by AL.PHA, was incorporated and

registered with the Philippine SEC on January 29,2014 prinearily to market assets, including

club shares and condominium units of the Alphaland Group of Companies outside the

Philippine market.

j

k.

I.

m.

n.

o.
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Financial Statements

The audited consolidated financial statements as of Decr:mber 31, 2018 of the Group will be

distributed to the stockholders on the designated annual me,3ting date.

Plan of Operation

The Group generates funds primarily from sale of conclornirtium units and parking spaces at

Alphaland Makati Place, Inc., sale of Baguio Mountain Lodges and Balesin Private Villas; from
mall and leasing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower, Alphaland Makati Place Mall and

Corporate Center; and from operation of serviced residencr:s of The Alpha Suites that commenced

during the first half of the year 2018. The leasing operations and The Alpha Suites provide

recurring cash flows for the Group.

The Group also generates funds through secondary sale of rnernbership shares of the cornpleted

Club projects, namely, Alphaland Balesin lsland Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makati

Place.

Early in the year 2017, Banco De Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO), the country's largest bank approved a

F5.5 billion loan facility for Alphaland, which was used mainly to refinance most of the Group's

existing debts, with the balance used to fund working capital requirernents. This loatr was

subsequently increased to P6.726 billion on November 2. 2011 .

At the beginning of the year 2019, BDO assigned the Alphaland loan to the PBCOM Trust and

Wealth Management Group. Sometime in March 2019, upon receipt of clearance from the

Philippine Competition Commission, Alphaland Southgate Tower and Mall was sold to League

One, Inc. resulting in the Group having prepaid the PBCOII Trust and Wealth Management Crorrp

loan. While the Group will forego the annual rental income from Alphaland Southgate. the Group

will be able to eliminate about PhPl billion in debt servir:e, which will have a dramatic lpositive

impact on the Group's financial performance for 2019 and beyond.

The Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges, a master-plann,od development of authentic log, homes

spread out over 69 hectares of rolling mountains and terrain just l5 minutes away from Baguio

City proper continued to progress. There will be five designs and floor plans to choose from, and

the homes will be sited to maximize the views of the surrounding pine-forested mountains. The

entire property will be secured by a perirneter fence. The ji rnodel units and clubhouse. along with

the first 2l single-family homes. has been cornpleled. flls,quadruplex mLrlti-f,amily lodges of 2 arrd

3 bedrooms. which consistof sonte l5 structures loratotal of 60 home units. will be sold forabout

half the price of the single family units and is already genenating brisk rnarket interest.

The most significant project that broke ground in December 2018 is the Alphaland Balesin

lnternational Gateway on Patnanungan Island in Quezon. Alphaland has acquired more than 700

hectares of land in Patnanungan Island for the purpose of building a full interrlational airport

facility which will accommodate even Boeing 747s. With the establishment of Balesin Gateway

International Airport, international members and guests will be able to bypass the congestion of
NAIA in Manila and fly directly to Balesin from Tokyo, Seoul, Taipei, Hongkong, Bangkok,

Singapore, Jakarta and Sydney, all cities that will be the target of Alphaland's aglgressive

international marketing of Balesin Island Club in 2017. A.long with the plan for full internatiorral

airport, Alphaland plans to build an 18-hole charnpionship golf course and a 300-room hotel, as

well as 500 beachfront and golf course homes. The entire project will take 3 to 4 l/ears to

complete.

A project that the Group launched in October 2018 is 1-op of the Alpha, a top-of-the-line chic

night spot that occupies the entire Penthouse tloor of the Alphaland Corporate Center.
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The Group is bullish for 2019 because it has made fundamentally sound financial and operating

decisions in the year 2018.

Research and Development

The Group engages in research and development activities focusing on the types of construction of
materials, construction rnethodology, value-engineering, and quality assurance for its projects. I'he

expenses incurred by the Group in connection with these activities are not material.

Number of Employees

The Group does not expect significant change in the number of employees for year 2019.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operation and Financial Condition

Results of Operations (in thousands)

Years Ended December 3l Va ria nce

2018 2017 Amount o//o

REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sold

Cost of services
Ceneral and administrative

P2,877,819

859,354
646,589

|,237,330

?2,483,427

834.340
36Cr.468

874.784

P394.392 t6vo

25.014 3%
286.121 79o/n

362.546 4loh

2,143,213 2.069.592 67l.6ti I 33o/o

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Cain on fair value changes olinvestment properties

Interest expense and other finance charges

7,453,516
(J2 r,34s)

I 1,47 r,8 r9
(365,727)

5t,476

(4.0r8.303) -35%
44.382 -l2o/o

( I 52.333) -2960/oOther gains (losses) net (100,857)
7,031,314 rr,rs7,568 @f292'4,_]l!

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current
Det'erred

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not to be reclassiJied to proJit or loss in subsequent
ye0rs;
llevaluation increase

lncome tax eu'ect

4,728,303 8,169,032 (3,440,729) -42o/o

7,165,860

68,380
2,369,t11

4,365, t 48

r r.57 r,403

58.r61
1.344.2 r0

(4.405.541) -38%

10.219
e75,033)

4.355"633 457'760/o9.5t5
2.854

964,8 | 4)

I,287,956 (t.285.102) 45028%

3,077,192 (r,661 3,070,531 460970/0

Unrealized valuation gain on equity securities

designated as FVOCI
Income tax eft'ect

r,084,338 - r.084.338 0%
(162,651) - (162.651) 0%

921.681 92t.68'7 0o/o

Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement
liabilitv - 22.504 (22.504) - 100%

To be reclassified to pro/it or los"' in subsequent

years;

Reclassitlcation ad.iustments on disposal ol'AI-S
flnancial assets

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
assets

Income tax eff-ect

(2 r 6,03 8)

58, r 46
I 5,789

216.038 -100%

(58,r46) -100%
(15,789) -100%

(r42.r03) 142.103 -100o/o

3,998,879 ( r r2.e38) 4" I I 1.8 l7 -36410/o

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOM E P8,127,182 Ftt.05(1.094 P67 t.0{i8 8%

Net income attributable to:
Equity hol<lers of the Parent Company P4,127 ,912 P8,16'7 ,662 (F3.439,750) -42o/o

Noncontrollins interesls l9l | ,370 (979) -7 l%
P4,728,303 F8. l6').032 (F3.440.729) -42%

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company P8,126,791 F8"054.768 P6'12.023 80/o

Noncontrolling intercsrs J9l 1"126 (915) -71"u

127,t82 P8.056.094
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The Group's consolidated net income in 2018 and 2017 amounted to P4,728.3 million and

P8,169.0 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Group isP8,727.2 rnillion in

2018 and F8.056.1 million in 2017.

l6'% Increa,se in Revenues
The Group showed corrsolidated total revenues amounting to P2,877.8 million and P2,483.4

million for the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase is rnainly
attributed to combined effects of AMPI's additional rent income from Corporate Tower and

increasednumberofnewleaseagreementsofAMPIandASTIduring20l8. Furthermore,thereis
an increasingtrend in revenues from transport services provided bv AAI to ABICI.

33%o increase in C-ctsls und Expenses

Increase frorn P2.069.6 rnillion in prior period to P2.1'43.7 rrrillion in current period rrainly
represents cost of condominium units and transportation service, corresponding to increased

number of units sold and number of flights, respectively.

37o/o Decrease in Other Income (Expenses)

Other income (expense) decreased by F4,126.3 million from F 11,157.6 million in 2017 to

P7,031.3 million in 2018. The significant decrease is attributable to lower gain on lair value

changes of investment propefiies recognized in 2018 as comparerl to 2017 (Southgate Tower and

Mall. Silang, Makati f'lace and Balesin properlies).
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Years Ended December 3l Variance

2017 20t6

REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost ofreal estate sold
Cost of services
General and administrative

F2,483.428

834,340
360,468
946,723

P2.335.748

t,094,857
285,884
562, I l0

F r47.680

(260.5 r 7)
74.584

381.613

6Yo

-24o/o

26%
68%

2. t4l.53 I t.942.85 I 198"680 l0o/o

oTHER TNCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on lair value changes of investment properties

Interest expense and other tlnance charges
Other gains (losses) - net

I 1.47 t.819
(365"727)

t23.4t4

10.007.052
(294.749)
t05.486

I .464.7 67 I 5o/o

(70.978) 24%
t7.928 73%

I t,229,506 9,8 I 7,789 t.4t 1.717 l4Vo

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current
Def'erred

r 1,57 r,403

58.r6r
3 "144.2 I 0

r0,2 10.685

87.084
3 "046.7 78

1.360,7 I 8 l3o/o

(28.e23 )

297.432
-33%

l0o/o

3.102.371 3.133.862 26ti.509 9%

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not to be reclassified to proJit or loss in subsequent
years:
Revaluation increase
lncome tax eflf-ect

8. r 69.012 7.076.823 1.092.209 150/o

9.5 t5
2.8s4 )

(94.3 r 3 )

28.294
-9l%o
-91%

(66.0 r9)
l{emeasurement gain (loss) on retirement

liability 22.504 ( r.346) 23.850 -1772o/o

To be reclassiJied to proJit or loss in subsequent
yea rs;
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS

financial assets
[Jnrealized valuation gain on AFS financial

assets

Income tax cf-l-cct

(2 r 6,038)

58, r 46
I 5,789

( r 08,495)

725.090
(6 r.665)

( 107.513) 99o/o

(666.914) -92oro

77.151 -t2696
(r42.r03) 554.930 (697.033) -126%
( l r2.93ti) 626"264 (739.202) - r 18%

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P8,056,094 P7,703i.087 P353.007 5%

Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Noncontroll ing interests

P8,t67,662
1.370

P7 ,07 6.406 F I .09 I ,256 150/o

953 229Yo417

Fti. r69.012 ?7 "076.823 F t.092.209 I 5o/o

Total comprehensive income attributablc to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Noncontrolling interests

F8.054.768
1.326

P7.702.670
4t7

F3 5 2.09ti 50/o

909 2l8o/o

F8.056,094 F7,703,087 P353.007 5o/o
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The Group's consolidated net income in 2017 and 2016 amounted to F8,169.0 rnillion and

P7,076.8 rnilliorr, respectively. Total comprelrensive income of the Group is P8.056.1 million in
2017 and P7.703.1 million in 2016.

60Z Increase in Revenues
The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to P2.483.4 million and P2,335.7

rnillion for the years ended December 3l,20ll and 2016, respectively. The increase is nrairrly
attributable to increase in rent income of ASTI due to higher occupancy rate in 2017 for the

Southgate Mall and fbr the higher leasable area fbr the SoLrthgate Tower compared to 2016. It was

complemented by irrcrease irr transport services due to additional aircraft bought by AAl. which
lead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and frorn Balesirr lsland.

l00k Increase in Costs and Expenses
Increase frorn P1,942.9 million in 2016 toP2,141.5 million in 2017 is due to tlre increase in

salaries and employees' benefits due to tlre increase in the basic pay of sotne of the key

rnanagernent personnel of the GroLrp and the recognitiort of donation of ASTI to Ateneo de Marrila.
lnc., a non-stock, non-profit educational institr.rtion. The increase was parrially off'set by the

decrease in cost of real estate sold of AMPL

l10k Increase in Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased by Fl,4ll.7 million from F9,817.8 million in 2016 to F11,229.5

million in2011. The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value change

of Silang and recognition of gain on fair value change for Alphaland Corporate Tower, which was

pafiially offset by tlre clecrease in gain on fair value changes of SoLrthgate Tower. Baguio. and

Balesin properties.

Alphaland Corporation 2019 Sl:(- l'orm 20-lS
Page 27



Years Ended December Jl Va ria nce

20t6 2015 Amount oj
/o

REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost ofreal estate sold

Cost of services

P2,335,748

1.094.857
285.8{t4

562.I l0

P2,t87.274

1.207.386
202.881

559 725

Pt48.474

( r r 2.529)
til.000

2.3r,i5

-o/

-gYo
,ll

0o1rGeneral and administrative

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)

t.942.85 t 1.969.995 27.144

Gain on fair value changes of investment properties 10,007,052 8,578,761 1,428,291 l7o/o

Interest expense and other flnance charges (294,'749) (251 303) (43,446) lToh

Other gains (losses) - net 105.486 272'398 (166.912) -61%

9,8t7,789 8,599,856 |.2t7.933 l4Yo

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current
Def-erred

10.210.685

tt7.0tt4
3.016.778

tt.8 r 7, t35

63.901

1,193.550 160/o

23.ltil 36%o

2.635,457 4 r r.321 t6%

3, r33,862 2,699,358 434.504 160/o

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not to be reclassiJied to ltro/it or loss in subsequent

))edrs'
Rcvaluation increase

lncome tax ellect

7 ,07 6,823 6,1 l'7 ,777

r 03.828 - r03.82tt
(3 r, r48) - G l. l48)

959,046 160/o

jYo

0%
72.680 0%

liability ( 1,346) 9.044 ( 10.390)
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement

To be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequenl
ye 0rs;

Reclassi flcation ad.i ustments on disposal of' AFS
tlnancial assets

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS llnancial
assets

Income tax effect

( r 08,4e5) - ( t0ti.495) 0%o

725,090 r, r55,623 (430,533) -37o/o

(61,66s) (15,562) 53,897 -47o/o

554.930 1,040.06r (485.131) -11%

626.264 r.049. I 05 (422.841) -40%

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOM E P7.703.0U7 P7. I 66.882 F536.205 10/

Ne1 income attributable to:
Equitv holders o1'thc Parcnt Companv
Noncontrolling interests

P7.076.406
4t7

F6. I I 8"500
(723)

F957.906 16%

t.140 - 1 58%

P7,076,823 P6,t t7 ,777 P959.046 160/o

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company ?7,702,670 F7, r67,605
Noncontrolling interests 417 (723)

F535.065 1Yo

r.140 - r 58%
P7.703.087 P7.166.882 ts5 36"205 1Ol
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The Group's consolidated net income in 2016 and 2015 arnounted to P7,076.8 million and

P6,l 17.8 rnillion, respectively. Total conrprehensive incotne of the Group is P7.703.1 rnilliorr in

2016 and P] .166.9 rnillion in 201 5.

70% Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to P2,335.7 million and P2,187.3

million for the year ended December 31,2016 and 2015, respectively. The increase is mainly

attributable to increase in rent income of ASTI due to higher occupancy rate in 2016 compared to

2015. It was complemented by increase in transport services due to additional aircraft bought by

AAI, which tead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and from Balesin Island.

There was an increase in interest income from installment sale of AMPI's condominium units.

loZ decrease in Costs etnd Expenses

Decrease from Fl ,970.0 million in 2015 toPl ,942.9 million in 2016 is due to the decrease in cost

of real estate sold of AMPI which was partially offset by the increase in AAI's cost of transport

services due to more flights in 2016.

lloh Increase in Other Inconte (Expen.sel

Other income (expense) increased byFl,2l7.9 rnillion frornP8,599.9 million in 2015 toF9.817.8

million in 2016. The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value

changes of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties. The

increase was slightly offset by the decrease in interest expenses anrl other financing charges due to

the decrease in longterm debt balance as of December 3l , 2016 and decrease in gain on sale ol
AFS financial assets due to lower number of sold shares in'rear 2016'
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Financial Condition (in thousands)

As ol'December Jl Variance

2018 20t7 Amount %

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Land and developntent costs and parking lots ior sale

Advances to related comPanies

Uquity securities designated as t'air value through othcr

contprchensive income IFVOCI] ltirnlcrly classilicd as

Pl t0,157
|,773,928
1,080, I 40

3.1 19,179

P2 t 5,593
1.993.s04

3 .1t42.37 5

2;,117.048

(P I 05.436) '49o/o

(2 r9.s76) -|%
(862.23s) -22%

l12.3lt t2%

available-lbr-sale ( AFS) flnancial assetsl

Noncurrent Assets
lnvestment in and advances to an associate

Equity securities designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as

AFS financial assets) - net ofcurrent portion

12.349

29,970,774
{7,675,812
I 0.1 7.t,tt I 2

190,5tt1

t2.349

29 "t)78.457
10.664.071

1.1832.3,18

12 1.572

892.1 I 7 3%
7.0t t.739 11%

8.-r12.161 155%
(ll0.9tt8) -11%

lnvestmenl properties
Property and equipment
Other noncurrent assets

Total Noncurrent Assets 7 r,908,799 r6.l t5,512 22o/o

Pt5,747.725

LIABTLITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Current portion ot':

Longterm debt
Customers' deposits

Advances lronr related companies

P3,896,062

1,223,962
3,592

245.252

P2.808.581

t.071.574
73.504
8 I.764
45,287

F 1.087.479

152"38f1

(69.9121
163.488
2t.662

39%

t4%
-95%

200%
480h

Inoonre tax

Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net ofcurrent portion

Customers' deposits - net ofcurrent porlion

Retirement liability
Net det'erred tax liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities

4,914,969
266,t I I

{1.509
I 8,5{ I ,216

29,910

5,525,046
97.605
24.451

r3.45 t.529
20,1 l 8

(5s0.077) -t0%
168.506 173%
20.0s8 82%

5.0tt9.7 t7 38%
9.792 49%

Total Noncurrent
'fotal Liabilities

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

Company
Capital stock

Additional paid-in capital
Rctained eamings
Other comprehensive inconte:

Cumulative unrealized valuatron gain on equity securities

designated as ITVOCI

Revaluation surplus

29,292,562

P2,842,171
12,769,130
45,295,,191

22,891,678
3,103,638

23.199,46lt

2,655.707
1 0 740.079
10.-113.59tt

23,432,497
7 5,850
45,3 50

I1t6.167 70h

2.029.65 I l90h
1.95 1.896 l2o/o

(540.819) -2%

3.027,788 3992%

- 0o/"Accumulated remeasuremcnt sain on retirement liability 45,350

86,948,064 7'.7 .2e3.08t 9.654.981 l2o/o

Less. ()o n

Parent Contpany's shares held by a subsidrary t6,881,220 I 6.88 1.220 - 0'l,

C ost oftreasurv shares t,214 | '2 l1 - 0%

60ffi

Pt5,747,725
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Total assets of the Group increased byP15.747.8 million or lgYo fromF83,6l5.0 million as of

December 31,2017 toP99,362.7 million as of December 31,2018'

19% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalenls

Decrease from F215.6 niillion to Pll0.2 million was mainly caused by debt service and project

development expend itures.

I lok Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables

Decrease frorn F1,993.5 rnillion toPt.773.9 million mainly pertains to the forfeiture of sales of
coldomitrium units, parking slots and city clLrb shares of AMPI arnor-rntirlg to P147.5 rnillion. rlet

of allowance. Collection of prior year's receivables of ,ABMLIII and AMPI also caused the

decrease.

220% Decrease in Land and Development and Parking lots Jbr sale

Decrease in land and development and parking lots for sale is attributable to the cost of real estate

sold and to the reclassification of AMPI's condominium units from ''Land and developrnent

costs" to "Propefiy and equiprnent" accoulrt due to chan-9e in u:;e. from condominium units for

sale to serviced residences called, The Alpha Srrites.

I2?(, Increase in Advanc'es to Related Parties
Increase in advances to related parlies is attributable to funding mainly made to Clubs to support

its operations.

22oh Increase in Other Currenl Assels

Increase is primarily due to establishment of a Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) required

under the Omnibus L.oan and Service Agreement with BDO Unibank, Inc.. and increased

creditable withholding taxes due on sale of real propefties and services.

Boh Increase in Current Portion of Equity Securities designated as FVOCI and 3?(, Increase in

Equity securities designated as FVOCI - Net of Current Portion
Net increase in equity securities designated as FVOCI is primarily due to appreciatiorr of fair

rnarket values of shares of Balesin Island Club.'fhe Group establishes the fair value of the

preferred shares in inventory Lrsing the recent arm's length market transactions. which is tlre
Group's transacted selling price to third parties.

17o.4 Increase in Inveslment Properties
This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn

rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Increase represents fair value appreciation of Southgate

Tower and Mall, Silang. Makati Place, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties.

155% lncrease in Property and Equipntent
The movement of the accounts rnainly pertains to tlte transf'er of AMPI's condolrillium units for

sale from "land and development costs and parking lots for sale" to "Property and equipment"
account due to change in use, from inventory to serviced residences called "The Alpha Suites".

Revaluation adjustments of The Alpha Suites and the Group's airc,rafts also caused the increase.

llok Decrease in Other Noncurrent Assels

Decrease is attributable to the application of advances to contracl.ors to the payment of progress

billings forthe construction of Balesin private villas. Baguio log hornes and Makati place projects.

Totaf liabilities of the Group amounted to P29,292.6 million and P23,199.5 rnillion as of
December 31,2018 and 2017, respectively.

2019 SLI. l:orn 20-lS
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390k lnuease in Trade and Other Payables

IncreaseisprimarilyduetotheacquisitionofAMPI'scondominiun,units,parkingslotsandslrares
frotn a various unit owners in 2018.

20094 Increase in Advancesfrom Related Parties
Movement in advances from related parties is attributable to advances made for working capital

purposes.

11,% Increase in C'urrent Portion of Long-lernt Debt and l0%, Dec'rea.se in l-ttng-lerrn Debt- Net tf
C'urrent Portion
Movement in long-term debt pertains to the prirrcipal loan repayments ol AC, AAI and AAPI, and

availment of Contract to Sell (CTS) Financing by ABMLtll'

95% Decrease in Current Portion of Customers' Deposits and 173% increase in Customer.s'

Deposits - Net of Current Portion
Net increase is attributable to the deposits received mainly for the lease of Corporate Tower and

from new and renewed lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI'

38?6 Increase in Nel Deferued Tax Liabilitie's
The increase is attributable to tlre recognition of deferred tax liability on tlre gain on fair value

change of investment ProPerties.

190,4 Increase in Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Increase is attributable to tlre advance rentals from new lease agreements of ASTI and AMPI
(rrainly frorn Corporate Tower tenants).

Total equity of the Croup jumped by l6% or byF9,654.6 rnillion. frornF60,4l5.5 rnilliorr as of
December 31 ,2017 to P70,070.1 million as of December 3 I , 201 8.

7oz(,lncrease in Capital Stock and l9%o Inuease in Atlditional Paid-in Capital Stock

The significant increase is attributable to the subscription of 186,466,416 AC shares in 2018 by

various contpanies at Pl 1.88 per share.

2ol Increase in Retained Earning,s
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.

2ok Decrease in Cumulative unrealizedvaluation gain on etluity securities designated as FVOCI
The decrease is mainly the effect of adjustment in tax rate on the sale of shares of stock not traded

in local stock exchange, from 5-10%to l|oh, under the TRAIN law effective January l, 2018.

3992% Increase in Ret,aluation Surplus
The significant increase pertains to valuation ad.justrnents of AMPI's Alpha Suites and AAI's and

AAPI's aircrafts.
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7o/o Decrease in Noncontrolling interesls

The decrease is attributable to the remaining 3% interest in

acquired by the Group in 2018

Choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc, fully

ASSETS
Current Assets
Caslr and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Land and development costs and parkrng lots tbr sale

Advances to related companies

Equity securities designated as lair value through other

comprehensive income IFVOCI] [fbnrcrly classilled as

F2 I 5,593
1.993,504
3,942.37s
2.777,048

985,8 r r

l ,791,845

F256. I 46
| .2s4.52 l

5.436.015
2.412.742

985.8 I I

2,t26,563

(P40.553) -t6%
738.98-1 59%

( 1.493.640) -27oh

364.306 lsyo

-0%
(331,718) -16%

available-for-sale (AFS) fi nancial assetsl

Other current assets

Noncurrent Assets
Investrnent in and advances to an associate

F-quity securities designated as ITVOCI (tbrnterly classilled as

AIrS tlnancial assets) - net ol current pofiitln
I nvestnlent propcrtles

Property and equipment
Other noncurrent assets

12,349

29,0'18.457
40.664,073

1.832,348

32t,572

77.669

29."t'7 t.1t I

71 .?-97 .2e9
t.492.835

306,986

( 10.320)

( I 92.951)
ll.-166.77'1

l-19.5 l-l

0%
-46%

-lo
190h

23%
5%

Total Noncunent Assets

I 4.586

7 t,908,799 58,391 ,200 I 3,5 I 7,s99 23%

F83.6 r4.975 F70.862,s98 ?t2.75l. .9'77 I 80',o

LIABII,ITTES AND EQTIITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Current portion of:
Long-term debt
Customers' deposits

Advances from related companies

Income tax oavable

F2,808,583

t,07 t,574
73,504
8t,764
45.287

F2.5 19.537 F289.046 llo/o

t,,480,479 (408.905) -28%
)) 9D 50 572 22lo o

8.693 73.07 t 841%
1"993 40.294 807%

Total Current Liabil ities 4.080.7 I 2 4.036.634 14.078 lo/o

Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net ofcurrent portion
Customers' deposits - nct ol'currenl po(ron
Retrrement liability
Net deferred tax liabilities
Other noncunent I iabilities 20,r l8 89,809 (69,691) -78%

5.525.046 .1.i:)4 1.878
97.605 127.034

21.451 11.416
13.451,529 10.t24A87

l.'183. I 68 37'h
(29.429\ -23%
(6.965) -22o/o

3.321 .047 33%

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 19,118,749 14,4t4,624 4.704.t25 33%o

Total Liabilitres

Equity Attributable to Equitv Holders of the Parent

(iompany
( apital stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained eamings
Olher comprehensive income:

Cumulative unrealized valuation gain on equity securities

designated as FVOCI

Revaluation surplus
Accurnulated remeasurement gain on retiremenl liability

23.t99.461

2.65 5.707
10.7,10.079

40.343.598

23,432.497
75,850

45.350

t8,45 r.2s8

2.6 5 5.707
I 0.7,.]9.0.1t)

32.t72.445

23,574.599
72"680

22.816

4.748.203

t.039
8.17t,t53

( 1 42.1 02)
3,1 i0

72.501

26%

00h
0%

25%

-t%
4o/o

99%

77.293.081 69.237.317 ti"055.761 l2o/o

I -ess:

Parent Conrpany's shares held bi a suhsidrarl I 6.titt 1.220 I 6.8 I 7.972 63.24t{ 0y"
('()st ()l trcasun sharcs 1.2 l'l 12.211 (11.000) '90yo

Noncontrolling interests 4,867 4,609 258 6%

I'otal Equity 60,415,5 14 52.41:l,740 8.003'771 15%

F83.614.975 ?70,862,998 ?12,751,977 18%
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Total assets of the Group increased byP12,152.0 million or l8%r, fromF70,863.0 rnillion as of
December 31, 2016 to F83,61 5.0 million as of December 31, 2017.

I60% Decrease in Cash ond Cash Equivalents
On February 15,2017, ALPHA entered into an OLSA with BDO for a loan facility ofP5,500.0
million to refinance the existing loans and to finance new projects and working capital

requirements of the Group. The loan has a term of seven years, payable in 25 quarterly principal

amortizations commencing one year after initial drawdown date. This Ioan facility was

subsequently increased toP6.726.0 million in last quarter of 2017. On various dates in 2017,

ALPHA made its drawdowns amounting to F6,286.0 million. Despite of the drawdowns rnade,

cash and cash equivalents decreased from P256.1 million to P215.6 million dLre to the major

outlays to suppoft the completion of Alphaland Corporate Tower and first phase of Alphaland
Baguio Mountain Log Homes Project and day-to-day operational activities of the Group.

59'% lncrea.se in Trude untl Other Receivuhle.s

lncrease frorn F1,254.5 rnillion toF1,993.5 nrillion is due to recognition of receivables from sale

of Baguio log cabins and Balesin Private Villas in 2017.

270,4, Decrease in Land und Development and Parking lots.lbr sale

Decrease from F5,436,0 million toP3,942.4 million is orL account of the transfer of Alphaland

Corporate Tower from land and developlxent account to iuvestrnent property account atnottrtting to

?2,425.4 and the recognition of cost of real estate sold for the Baguio log cabins, Balesin Private

Villas and Alphaland Makati Place condominium urlits..

l6%o Decrease in Other current assets

Under the old OLSA, ASTI, ABIRC, AMPI and ABMt.HI (collectively the Borrowers) were

required to maintain a Debt Service Reserve Account for the security of interest and/or principal

repayments to the lenders. The old OLSA was preterminat,ld and refinanced through BDO during

the first qLrarter of 2017. In August 2017, ALPHA requ,ested to BDO the waiver of the Debt

Service Reserve Account and Debt Service Payment Acc,rur.tt rnairrtaining balance requirernents

for a period of one year lrom the initial borrowing date. IIDrO assented to the request which lead to

the postponement olthe maintaining balance requirernertts t-rrtil the first quafier of year 2018.

I50z6 Increase in Advanc'es to Related Parties
Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to funding made to ClLrbs to support its

operations.

16(% Decrease in Investrnenls in and Advdnces to A.ssttciotes

The decrease in this accoLllrt was brouglrt about by ALPHA's additional common share

sLrbscription in ASAI increasing AI-PHA's ownership to 8002. ASAI has become AI-PHA's
subsidiary in 2017 .

19?6 Increase in Investntent Properties
This account represents both completed properlies and propefties under construction held to earn

rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Increase from'P27,297.3 rnillion to F40.664.1 million
represents t-air value appreciation of Silang and Alphalarrd Corporate Tower.
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23'% Increase in Property and Equipntent

The movement of this account perlains to the newly acqLrired aircraft of Alphalarrd Aviation

Pampanga, Inc. on February 2017 for its colnmercial operations.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to P23,199. million and F I 8,45 I .3 rnillion as of December

3 I , 201 7 and 2016, respectively.

I loZ Increase in Trade and Other Payables
Increase is primarily due to increased trade payables pertaining to constructiotl project of
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc. and increase in deposits received by ABIRC from

sale of gold shares.

811(% Increase in Advances.from Related Parties
The increase is primarily due to the advances received by AMPI from a related party.

80796 Increase in Income Tax Payable
The increase is primarily due to the computed income tax due of ABMLHI related to the sale of
Baguio log cabins

lgok Increase in Long-term Debl - net of deferred,financing cosls

The increase pertains to loan drawdowns of ALPHA. AAI and AAPI foryear20lT in total amount

ofP6,683.2 million. The loan drawdowns were partially offset by principal loan repayments of
AAI, AAPI, ASTI, AMPI, ABMLHI and ABIRC in lotal arnount of P5,072.1 million.

llo,4 Increctse in Custonters Deposils
The irrcrease is attributable to the security deposits received by AS'II from its new tenants in2017.

33ok Increase in Deferued lax liabilities
The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value

change of Alphaland Corporate Tower, Southgate T'ower ilnd Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan

and Balesin properties.

Total equity of the Group jumped by l5% or byP8.003.5; rnillion, frorn F52.411.7 million as of
December 31.2016 to F60.41 5.5 rnillion as of Decenrber 3 I , 201 7

l01, Decrease in Unrealized Gains on AFS Financial Assels

The decrease is brought about by the realization of the gain on sale of AFS financial assets related

to the sold shares for year 2017 ,

25%t Increuse in Retained Earnings
-lhe increase is brought about by the net income of the Grorlp during the current period.

Alphaland Corporation )019 SE('form 20-lS
Puge 35



As of December 3l Variance

2016 2015 Amount %

ASSt.'t-s
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalcnts
'frade and other receivables
Land and development costs and parking lots fbr sale

Advances to related companies
Equity securrties designated as lair value through other

comprehensive rncome [FVOCI] [fbrmerly classified as

available-for-sale (AFS) financial assetsl 985,81 I 985.81 I

other currenl assets 2. I 26'563 2.\77 .612

F256. I 46
t.254,521
s,436,01 5

2.4t2,742

?453.724
793,395

4,533,017
I ,994,1 85

(P197.578) -44oh

461.126 58%
902.998 20%
418.557 2ly.

(s I.07e)
\Yo

Noncurrent Assets

Investment in and advances to an associate 22.669

Equity securities designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as

29.271,4ll
27.297.299

1.492.815

23. l 08

28.(i84.113
17.:i44.3 I I

904.420

(43e)

5 87.2 78

9.75 2.988
588.4 r 5

ao/-

56v,
65%

-15%

AFS financial assets) - net olcurrent portion
lnvestrnenl properties
Property and equipment
other noncurrent assets 306.986 .\59.472 (52.4tt6)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Current portion of:
Long-term debt
Customers'deposits

Advances lrom related companies

lncome tax payable

P2,st9,537 Fl,13s,l I I F1.084.426 76%

1.480.479 t.592.525 (l 12.046) -1%

22.932 56.557 (3-.1.625) -590/o

8.691 2.856 5.817 204%
1.991 - 1.S93 0%

Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net ofcunent portion

Customers' deposits - net ofcurrent portion

Retirement liability
Net deferred tax liabilities

Total Liabilities

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

Company
Capital stock

Additional paid-in capital
Retained eamings
Other comprehensive income:

Cunrulative unrealized valuation garn on eqtrirl secttrilies
designated as FVOCI

Revaluation surplus

4,041 ,878
t27,034
3t.4t6

10.124.487 6,984,896

3,,480,426 561.452
67 .4t9 59,61 5

22.576 8.840
3. I 39.59 I

I 60/o

8Bo/o

39%
45Yo

Othcr noncurrcnt liabilities ltg.{J0g 

- 

91.9--}9 (2.1--}0) -2"'6

l'otal Noncurrcnt L.iabilities 1,1..1 1,1.62,+ 10.617.256 -.1.767.16tt 35%

t8.45 t.258

2,655,707
I 0,739.040
32,172,445

2 1.5 74.5 99

72.680

r3.731.305

2.655,'107

I 0,739.040
25,095.300

21.0 l 9.669

4.7 r6.953

7.077,t4;

5 s4.930
72.680

34%

Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement liability 22,846 24'l9l (1,345)

0%o

0%
28o/o

0o/o

-60A

Less:

Parent Company's shares held by a subsidiary 16,817,972 16,817,972 - 0%

Costoftreasuryshares 12,214 1.214 I!,009 90Q%

52,407,131 41.714.721 1.692.410 17%

69,237 ,3t7 61,533,907 7.7033t0 l3%o

Noncontrolling interests 4,609 4,t92 417 l0%

Toral Equitv 52.41 I "740 44.7 I 8.9 I 3 7 .692.827 l7u,o

P70.862.998 P5u 151.2 ltt P 12..+09.7tt0 2t'fo
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Total assets of the Group increased byP12,409.8 million or Zlo/', from P58,453,2 million as of

December 31,2015 to P70,863.0 million as of December 31,2016.

1101t Decrease in C'ash uncl C'a,sh Equivulents

Decrease from F453.7 rrillion to F256.1 rnillion was caused b'y rnajor outlays to support the

completion of first phase of Alphatand Baguio Mountain Log Homes Project and day-to-day

operational activities of the Group.

58?6lncrease in Trade and Other Receivables

Increase from F793.4 million to F 1,254.5 million is due

condominium unit sales of AMPI towers I and 2 because

completion.

to increase in receivable from
of the increase in percentage of

20%, Increase in Land and Development and Parking lotsfor sale

lncrease from F4,533.0 million toF5,436.0 r-nillion is on accounLt of substantial progress in the

construction and completion of tower 3 of Alphaland Makati Place Project and Alphaland Baguio

Mountain [,og Homes Project.

2loZ Increcrse in Advance.s to Related Parties

Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to firnding rnade to CllLrbs to support its

operations.

56ok Increctse in Investment Properties
This account represents both completed properlies and proprerties under construction held to earn

rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. lncrease from Fl 1,544.:\ million to P27,297.3 rnillion

represents fair value appreciation of Southgate Tower and Itvlall, Silang, Baguio. Patnanungan and

Balesin properlies.

The significant increase is attributable to the increase in g;ain on fair value changes of Southgate

Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties. The increase was slightly
offset by the decrease in interest expenses and other financing charges due to the decrease in long-

term debt balance as of December 3 I .2016 and decrease in gain on sale of AFS financial assets

due to lower number of sold shares in year 2016.

560% Increctse in Property antl Equipment
The rnovement of this accourrt perlains to the newly acquired aircraft of AAI on January 2016 for

its commercial operations. The increase was also affectecl by AAI's adoption of the revaluation

model for the subsequent measurement of its aircraft under transportation equiprnent.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to F 18,451.3

December 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.

13ok Increase in Trade and Other Poyable.s

million and P 13,734,3 million as of

Increase is prirnarily due to increased trade and accrued pa;yables;rerlairring to construction project

of AMPI.

I lok Increttse in Long-term Debt - net of deferuedfinancing costs

The increase pertains to loan drawdowns of ASTI,,\C, AAI and ABMLHI for year20l6 in total
amount of P2,157.8 million. These loan drawdowns \\'ere pantially offset by principal loan

repayments of ASTI, AMPI, AAI and ABIRC in total amount of P1.713.5 rnilliorr.

2l'% Increose in Customers Deposils
The increase is attributable to the security deposits receivecl by ASTI from its new tenants in 2016.
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150% Increase in Deferred tax liabilities
The increase is attributable to the recogrrition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value

change of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, PatnanunganL arrd Balesin properties.

Total equity of the Group junped by 11% or byP7,692.8 million, fromP44,7l8.9 rnillion as of
Decenrber 31,2015 toP52,4l 1.7 million as of December 3l ,2016.

2ok Increase in Unrealized Gains on AFS Financial Assets

The significant increase is brought about by the increase in fair market value of the ABICI tranche

2 preferred shares that are currently for sale in the international market. The revaluation

adjustment is on account of higher dollar to peso exchange rate a;s of December 3l .2016 versus

Decernber3l.20l5.

100'% Increase in Revctluution Surplus
The revaluation surplus recognized in year20 l6 is dueto AAI's adoption of the revaluation rrodel
for the subsequent measurement of its aircraft under transpoftation equipment.

28ok Increase in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group dLrrirrg the current period.

Conrparative Ke), Performance lndicators (in thousands)

2018 2017 2016

to equity holders of the Parent Company
(in thousands) P8,726,791 P8,054,768 P7.702,670

(b) Weighted average number of shares

outstanding belore the ellecr of stock splir 1,364,089,250 1.272,964,289 1,214.3'74,956

Basic/diluted earnings per share (a/b) P6.398 P6.328 P6.044

(a) Totalequity (in thousands) P70,070,138 F60,415,514 ?52,411,740
(b) Total number of shares outstanding at end

of year before the effect of stock split 1,457,322,462 1,273,972,539 1,270,856,038

Book value per share (a/b) P48.081 P4"7 .539 F4l.l40

(a) Total long-term debt (in thousands) P6,198,931 P6,596,620 P5,522,357
(b) Totalequity (in thousands) 70,070,138 60,415,514 52,411,741

Debt-to-eq uity ratio (a/b) P0.088 F0.r09 F0.105

(a) Total comprehensive income attributable
to equity holders of the Parent Company
(in thousands) P8,726,791 F8.054,768 P1.102$10

(b) Average total equity (in thousands) (i5,242,826 56.413.621 48,565.32'7

Return on equity (a/b) F0.13.{ P0. r4l F0.159

No material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other relationships of
the Group with unconsolidated entities were created during the year.

As of December 31,2018, except for what has been noted rin the precedirrg, tlrere were no material
events or uncefiainties known to management that had a material impact on past perflormartce, or
that would have a material impact on the future operations, in respect of the following:

o Known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that would have a material

impact on the Group;
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Material commitments for capital expenditures that are reasonably expected to have a

material impact on the Group's shorl-term or long-term liquidity;

Known trends. events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to

have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from

continuing operations;
o Significant elements of income or loss that did not aris;e from the Group's results of

operations; and

Material changes in the financial statements of the Group from the year ended December

31,2018.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's principal financial instrurnents conrprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other

receivables, advances to related parties, loans payable and long-term debt. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to provide funds for the Group's opr:rations. The Group has various

financial instruments such as trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, customers'

deposits and advances to and from related parties, which arise directly from its operations.

The BOD has overall responsibility flor the establishrnent and oversight of the Group's risk

maltagemeltt framework. The Group's risk management policies, are established to identify and

,u,,ug. the Group's exposure to financial risks, to set appropriater transaction lirnits and controls,

and to monitor and assess risks and compliance to internal control policies. Risk rnanagement

policies and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes; in market conditions and the

Group's activities.

The Group has exposure to credit risk" interest rate risk arrd liqLridity risk from the use ol its

financial instruments. The Group's exposure to fbreign currettc\/ risk is rninimal as it does not

nornrally enter into transactions in currerrcies other tharr its functional cllrrency. The BOD reviews

and approves the policies for managing each of these risks.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that

all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. ln

addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basisr with the result that the Group

exposure to bad debts is not significarrt. For transactions that are not dettominated in the

furrctional currency ol'the Parent Company. the Croup does not olfer credit terms without the

specific approval of the Clrief Finance Off rcer.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets,, the Group's exposure to credit

risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying

amount of these instruments.

Since the Group trades with recognized third parlies and related paifiies" there is no requirement for

collateral. There are no other concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

lnterest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect firture cash

flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates

primarily to its financial instruments with floating interest and/or fixed interest rates. Fixed rate

financial instruments are subject to fair value interest rate ris;k while floating rate financial

instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risk. Re-pricing of floatirrg rate financial

instruments is dorre every three to six months. Interest on fixed rrate financial instruments is fixed

until maturity of the instrument.
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The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates prirnarily to the

Group's long-ternt debt subject to floating interest rates. The other financial instrurnents of tlie
Group are noninterest-bearing and, therefore, not subject to interest rate risk.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle or tneet its obligations on time or

at a reasonable price. Management is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as sefl.lement

management. In addition, management oversees liquidity and funding risks, and related processes

and policies. The Group manages its liquidity risk based on business needs, tax, capital or

regulatory consideratiorrs, if applicable, thror,rgh rtumerous sources of finance in order to mraintaill

flexibility.

The Croup also rnaintains a balance between continuity o1'funding and flexibility. 1-he policy of
the Croup is to first exhaust lines available from affiliated companies before local bank lines are

availed of. The Group seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash planning on a weekl'y basis.

The Group uses historical figures and experiences and forecasts from its collections and

clisbursements. As parl of its liquidity risk management. the Group regularly evaluiltes its
projected and actual cash flows. It also continuously assesses corrditions in the financial rnarkets

for opporlunities to pursue fund raising activities. AIso, the Group only places funds in the money

market, which are exceeding the Group requirements. Placements are strictly rnade based on cash

planning assumptions and covers only a short period of time.

Changes in Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

ln 2018, the Company engaged Reyes Tacandong & Co. as its external auditor. There were no

changes in or disagreements with accountants on any matter of accounting principles or practices,

Ilnancial statement disclosure. or auditirrg scope or procedure dr.rring the past fiscal year. Duly

authorized representatit,es of Reyes Tacanclong & Co. are erpected to be presetlt at the rneeting

wlrere they will lrave the opportLrnity to respond to appropriate questiotls.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securit-v Holders

During the last Annual Stockholders' Meeting on June 20,2018, the security holders present and

represented approved the appointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co. as the Company's external

aLrd itor

The foregoing matter was approved by the security lrolders present and entitled to vote during the

said meeting

The top 20 registered stockholders of the Company as of February 28,2019 are as follows:

C itizensh ip

F ilipino
Filipino

Filipino

Hongkong

Filipino
F ilip ino

Filipino
Filipino

Filipino

No. of Shares %

Alphaland Development, lnc.

RVO Capital Ventures Corporation

Boerstar Corporation

Red Epoch Group Ltd.

Fine Land Limited

Azurestar Corporation

Loustar Corporation
Powerventures, Inc.

Galaxyhouse, Inc.

t3.792,109,780

8,426.567.460

1,677,884,300

96r,r34.r30
890,000,000

280.626,360

222,510,910

2t9,604,500

r 90,304,900

48.55%

29.66%

5.91%

3.38%

3.13%

099%
0.78%

0.77%

0.67%
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10, Crystalventures, Inc.
Towermill Capital Ventures
Corporation

Gemsplace Resources, Ittc.
Summer Wind Capital Ventures
Corporation

Noble Care Management Corporatiott

Mega Access Capital Ventures, Inc.

G lobalcentric Corporation

Earthlight, lnc.

Regentstar Hold ings Corporatiott

Arculli, Derek

Citadel Investments Limited

Filipino

Filipino

Filipino

Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

Filipino

Filipino

188,796,760

I 88,454,140

I 87,5 12,680

167,t69,230

145,916,470

r 00,825,3 70

100,473,660

t00.247.230

I 00. I 38" r 90

100,000,000

100,000,000

0.66%

0.66%

0.66%

059%
0.5 to/o

0.35%
0.3s%

03s%
0.35%

03s%
0.35%

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

t9.

20.

nryiOq:ds

There has been no proposed action or resolution relating to the declaration of dividends for the

ensuing year. The Company has not declared dividends in the past two fiscal years.

There are no restrictions on the Corporation that limit the payrnent of dividends on Common

shares. The Company has re-invested its retained earnings for working capital requirements as well

as the expansion of its operations and facilities.

Recent Sale of Unregistered or E,xempt Securities lncluding Recent lssuance of Securities

Constituting an Exempt Transaction
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As at December 3 I, 2018, the Company entered into the following share subscription agreements:

Other than the foregoing, there were no recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities including

recent issuances of securities constituting an exempt Transaction.

Item 12. Mergers, Consolidations, Acquisitions, and Similar Maters

There are no maters or actions to be taken up in the annual stockholders' meeting with respect to

merger, consolidation, acquisition by sale, or liquidation of'the Company.

Item 13. Acquisition or Disposition of Property

There are no matters or actions to be taken up in the annual stockholders' meeting with respect to

acquisition or disposition of any property by the Company.

Item 14. Restatement of Accounts

No action is to be takerr with respect to the restaternent of any asset. capital" or surplus account of
the Cornpany.
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Date of Subscription Subscriber Number of Shares

Suhscribed

Total Subscription
Price (in PhP)

June I 20 8 Crvstalventures, I trc. 18.879"676 224,479,349

June I 20 8 Earthlight, lnc. 10,024,723 I t9.294.209

June 1 20 8 Galaxyhouse, Inc. 19,030,490 226,082,227

June I 1,2018 Gemsplace Resources,
Inc.

18,751,268 222,765,069

June 11,2018 Globalcentric
Corporation

10,047,366 I t9.463.t79

June I 1, 201 8 Loustar Corporatiort 22.257,097 264,414,318

June I 1.2018 Mega Access Capital
Ventures, Inc.

r 0.082.53 7 I t9,982,I 87

June I l, 201 8 Powerventures, lnc. 21,960,450 260,890,144

June 11,2018 Redcrest Holdings
Corooration

9,856,652 I17,097,022

June I l, 201 8 Regenstar Holdings
Corporation

10,013,819 | 19,164,443

June I 1,2018 Summer Wind Capital
Ventures Corporation

16.716.923 198.597.048

June ll,20l8 Towermill Capital
Ventures Corporation

I 8,845,414 223,883,517
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D. OTHER MATTERS

Item 15. Action with Respect to Reports

(a) Approval of the Minutes of the 2018 annLral r-neeting ol'stockholders held otr June 20,2018
covering the following maters:

i. Annual report;
ii. Ratification and approval of all resolutions of the Board and the E,xecutive Committee, and

all acts of the Management after the annual stockholders' meeting on June 20.2018 until

the annual stockholders' meeting on May 1,2019.

iii. Election of the rnernbers of the Board, irrcludirrg lndeperrdent Directors: and

iv. E,lection of the extemal auditor.

(b) Approval of the annual report of Management for the year ending December 31, 2018,

including the 2018 audited financial statements.

Item 16. Matters Not Required to be Submitted

There are no matters or actions to be taken up in the meeting thal will not require the vote of the

stockholders as ofthe record date.

Item 17. Other Proposed Action

(a) Ratification of all resolutions of the Board and the E,xecutive Cornmittee. as wellas the acts of
the Management to implement the resolutions after the annual stockholders' nreeting on June

20,2018 until the annual stockholders' meeting on May 7,2019 including, but not limited to,

the following matters:

. July 2,2018 - Resolution authorizing the rele:ase of consolidated financial statements

ofthe Company as ofJune 30. 201 8

o August 3,2018 - Resolution authorizing the Cornpany to act as corporate surety

relative to the credit accommodation extended and may be extended by BDO
Unibank, Inc. to Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, lrrc.

o October 30, 201 8 - Resolution authorizing the Company to act as corporate surety
relative to the credit accommodations extencled and may be extended by Philippine
National Bank to Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc.

o January 21,2019 - Resolution authorizing the loan take-out of Philippine Bank of
Communications-Trust and Wealth Management Group (PBCOM) extended by BDO
Unibarrk, Inc. to Alphaland Corporation

o January 29,2019 - Resolution authorizing tlre release of the ALrdited Firrancial
Statements of the Company as of the year end ing December 3 I , 20 I 8

o February 12,2019 - Resolution setting the schedule of the 2019 Annual Meeting of
the Stockholders of the Company

(b) Election of the members of the Board. including the independent directors. for the ensuing
year.

(c) Irlectiorl of the external auditor.
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Item 18. Voting Procedures

The vote required for acts requiring stockholders approval is at least a majority of the outstanding

capital stock.

As of tlre moment there are l5 individuals in the final list of nominees prepared by the

Nominations Committee for membership in the Cornpany's Board of Directors. Serving as

directors of'the Company is voluntary and as of this time l5 individuals have qualified and have

agreed to serve as directors of the Company. In the election of directors, the l5 nominees with the

greatest number of votes will be elected directors.

Every stockholder entitled is entitled to one vote. Hou'ever, with respect to the election of
directors. the stockholders may vote suclr number of shares for as many persons as there are

directors to be elected, or he may curnulate said shares arrd give ,cne candidate as many votes as

the number of directors to be elected, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as

many candidates as he shall see fit; provided, that the total numbe:r of votes cast by him shall not

exceed the numberof shares owned by him as shown in the books,tf the Corporation multiplied by

the number of directors to be elected.

The rnethod of counting the votes of the shareholclers shall be in accordance with the general

provisiorrs of the Corporation Code of the Philippines. Vlethod of voting shall be corrducted by

show of hands unless a shareholder requires a poll 1o be rnade on any action. ln such case, the

rnethod of counting voles shall be done by secret. Counting of votes shall be supervised by the

Corporate Secretary and/or Assistant Corporate Secretatl, with the assistance of representatives

from Reyes Tacandong & Co.

Cornp I tatce_ryLlh-Lcad llt g Pract i ce s on G ood C overn an ce

The BOD and Managernent of the Company recognize that good corporate governaltce is key to
achieving the Company's objective of maximizing shareholder value. The institution of the Code

on Corporate Governance seeks to provide the process and structure by which the business and

affairs of the Company are directed and managed, in order to enhance long-term shareholder value

through the enhancement of corporate performance and acc:ountability.

Cornpliance with the Clode of Corporate Covernance is ensured by the Corporate Compliance
Officer in coordination with the Chairrnan arrd President of the Cornpany. Regular meetings are

made between Managenrent and the BOD, to review and el'aluate the Company's perfortnance and

address ke1, policy matters. The Board is provided r,r,ith timely an<J complete inforrnation for eacl.t

meeting. Each director has direct access to the advice and services of management and the

corporate secretary, and in appropriate circumstances, seek independent professional advice

concerning the Company's affairs.

All directors are required to submit themselves fbr re-election every year. In consideration for their
re-election, the nomination committee reviews arrd presents attendance and participation irr

nreetings of tlre Company.

All directors are briefed by Management on the Company's business operations as well as a

regular tour of the Company's manufacturing operations.

The audit committee first reviews the Company's audited financials, who then recommends
approval from the BOD before they are presented to the stocklrolders of the Comparry. It is also the

audit committee, which ensllres independence and objectivity of tlre external auditors.
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TheCornpanyiscontirruallyseekingmeasuresofinrprov]ngisc0rpolategoverllance.tofurther
enhance corporare p.rror*in..-;;i;"m,.uiriiv. itt. t1:t.''l::and Management have been

encouragecltoregrrlarlyattendcorporategovernanceseminarsandcorporateg0Vernallce
consultants on methods ty wtllctr it carienhanrc i,.orporute perforrnance and accorrntability'

No deviation fr.onr tlie cornpa.y's Marrual codc ol corpr-rrate cttverliattce has beerl rlotecl' l-lte

Cornpa.y's Marrual orr Corpclratl Gou",.'.'uute was anretlcled otl Fehrrttary 2l' 2011'

A CuPY oF THE AUDITED I|)ILANCIAL STA'TEMIINTS (,41|S) |yITIt MANAGEML:NT

DISCUSSrcN & At\'trtiiits,As ot" orcnunrR ']l' 201'$ IS ATTA:HED 7"O THIS

I N FO RM ATI O N STATEM E NT,

UPoNTTIEwRIT.tIiNRE,QUESToFAS,I0CK[{()LD[]R,T}IECOMPANYwILt,
PRoVIDE,WITHoI.]T.CI{ARGE,AC()PY()t.THII(]OMPANY'SANNUAI,llEPoR.t
AND/oRUNAUDI,TEDFINANCTALST.ATEMENTSANDMANA(;EMENT
DISCUSSIONANDaNar,vsrsFoRTHEappl.tr:agl,EINTERIMPERIOD.THE
STOCKHOLDER MAY BE CHARGTO A ITASONABLE COST FOR PI-IOTOCOPYING

THE EXHIBITS.

AI,L REQUESTS MAY BIi SENT'TO:

AI'TY. .IASON .I. AI,BA

CORPORATESECRETARY,ALPHAI'ANDCORPORATION
5,', FLOOR, iin ctTy CLUB A't Al'PH'\l,ANI) MAKATI Pl,AcE

,7232AY^LAAVENIJECORNt]RMALIJGAYSTRI.][]T

I2()9 MAKATI CI'I'Y

After reaso,able inquiry arrcl to trre best olr.v l<rr*r'lcclge a.d belict. I cerril)'that tlre ittlorrnation

set fofih irr this repon is rrue, cornplere ancl coilecr. I'hii report is signed in the city ol Makati on

March 27 ,2019 '

ALPHALAND CORPORATION
Issuer
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION

MANAGEMENT REPORT
for the

2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Pursuant to SRC RLrle 20 (4) (A)

A. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER
31,2018

Please see the attached Audited Financial Statements as of and for the year ended Decernber 31,

2018.

B. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There are no changes in and disagreernents with the accountants on accounting and financial

d i sc I osu res.

C. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATIOIVS

1 . Plan of Operation for the Next Twelve ( l2) Months

The Group generates funds prirnarily from sale of condominium units and parking spaces at

Alphaland Makati Place, lnc.. sale of BagLrio Mountairt t.odges and Balesin Private Villas: frorn

rnall and leasing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower. Alphaland Makati Place Mall and

Corporate Center; and from operation of serviced residences of The Alpha Suites that comrnenced

cluring the first half of the year 2018. The leasing operations and The Alpha Suites provide

recurring cash flows for the Group.

The Group also generates funds through secondary sale of membership shares of the cornpleted

Club projects, namely', Alphaland Balesin Island Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makati

Place.

IJarly in tlre year 2017. Banco De Oro Unibank. Inc. (BDO). the country's largest bank approved a

F5.5 billion loan facility for Alphaland, wlrich was used rrainly to refinance most of the Group's
existing debts, with the balance used to fund working capital requirements. This lo'an rvas

subsequently increased to P6.126 billion on November 2,201J .

At the beginning of the year 2019, BDO assigned the Alphaland loan to the PBCOM Trust and

Wealth Management Group. Sometime in March 20l9. Lrpon receipt of clearance flr,cnr tlte

Philippine Competition Commission, Alphaland SoLrthgate l'ower and Mall was sold to League

One, lnc. resulting in the Group having prepaid the PBCOM Trust and Wealth Mattagement Group
loan. While the Group will forego the annual rental income from Alphaland Southgate, the Group
will be able to eliminate about PhPl billion in debt service, which will have a dramatic positive

impact on the Group's financial performance for 2019 and beyond.

The Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges, a master-planned development of authentic log hornes

spread out over 69 hectares of rolling mountains and terrain just l5 minutes away fiom Bagtrio

City proper continued to progress. There will be five designs and floor plans to choose from. and

the homes will be sited to maximize the views of the surrounding pine-forested mountains. The

entire property will be secured by a perirneter fence. The 5 rnodel units and clubhouse, along with

2019 SEC Form 20-lS
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the first 21 single-family homes, has been completed. The quadruplex multi-family lodges of 2 and
3 bedrooms, which consist of some 15 structures for a total of 60 home units, will be sold for about
half the price of the single family units and is already generating brisk market interest.

The most significant project that broke ground in December 2018 is the Alphaland Balesin
International Gateway on Patnanungan Island in Quezon, Alphaland has acquired more than 700
hectares of land in Patnanungan Island for the purpose of building a full international airport
facility which will accommodate even Boeing 747s. With the establishment of Balesin Cateway
International Airport, international members and guests will be able to bypass the congestion of
NAIA in Manila and fly directly to Balesin from Tokyo, Seoul, Taipei, Hongkong, Bangkok,
Singapore, Jakafta and Sydney, all cities that will be the target of Alphaland's aggressive
international marketing of Balesin Island Club in 2017. Along with the plan for full international
airport, Alphaland plans to build an l8-hole championship golf course and a 300-room hotel, as
well as 500 beachfront and golf course homes. The entire project will take 3 to 4 years to
complete.

A project that the Group launched in October 2018 is Top of the Alpha, a top-of-the-line chic
night spot that occupies the entire Penthouse floor of the Alphaland Corporate Center.

The Group is bullish for 2019 because it has made fundamentally sound financial and operating
decisions in the year 201 8.
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2, FinancialCondition and Results of Operations -Consolidated

Financial Condition (in thousands)

As of December Jl Ya riance
2018 20t7 9/o

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Land and development costs and parking lots for sale
Advances to related companies
Equity securities designated as fair value through other

comprehensive income [FVOCI] [formerly classified as

available-for-sale (AFS) financial assetsl

t l I0,157
t,773,928
J,080,1 40
3,119,379

1,065,J1I

F2 I 5.593
t,993,504
3,942,375
2,777,048

985,8 l l
I ,79 t ,845

(P I 05.436) -499'o
(2 19.576) -t to,,o

(862.235) -220,6

342.33 I t296

79.500
Other current assets 2.1g9.4S4 397.609

&ot'o

229'.o

Noncurrent Assets
lnvestment in and advances to an associate
Equity securities designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as

AFS financial assets) - net of current portion
lnvestment properties
Property and equipment
Other noncunent assets

12,349

29,970,774
47,675.812
r 0,1 74.8 1 2

190.584

t2,349

29,078,457
40,664,073

1,832,348

32t.572

892.3t7
7 ,01I .739
8,342.464

0ro

30/o

t7y;
45so/t;

i to.t30

P99,J62,700 F83.6 t4.975 Pt5.717.725

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Current portion of:
Long-term debt
Customers' deposits

Advances tiom related companies

P3,896,062

1,223,962
3.592

245,252
66.919

F2,808,583

| ,07 t.574
73,504
8 1.764
45.287

P I .087.479

152.188
(69,9t2)
163,488

39%
0%

t4%
-95%

200%
48%lncome tax pal,able 2t

Total Currenr Liabiliries S,43S,817 4.080.7 r2 t,355, r 05 33%

Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net ofcurrent portion
Customers' deposits - net ofcunent portion
Retirement liability
Net det'erred tax liabilities
OIher noncurrent liabil ities

4,971,969
266,tlt
11,509

t 8,541.216
29.9 t 0

5,525,046
97,605
24.451

I 3.45 1.529

20.r r8

(550,077)
l 68,506
20,0s8

5.089.7 r 7

9.792

-10%
l73o/o

82%
38%
49%

'Iotal Noncurrent Liahilities 2J,tt56.7J5 l9.t t8.719 4.7-.17.996 a <O/

Total l.iabilitics

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

Company
Capital stock*
Additional paid-in capital
Retained eamings
Othe r comprchensive income:
CLrmulative unrealized valuation gain on cquitl sccuritics
designated as I- VOCI

Revaluation surplus

29,292,562

F2,842,174
12,769,'130
45,295,494

22,891,678
J, I (}J,6J8

,15,J50

23.t99.461

2,655,707
r 0,740,079
40,343,598

23.432.49;t
7 s.850

6.091.10r 26%

t86.467 lyo
2.029.65t l9%
4.95 I.896 t20/o

(540.8 r e)
3.02 7.7 88

10

3992%
Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement liabilit

Less:
Parent Comparly's shares held by a subsidiary

45

86,948,061 77,293,081

16,881,220 I 6.88 t.220

9,654.983 t2%
0%

- 00/o
Cost of treasury shares 1,214 1.214 _ O% -

Noncontrolling interests 4,508 4.867 (35e)

Pt 5.717 .725

Alphaland Corporation

P99,362,700 F81.6 14.975
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g 6\4 6)4 160./"
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Total assets of the Group increased byP15,747.8 million or l9o/o from P83,615.0 million as of
December 31,2017 to F99,362.7 million as of December 3 l, 201g.

190% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalenls
Decrease from P215.6 million to Pll0.2 million was mainly caused by the repurchase of the
AMPI's condominium units, parking slots and shares from various tenants, repayments of loans
and by the day-to-day operational activities of tlre Group.

I l%t Decrease in T-rade and Other Receivables
Decrease from F1,993.5 million toPl,ll3.9 million mainly pertains to the forfeiture of sales of
condominium units, parking slots and city club shares of AMPI amounting to F147.5 million, net
of allowance. Collection of prior year's receivables of ABMLHI and AMPI also caused the
decrease.

22ok Decrease in Lund ancl Development und Purking lot.s.fitr .sule
Decrease in land and developrnent and parking lots fbr sale is altributable to the cost of real estate
sold to third parties and to the reclassification of AMPI's Alpha Suites to property and equiprnent.

l2ok Increase in Advances to Related Parties
Increase in advances to related parlies is attributable to funding rnade to ClLrbs to support its
operations.

22(% Increase in Other C'urrent As,sels
Increase is prirnarily due to increase in restricted cash related to Debt Service Reserve Account
(DSRA) required by existing OLSA with various banks and increased creditable withholding taxes
from sales.

8?6 Increase in Current Portion of Equity Securities designatecl as FVOCI and 3% Increase in
Equity securities designated as FVOCI - tVet of Current portion
Net increase in equity securities designated as FVOCI is prirnarily due to appreciation of fair
trarket values o1'shares ol'Balesin Island Club. The Gror-rp establishes the fair value of the
preferred shares in inventory using the recent arm's length rnarket transactions, which is the
Group's transacted selling price to third parties. Reacquisition of AMPI's city club shares from
various members also caused the increase.

1726 Increase in Investmenl Properties
This account represents both completed properlies and properties under constructiorr held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation. or both. Increase represents fair value appreciation of Southgtate
Tower and Mall, Silang, Makati Place. Baguio. Patnanungan and Balesin properties.

1550% lncrease in Property and Equipment
The movement of the accounts pertains to the transfer of Alpha Suites from land and development
costs and parking lots for sale. Revaluation increase of AIpha Suites and Group's aircrafts also
caused the increase.

llok Decrease in Other lVoncurrenl As.sets
Decrease is attributable to the application of advances to contractors for the cornpleted
construction of Balesin private villas, Baguio log hornes and Makati place.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to P29,292.6 million and F23,lgg.5 million as of
December 31,201 8 and 201 7, respectively.
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39'% Increase in Trude and Other Payables
Increase is primarily due to the acquisition of AMPI's condominium units, parking slots and shares
from a various tenants in 201 8.

200o% Increase in Advancesfrom Related Parties
Movement in advances from related pafties is attributable the advances from a related party for
workirrg capital purposes.

llo/,lncrease in Currenl Portion of Long-ternt Debt untl l0%' Decrease in Long-ternt Debt- l\,let of
Current Portion
Movement in long-term debt pertains is attributable to the repayment of loans of AC, AAI and
AAPI and to the new loan availment of ABMLHL

95%t Decrease in Clurrent Portion of C'u.stonters' Depo,sit.s and 1739,o increu.se in C'ustorners'
Deposits - Net oJ'C'urrenl Portion
Net increase is attributable to the deposits from new lease agreements and additional deposits frorn
renewed lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI.

38ok Increase in Net Deferred Tax Liabilities
The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value
change of investment properties of the Group.

1994 Increase in Other Noncurrent Lictbilitic.s
Increase is attributable to the advance rentals from new lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI.

Total equity of the Group jumped by 16% or byF9,654.6 million, from F60,415.5 million as of
December 31,2017 to F70,070.1 million as of December 31,2018.

7o4 Increase in Capilal Stock and l9ok Inoease in Additional Paid-in C'apital Stock
The significant increase is attributable to the subscription of various companies o1186.466,416 AC
shares in 201 8.

2ok lncreqse in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.

2o%, Decreose in Cumulative unrealizedvaluation gain on equity securities designated us FVOC'l
Thedecreaseismainlytheeffectof adjustmentintaxrateor.lthesaleof sharesofstocknottraded
in local stock exchange, from 5-10%to l5o/o, under the TRAIN law effective January l. 2018.

3992% Increase in Revaluation Surplus
The significant increase pertains to the revaluation increase of AMPI's Alpha Suites and AAI and
AAPI's aircrafts.

7%t Decrettse in Noncontrolling inlerests
The decrease is attributable to the remaining 200% interest in Alphaforce Security Agency, Inc. and
Choice Insurance Brokerage, lnc. fully acqLrired by the Group in 2018
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As of December Jl Va ria nce

2017 20t6 Amount o/

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
'l'rade and other receivables
t-and and developnrent costs and parking lots lbr salc

Advances to related cornpanics
Equity securities designated as tair value through other

conrprehensive inconre IFVOCI] ftbrnrerly classilicd as

F2 I 5,593
r.993.504
3.942.37 s

2.77'l .048

P256.146
1.254.52t
5.436.01 5

2.4t2.712

(P40.551) -t6'.%

7l{t.9tt3 59"k
( I .1S3.640) -2'7"/o

364.106 15',v.

available-for-sale (AFS) financial assetsl

Other current assets

98s,8ll 985.811 - 0'%

1,791,845 2,t26.563 (334.718) lQYo

Total Current Assets I1,706,176 12,471,798 (765.622) -6'%

Noncurrent Assets
Investment in and advances to an associate t2,349
Equity securities designated as FVOCI (lornrerly classilled as

AFS tlnancial assets) - nct ofcurrent portion 29.078.157
lnvestnrcnt properties 40.66'1.071

Property and equipment t.832.348

22.669

29.27 t.4t I
)1 )O1 )OO

l .492.83 5

306,986

( r0.320)

( le2.9s4)
I 3"366.774

339.5 I l
I 4.586

0'%
-46'%

-t'%
49'%
23'%

5'%otlrer noncurrent assets 321.572

Total Noncurrent Assets 7lp!qJ99 --,---!-ql9
I 3.5 r 7,599 L)70

F83,6 14,97s P70,862,998 Pt2.75t,977 t8%

LIABII,ITIES AND EQI.]ITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Current portion of :

Long-term debt
Customers'deposits

Advances from related companies

P2.808.5 83 F2.5 l 9.53 7 F289.046 ll%o

I ,071 ,57 4

73,504
8t,764

1,480,479
)) a1)

8,693

(408,90s)
50,572
73,07 t

-28%
221%
841%
807%Income tax )R7 991

Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net ofcurrent portion

Customers' deposits - net ofcurrent portion
Retirement liability
Net deferred tax liabilities

5.525.046 4.04 1.878

97.605 127,034
1.183.r68 37%
(29.12e\ -23%
(6,965) -22oh

3.321,042 33%
24.45t

t3,45t,529
3 1.416

t0,t24,487

Other noncurrent liabilities 20,1 18 89,809 (69,691 ) -78%

Total Liabilities

Equity Attributable to Equity llolders ofthe Parent

(lom pany
C'ap ital stock

Additional paid-in capital
Retained eanrings
Other comprehensive inconte:

Cumulative unrealized valuation gain on equity securitics
designated as FVOCI

Revaluation surplus

23,199,46t

2.655.707
I 0,740,079
40,343.598

23,432,497
75,850

18,451,258

2.6s 5.707

| 0.719.010
32.t72.415

23,574,s99
72.680
22.846

4.748.203 26%

- 0Y'
1.039 0o/o

8. t 7 1.1 53 250/o

(t42,t02\
3,1 70

-lo/o

4%
99o/o

Less.

Pare nt Ct'rnrpany,'s shares hcltl b1' a subsidiary 16.88 1.220 16.817.972 6-l-218 (toh

I.2 l1 ll.2 l{ (11.000) -90%

Accumulated remeasurement on retirement

interests

45, 22

77.293,081 69.237,3t7 8,055,764 t20/o

2s8

Total Equrty 60,4 I 5'5 I 4 52,4 I I ,740 8,003'774 I 5%

Alphaland Corporation 2019 SEC Forn 20-lS
f'ctge 5 I

F83,614,975 P70,862,998 ?t2,751,977 t8%



Total assets of the Group increased by?12,752.0 million or l8ol0, fromF70,863.0 million as of

December 31,2016 to F83,615.0 million as of December 31,2017 '

l6% Decrease in Cash ond Cash Equivalents

On February 15,2017, ALPHA eniered into an OLSA with BDO for a loan facility of P5,500.0

million to refinance the existing loans and to finance new projects and working capital

requirements of the Group. The loan has a term of seven years, payable in 25 quarterly principal

amortizations commencing one year after initial drawdown date' This loan facility was

subsequently increased to-p6,7\O.o million in last quarter of 2017. on various dates in 2017,

ALpHA ,ud. it, drawdowns amounting to F6,286.0 million. Despite of the drawdowns made,

cash and cash equivalents decreased from P256.1 million to F215.6 million due to the major

outlays to support the completion of Alphaland Corporate Tower and first phase of Alphaland

Baguio trrtouniain Log Homes Project and day-to-day operational activities of the Group.

59?(, Increase in Trade and Other Receivables

Increase fromFl,254.5 million toFl,gg3.5 million is due to recognition of receivables from sale

of Baguio log cabins and Balesin Private Villas in 2017 '

270% Decrease in Land and Development and Parking lots for sale

Decrease from p5,436.0 million to?3,942.4 million is on account of the transfer of Alphaland

Corporate Tower from land and development account to investment property account amounting to

?2,425.4 and the recognition of cost oireal estate sold for the Baguio log cabins, Balesin Private

Villas and Alphaland Makati Place condominium units"

1625 Decrease in Other current assets

Under the old OLSA, ASTI, ABIRC, AMPI and ABMLHI (collectively the Borrowers) were

required to maintain a Debt Service Reserve Account for the security of interest and/or principal

repayments to the lenders. The old OLSA was preterminated and refinanced through BDO during

the iirst quarler of 2017. ln August 2017, ALPHA requested to BDO the waiver of the Debt

Service Reserve Account and Debt Service Payment Account maintaining balance requirements

for a period of one year from the initiat borrowing date. BDO assented to the request which lead to

the postponement of the maintaining balance requirements until the first quarter of year 2018'

I5o/o Increase in Advances to Related Parties

Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to funding made to Clubs to support its

operations.

16ok Decrease in lnvestments in and Advances to Associates

The decrease in this account was brought about by ALPHA's additional common share

subscription in ASAI increasing ALPHAI ownership to 80%. ASAI has become ALPHA's

subsidiary in2017.

49% Increase in Investment Properties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn

rentals or for capital appreciation, or Uoitr. in.r.ur. frotm?27,297.3 million toP40,664'l million

represents fair value appreciation of Silang and Alphaland Corporate Tower.
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230/o Increase in Property and Equipment

The movement of this account pertains to the newly acquired aircraft of Alphaland Aviation

Pampanga, Inc. on February 20ll for its commercial operations'

Total liabilities of the Group amounted toP23,199. million and F18,451.3 million as of December

3 I , 201 7 and 2016, resPectivelY.

I lok Increase in Trade ond Other Payables

Increase is primarily due to increased trade payables pertainin€i to construction project ol-

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc. and increase in depor;its received by ABIRC from

sale ofgold shares.

811% Increase in Advances.from Related Parties

The increase is primarily due to the advances received by AMPI from a related party'

8070,4 Increase in Income Tax Payable

The increase is primarily due to the computed income tax due of ABMLHI related to the sale of

Baguio log cabins

I90,4 Increase in Long-term Debt - net of deferued.financing Costs

The increase pertaini to loan drawdowns of ALPHA, AAI and AAPI for year 2017 in total amount

ofp6,683.2 million. The loan drawdowns were pafiially olfset by principal loan repayments of

AAI, AAPI, ASTI, AMPI, ABMLHI ANd ABIRC iN tOtAI AMOUNT Of P5,072.I MiIIiON.

140% Increase in Customers Deposits

The increase is attributable to the security deposits received

33ok Increase in Deferred tax liabilities

by ASTI from its new tenants in2017.

The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax

change of Alphaland Corporate Tower, Southgate Tower and

liability on the gain on fair value

Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan

and Balesin properties.

Total equity of the Group jumped by 15% or byP8,003.5 million, fromF52,4ll'7 million as of

December 31,2016to F60,415.5 million as of December 3 1,201'7'

l0k Decrease in (Jnrealized Gains on AFS Financial Assets

The significant decrease is brought about by the realization of the gain on sale of AFS financial

assets related to the sold shares for year 201 7.

250/o Increase in Relained Earning,s

The increase is brought about by ihe net income of the Groull during the current period'
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As of December Jl !'ariance

201 5 Amount o/o

2016

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Land and development costs and parking lots for sale

Advances to related comPanies
gouiiv tecurities designated as fair value through other
-'coirpr"hensire 

income [FVoCl] [formerly classified as

avaiiable-for-sale (AFS) financial assetsl

P256,146
|,254,521
5,436,01 5

2.412.'742

?453.724
793,395

4,533,01 7

l ,994.1 85

985.81

2,177

23, I 08

28,684, I 33

t7.544,31t
904.420
359,472

(P r 97,578)
461,t26
902.998
4 l 8.557

-44%

580/,

20%
2lYo

985,81 I

l 26.563 5l
0o/o
10/

534,024 I 4o/o
Other current assets

Total Current Assets

lnvestment Properties
Property and equiPment
Other noncurrent assets

Noncurrent Assets

lnvestment in and advances to an associate'eqrlty 
t.."titio designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as

'AFS 
financial assets) - net ofcurrent portion

12,47 | 798

22,669

29,271,4ll
27.297,299

I.492.835
306.986

5 8.39 I

937

(43e)

587.278
9.752.988

s88.415
52,486)

47.5t5,444 l 0.875.756

F58,4s3,218 F 12,409,780

-L /O

2o/o

560/o

65%
-t5%

Total Noncurrent Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other PaYables
Current Portion of:

Long-term debt
Customers' dePosits

Advances from related comPanles

P2,519,537

1,480.479
22,932

8,693
4,993

Fl.435.lll

1.592.525
s6 557

2.856

P I .084.426

( I 12.046)
(33,62s)

5,837

1 60/o

-59o/o

204%
0%4.993

lncome tax

Total Cunent Liabilities

Retirement liabilitY
Net deferred tax liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities
Lons-term debt - net ofcurrent portion

Cusiomers' deposits - net ofcurrent portion

4,041,878
t2t.034
31.416

I 0, I 24.487
89.809

561.452
59,61 5

8,840
3. l 39.59 I

3,087

3,480,426
(;7.419

22.5',16

6.984.896

949.585 3t%

t6%
88%
39%
45%

9l .939 2,1
Other noncurrent liabilities

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

ComPanY
Capital stock

Additional Paid-in caPrtal

Retained eamings
Other crrmprehensive inconte.- 

Cumulative unrealized valuation gain on equity securities

designated as FVOCI
Revaluation surPlus

t4.414.624

I 8,451 ,258

2,655,707
l 0,739,040
32.172.445

23,5'74,599
72,680
22,846

7,256

13,7.34,305

2.655.107
l 0.739.040
25,09s.300

23.C,19,669

767 3s%

4,7 t6,953 34%

7.071.14;

554.930
72,680

0%
0%

28%

0%
-6%

Accumulated remeasurement on retirement
( l ,34s

69,237,317 6 t,533,907 7,703,410 t3%

Less:
Parent Company's shares held by a subsidiary t6.817.972

12.2t4
t6,8t7,972

|,214
44.114.721

4,t92

r 1,000

7,692.410
417

0o/o

906%
1%

t0%

l7o/o

Cost of
52.407,l3l

4.609

52.41 I .740 44.718,913 7.692.82'l
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Total assets of the Group increased byF12,409.8 million ot Zloh, from F58,453'2 million as of

December 3 I , 201 5 to F70,863.0 million as of December 3 l, 201 6.

44% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Decrease from p453.7 million to izsO.t million was caused by major outlays to.support the

.o*pt.tion of first phase of Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes Project and day-to-day

operational activities of the Group.

58%,Increase in Trade and Other Receivables

Increase from F 793.4 million to P1,254'5 million is due

condominium unit sales of AMPI towers I and 2 because

completion.

2lok Increase in Customers Deposits

The increase is attributable to the security deposits received

to increase in receivable from

of the increase in Percentage of

by ASTI from its new tenants in 2016'

200/o Increase in Land and Development and Porking lots for sale

Increase from p4,533.0 million to F5,436.0 million is on account of substantial progress in the

construction und 
"o*pi"tion 

of tower 3 of Alphaland Makati Ptace Project and Alphaland Baguio

Mountain Log Homes Project.

2lok Increase in Advances to Related Parties

Increase in advances to related parties is attributabte to funding made to Clubs to support its

operations.

560% Increase in Investment Properties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn

rentats or for capital appreciation, or botir. Increase from Pl 7,544'3 million to ?27 
'297 '3 million

represents fair vatue appreciation of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio' Patnanungan and

Balesin properties.

The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value changes of Southgate

Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesln properties. The increase was slightly

offset by the decrease in inteiest expenses aid other financing charges due to the decrease in long-

term debt balance as of December 31,2016 and decrease in gain on sale of AFS financial assets

due to lower number of sold shares in year 2016'

56% Increase in Property and Equipment

The movement of this account plrtuint to the newly acquired aircraft of AAI on January 2016 for

its commercial operations. The increase was also uff..i*O by AAI's adoption of the revaluation

model for the subiequent measurement of its aircraft under transportation equipment'

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to F 18,451.3 rnillion and P 13,734'3 million as of

December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively'

43?5 Increase in Trade and Other Payables

Increase is primarily due to increased trade and accrued payables pertaining to construction project

of AMPL

I lo/o Increase in Longlerm Debt - net of deferredfinancing costs

The increase pertains to loan drawdowns of ASTI, AC, AAI and ABMLHI for year 2016 in

amount of F2,157.8 million. These loan drawdowns were partially offse! by principal

,.puy*"nt, of ASTI, AMPI, AAI and ABIRC in totalamount of P1,713'5 million'

total
loan

45% Increase in Deferued tax liabilities
2019 SEC Fctrm 20-lS
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The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value

change of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties'

Toral equity of the croup jumped by lT% or byF7,692.8 million, fromF44,7l8'9 million as of

December 31,2015 to F52,411.7 million as of December 3l ,2016'

20% Increase in (Jnrealized Gains on AFS Finqncial Assets

The significant increase is brought about by the increase in fair market value of the ABICI tranche

2 preflrred shares that are ciurrently for sale in the international market' The revaluation

adjustment is on account of higher dojlar to peso exchange rate as of December 3l ' 2016 versus

December 31,2015.

l00o% Increase in Revaluation Surplus

The revaluation surplus recognizei in year 2016 is due to AAI's adoption of the revaluation model

for the subsequent *"arrre.irt of its aircraft under transportation equipment'

2826 Increase in Retqined Earnings
The increase is brought about by i'n. n.t income of the Group duringthe current period'
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Years Ended December Jl Varia nce

2018 2017
o/-

*2,811,819

859,354
646,589

68,380

834.340
360.468
8'74.784

2,069

58. lt5l

25.014
286.121
362
673.681

10.219

?2,483,427 ?394,392 l6vo
REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost ofreal estate sold

Cost of services
General and administrative

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX

3%
79%
4l%o

33%

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)

Gain on fair value changes of investment properties 7'453'516 I l'471'819 (4'018'303) -35o/o

Interest expense and other finance charges tiir,ilsl 065J27) 44'382 '12o/o

( 100.857) 51.4't6 (t52.3331 -226-ob-
n+L^- ^^ih. /l^ccac\ 

- 
nPt 

- '''oo' 
(4'405'543) '38o/o

Current
Defe rred

111 3.344,210 J

1802,

-29o/o_

-28olt

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent

years:
Revaluation increase

Income tax elfect

ffiequitysecurities
designated as FVOCI

Income tax effect

1 3.402,3',71 964,814

4,728,303 8, r 69,032 (3,440,129)

4,365,148 9.515
2,854

4.355"633

r,287 1.285,102

.661 3,070,531 460979',o

1,084,338 1,084,338

I 162,651

921.68'7

-42o/o

45776oto
450289',o

192

09'o

00,6

09;921

R.mea**r*nt gain (loss) on retirement

To be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent

years;

Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS

financial assets

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial

assets

Income tax effect

Net income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company

Noncontrolling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company

r 5,789 15,

142.103

I r2.938 4, r I r,817

?8,167,662 (P3,439,750) -42%
-7l%o1.370 e19)

I 69. P3,440, -42o/o

P8.126,191 F8"054.76u P6'72.023

39 t.326 935

,127,182 F8.056"094 SiYo

(2 l 6,038)

58, I 46

216.038 - 100i/o

(58,146) -l00Yo

P4,721,912
391

8o/o

-7 lo/o

TOTAL CoMPREHENSIVE INCOME P8',127',182 F8'056'094 P67l'088 8',)o
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16o/o Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to P2,877.8 million and P2,483.4

million foi the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase is mainly

attributed to combined effects of AMPI's additional rent income from Corporate Tower and

increased number of new lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI during 2018. Furthermore, there is

an increasing trend in revenues from transport services provided by AAI to ABICI'

33ok increase in Costs and Expenses

Increase from p2,069.6 million in prior period to?2,743.7 million in current period mainly

represents cost oi condominium units and transportation service, corresponding to increased

number of units sold and number of flights, respectively'

37% Decrease in Other Income (Expenses)

Other income (expense) decreasei by P4,126.3 million from F 11,157.6 million in 2017 to

p7,031.3 million in ZOtg. fh. signifiCant decrease is attributable to the lower gain on fair value

changes of investment properties iecognized in 2018 as compared to 2017 (Southgate Tower and

Mall, Silang, Makati Place, Baguio and Balesin properties)
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Years Ended December 3l Variance

2017 2016 Amount o//o

P2.483,428 P2.33 5.748 P r47.680 60
REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost ofreal estate sold

Cost of services
General and administrative

834.340
360,468

r,094,857
285,884

(260,5 r 7)
7 4,584

-24%
260/o

68%723 562.1 l0
2,t41,53t 1.942,851

384.6 I 3
t 98,680 l0o/o

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties

Interest expense and other finance charges

r r,47 r,819
(36s.727\

123.4t4

I 0,007,052
(294.749)

105,486

t,464,767
(70.978)

t'7.928

t5%
24%
73%

Other gains (losses) - net
9,817,789 | ,41I ,717 l4o/o|,229"506

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX

I t,571,403 10,210,685 1,360,71 8 130/o

58,r6r 87,084 (28,923) -33o/o

t0%Current
Deferred 3,344,210 3,046,'7,18 297.432

3.402,37 t 3. I 33.862 268.509 gYo

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Nor b be reclassiJied to proiit or loss in subsequenl

years;

8. r 69,032 7.076.823 t.092,209 l5vo

9,s 15 r 03.828 (e4,3 r 3) -9lo/a'
-9lo/oRevaluation increase

Income tax effect

Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement

2,854
6,661 72,680

31.1,18 2

66.01 9) -9lo/o

liabil

To be reclassiJied to profit or loss in subsequent

years:
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS

financial assets

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial

22.504 23.850 -l772ol'

(2 r 6,03 8) ( r 08,49s) (107,543) 99o/o

3,16

58. l 46
I 5,789

725.090 (666.944)
'77.454

-920/'a

-126o/'ta
assets

Income tax effect 6 r.665

1 42.1 03 5 54.930 697.03 3 -1260/o

r r2.938 626.264 '739.202 - I I 8ozir

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company ?8,167,662
1.370

F7,703,087 P353,007 5v'o

?7,076,406 Fl,091,256 l5ot6

2290,6417 953
Noncontrolling interests

Gtal comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company

P8, I 69,032 P7, 823

P"7.102.670
4t7

P8.054,768
1,326

P352.098
909

15o,6

59/o

2189/o
Noncontroll ing interests

P7.703,087 F353,007 59/o
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The Croup's consolidated net income \n 2017 and 2016 amounted to F8,169'0 million and

F7,076.8 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Croup isF8'056'l million in

2017 andP7,703.1 million in 2016.

60A Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to P2,483.4 million and P2,335'7

million for the years ended December 31,2017 and2016, respectively. The inc.rease is mainly

attributable to increase in rent income of ASTI due to higher occupancy rate in 2017 for the

soutngut" Mall and for the higher leasable area for the southgate Tower compared to 2016.It was

"o*p[."nted 
by increase in transport services due to additional aircraft bought by AAI, which

lead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and from Balesin Island'

lOok Increase in Costs and Expenses

Increase from P1,942.9 millibn in 2016 toF2,l4l.5 mitlion in 2017 is due to the increase in

salaries and employees' benefits due to the increase in the basic pay of some of the key

management personnelof the Group and the recognition of donation of ASTI to Ateneo de Manila'

lnc., a non-stock, n6n-profit educational institution. The increase was partially offset by the

decrease in cost of real estate sold of AMPI'

I4%o Increase in Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased'by Fl,4l I .7 million from F9,817,8 million in 2016 to Pl I '229'5

million in 201 7. The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value change

of Silang and recognitiJn of gain on fair value change for Alphaland corporate Tower, which was

partially offset by the decreise in gain on fair value changes of Southgate Tower, Baguio, and

Balesin proPerties.
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Years Ended December 3l Variance

2016 2015 Amount o//o

REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sold

Cost of services
General and administrative

P2,335"748 ?2,t87,274

t.207,386
202,884
559,725

Pl48.474

1.094,857
285.884

(r2.52e)
83.000

7o/o

-9o/o

4t
0%

oTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties

lnterest expense and other finance charges

s62.1 r 0

10,007,052
(294,749)

8,578,761
(25 r ,303 )

2

1,428.291
(43.446)

17%
l7o/o

-6t%Other sains (losses) - net

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current
Deferred

105.486 272,398 (t66,912

9"817.789 8,599,856 t,2t'7.933 I 4o/o

t0.2 t0.685 8"8 r7.115 1,393,550 160/o

87,084 63,901 23, r 83 36%
I 60/o3,046,'t78

3, I 33,862

7,076,823

t 03.828
3 1,148

35,457 4t t,321

358 434.504 t6%

6,|7,777 959.046 t6%NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not to be reclassiJied to profit or loss in subsequenl

years;
I{evaluation increase
lncome tar effect

Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement

To be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent

years:
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS

financial assets

Unrealized valuation gain on A-FS financial

( r 08,495)

725,090 1,155,623 (430,533 )

( r 08,495 )
jo/c'

-37o1'

-4'7ol'
assets

Income tax effect 61,665 I 1 5.562 53.897

554.930 r .040,061 485.1 3 1 -47olt

626.264 1.049.105 422.841) -40o/o

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P7.703.087 F7. r 66.882 F5 36.205 '7o/o

Net income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company

Noncontrolling interests

total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company

?7,

?7,076,406
417

P6,l 18,500
't23

P957.906
1,t40

F535.065
1. r40

P6,ll'7,'7'77 P959.046 l60/o

P7,702,670 ?'7,167,60s 7o/o

- I 58oztr
Noncontrolling interests 4t'7 123

F7.703.087 F536"205 10,
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The Group',s consolidated net income in 2016 and 2015 amounted to F7,076'8 million and

p6,117.8 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Group isF7,703'l million in

2016 and P7,166.9 million in 2015.

7ok Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to P2,335'7 million and P2,187'3

million for the year ended December 31,2016 and 2015, respectively' The increase is mainly

attributable to increase in rent income of ASTI due to higher occupancy rate i1 2016 compared to

2015. It was complemented by increase in transport t.rri..t due to additional aircraft bought by

AAl, which lead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and from Balesin Island'

There was an increase in interest income from installment sale of AMPI's condominium units'

lok decrease in Costs and ExPenses

Decrease from F1 ,g7o.O million in 2015 to pl ,942.9 million in 2016 is due to the decrease in cost

of real estate sold of AMPI which was partially offset by the increase in AAI's cost of transport

services due to more flights in 2016.

l40% Increase in Other Income (Expense)

other income (expense) increased by Pl,2l7 .9 million from P8,599.9 million in 201 5 to F9,81 7'8

million in2016. ff," tignin.ant inciease is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value

changes of Southgate T6wer and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties' The

increase was slightly offset by the decrease in inteiest expenses and other financing charges due to

the decrease in tong-term debt balance as of December 3l ,2016 and decrease in gain on sale of

AFS financial assets due to lower number of sold shares in year 201 6'

Comparative Kev Performance Indicators

2018 2017 201'5

(r)Tot"l **p*heniive income attributable

to equity holders of the Parent Company

(in thousands)
(b) Weighted average number of shares

P8,726,791 F8.054,768 ?7,702,670

outstandins before the effect o!!!gqL ,250 964,289 1,274,374,956

io.tzs P6.044

iU; fotut number of shares outstanding at end

or ,"u, uerore ttre enecior stoct sitit t,a57,J2?,{9? I ,273,922.112 I '270'!16'91!-

Basic/diluted earni share (a/b F6.398

(a) Total equitY (in thousands) F70,070,138 P60,415,514 P52,411,140

Book value Per share (a/b P48.081 P47.539 F4l.r40

(a) Total long-term debt (in thousands) F6,198,931 ?6,596,620 ?5,522,3:;',7

b) Total itv (in thousands 138 415,514 52.411.',l 41

F0.1 09 F0. r 05
Debt ratio (a/b P0.088

(a) Total comprehensive income attributable

to equity holders of the Parent Company
*8,726,791 F8,054,768 P7,702,670

(in thousands)

,0, Xu.'r'JJ.iorl,'.ou',r,'r,nomuno', ut;'-^,;Ur' tu'o'''u" ot''ut'',.
Po l d'l P0.1 59

Retum on equity (a/b P0.134 F0. l 43 F0,l:59

No material off-balance sheet transactions, alrangements, obligations, and other relationships of

the Group with unconsolidated entities were created during the year.
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As of December 3 I , 2018, except for what has been noted in the preceding, there were no material

events or uncertainties known to management that had a material impact on past performance' or

that would have a material impact on the future operations, in respect of the following:

o Known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that would have a material

impact on the GrouP;
o Material commitments for capital expenditures that are reasonably expected to have a

material impact on the Group's short-term or long-term liquidity;
o Known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to

have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from

continuing oPerations;
o Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Group's results of

operations; and
o Material changes in the financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 3 l,

201 8.

Events that will Trigger Direct or Contingent Financial Obligation that is Material to the

company, including any Default or Acceleration of an obligation

Commitments

a. Corporate GuarantY

AMpl, a wholly owned subsidiary through ASTI, entered into a Joint Venture Agreement

with BSp to divelop the Alphaland Makati Place Project. Pursuant to the Joint Venture

Agreement, ALPHA has issued a corporate guaranty in favor of BSP whereby, in the event

AMPI is unable to complete the Project (for reasons attributable to the fault of AMPI),

ALpHA shall pay BSP the amount of F600.0 million in exchange for BSP's l5oZ share in

the sharing scheme as defined in the Joint venture Agreement.

b. Construction Contracts

The Group entered into various construction contracts for the development of its pro;iects'

Total advances to contractors amounted to P560.2 milli,rn and P749.5 million as at

December 3 l, 201 8 and 201 7, respectively.

The significant construction contracts that gave rise to the advances are as follows:

(ln T!qu:e49-
Nature

AMPI

ABMLHI

P280,925 P192,412

151,716 204.812

Civil, structural, masonrl' works

and supply and installation of materials

forAlphaland Makati Place

Supply of labor, materials, equipment

and all related construction works for
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges

Project
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Retention Pavable
R"t"rtt", prfbl" is based upon specifically identified construction contracts that stipulate the

right of the Group to retain a portion of the progress billings of contractors. Depending on the

terms of the contract, all retention payable shall be released lo contractors upon 100% completion

and acceptance of works normally within one year after completion. Total retention payable

amounted to P409.0 million and F407.5 million as at December 3 1, 201 8 and 201 7, respectively.

Significant contract with retention clause arises from the civil, structural and masonry works

foi Towers I to 3 and the construction of the Podium. Total retention payable recognized by

AMpl as at December 31,2018 and 2017 related to such contract amounted to F329.0 million,

and

P35 1.4 million, respectively.

Contingencies

While cases were filed between the Croup and

shareholders of ALPHA includes the transfer of the

of the all such disputes with the WG.

Deficiency VAT Assessment for ASTI and AMPI. The Bureau of lnternal Revenue (BIR) issued a

ninal Decision on Disputed Assessment (FDDA) to ASTI and AMPI on June 20,2016 covering

the taxable year 2014 amounting to P30.9 million. ASTI and AMPI filed their respective motions

for reconsideration, which were subsequently denied by the BIR. ASTI and AMPI elevated the

cases to the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA). The decision is still pending with the CTA.

Other Legal Cases. There are certain lawsuits and claims filed by third parties against the Group

which are either pending decision by the proper judicial bodies or under negotiation, the outcome

of which are preiently undeterminable. In the opinion of the Group's management, the ultimate

disposition olthese cases, disputes and assessments will not have a material adverse effect on the

financial position or results of operations of the Croup'

Material Off-Balance Sheet Transactions, Arrangements, Obligations (Including Contingent

Obligations), and Other Relationships of the Company with Unconsolidated Entities or

Other Persons Created During the Reporting Period

There are no material off-balance sheet transactions. arrangements, or obligations and other

relationships of the Cornpany with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the

reporting period.

3. External Audit Fees

In 2018, the Company engaged Reyes Tacandong & Co. as its external auditor for the current yPar,

with the upp.orui olthe 
-gOO 

und the stockholders. There were no changes in or disagreem$nts

with accountants on any matter of accounting principles ,or practices, financial statenlent

disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure during the past calendar year.

The Company paid its external auditor the following fees for the last three (3) years for

professional services rendered :

WG, the agreement signed by the major
Group's interest in ABCC and the settlement
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Aggregate Fee Amount
Nature of ServiceType of Service

ExtemalAudit
Retainer

2018 2017 2016

P 3,835,000 P769,500 F580,000 Audit of Financial Statements

216,000 216,000 216,000 M
Total Fees F4,051,000 F985,500 P796,000

The Audit Committee is directly responsible in selecting and appointing the independent public

accountants. Annually, the Committee recommends that the Board request shareholder ratification

of the appointment of the independent public accountants. The Committee is also responsible for
setting the compensation of the independent public accountants and periodically reviews the fees

charged for alt permitted audit-related expenses and other services. The Committee performs

oversight functions over the Company's external auditors. It ensures that the auditors act

independently from management and that it is given access to all records, properties and personnel

of the Company to enable it to perform its functions properly. It is also their responsibility to

evaluate and, when appropriate, to remove the independent public accountants. The Audit

Committee makes recommendations to the BOD concerning the external auditors and pre-approves

audit plans, scope and frequency before the conduct of the external audit. The Committee reviews

the financial reports before these are submitted to the Board, with particular focus on (i) any

changes in accounting policies and practices, (ii) Major judgmental areas, (iii) significant

adjuslments resulting fiom audit, (iv) going concern assumptions, (v) compliance with accounting

stindards, and (vi) c-ompliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee

has approved the audit conducted by Reyes Tacandong & Co.

There were no other professional services rendered by Reyes Tacandong & Co. during the period'

The reappointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co. as the Company's external auditor was approved by

the Stockholders in the Annual Stockholders Meeting held on June 20, 2018.

There were no disagreements with respect to the transfer of the account, nor was there any

accounting/auditing issue raised in this connection.

The reapf,ointmeniof the said auditing firm as Independent Public Accountant forthe year2019

will be submitted to the stockholders by the Company's Audit Committee for their confirmation

and approval during the regular annual stockholders meeting.

pursuant to Rule 68 of the Securities Regulation Code on the 5 year rotation requirement for the

external auditor, the Audit Committee shall require the appointment of a new partner to handle and

oversee the external audit of the Group's financial statements. The appointment of the duly

qualified and SEC registered Independent Public Accountant shall be announced in the

shareholders meeting for consideration and approval of the stockholders.

Duly authorized representatives of Reyes Tacandong & Co. are expected to be present at the

meeting where they will have the opportunity to respond to appropriate questions'

4, Financial Risk Management

The Board of Directors ("BOD") has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of

the Group,s risk management framework. The Group's risk management policies are established

to identifu and managelthe Group's exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction limits

and contiols, and to-monitor and assess risks and compliance to internal control policies. Risk

management policies and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions

and the Group's activities.

The Group has exposure to credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk from the use of its
financial instruments. The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal as it does not
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normally enter into transactions in currencies other than its functional currency. The BoD reviews

and approves the policies for managing each of these risks'

Credit Risk
The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that

all customers who wish to tradJon credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures' In

addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group

.*poru.r to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the

functional currency of the PareniCompany, the Group does not offer credit terms without the

specific approvalof the Chief Finance Officer.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, the Group's exposure to credit

risk arises from default of the 
-ounterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying

amount of these instruments.

Since the Group trades with recognized third parties and related parties, there is no requirement for

collateral. There are no other concentrations of credit risk within the Group'

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash

flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates

primarily to its financial instruments with floating interest and/or fixed interest rates' Fixed rate

financial instruments are subject to fair value lnterest rate risk while floating rate financial

instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risk. Re-pricing of floating rate financial

instruments is done every three to six months. Interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed

until maturity of the instrument'

The Group,s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the

Group,s long-term debt subject to floating Interest rates. The other financial instruments of the

Group are nJninterest-bearing and, therefore, not subject to interest rate risk.

Liquidity Risk
r-iq',riiity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or

at a reasonable price. Management is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as settlement

,unug.*.nt. In addition, management oveisees liquidity and funding risks, and- related processes

and policies. The Group ,unig", its liquidity iisk based on business needs' tax' capital or

regulatory considerationr, if appt[able, through numerous sources of finance in order to maintain

flexibility.

The Group also maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility' .The 
policy of

the Group is to first exhaust lines available from affiliated companies before local bank lines are

availed of. The c.ouf seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash planning on a weekly basis'

The Group uses historical figures and experiences and iorecasts from its collections and

disbursements. es fart of itl liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its

projected and actual cash flows. It also fontinuously urr"tt". conditions in the financial markets

for opportunities to pursue fund raising activities. Aiso, the Group only places funds in the money

market, which are exceeding the Group requirements. Placements are strictly made based on cash

planning assumptions and covers only a short period of time'
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D.

1.

GENERAL NATURE AND SCOPE OF BUSINESS

Business Indicators

Alphaland Corporation (ALPHA or Parent Company) is a holding company incorporated and

registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Cornmission (SEC) on November 19,

lg-90. The principal buiiness of ALPHA and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the

"Group") is real properfy development.

The registered office address of ALPHA is Alphaland Makati Place,7232 Ayala Ave. ext. cor.

Malugay Street, Makati CitY.

ALPHA's Lesal Subsidiaries as at December 31.2018 and2017

Percenlage of

Ownerchip

Company

Place of

Incorporalion Nature of Business 2018 2017

Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc. (ASTI)

Alphaland Balesin Island Resort Corporation
(ABTRC)

Alphaland Makati Place, lnc. 1414p1, 
1u)

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes'

Inc. (ABMLHI)
Alphaland Balesin International Gateway,

Inc. (formerly AlPhaland Balesin

Gateway, Inc.) (ABIGI)
Alphaland Reclamation Corporation (ARC)

ZZSg Atue Holdings. Inc.(Blue Holdings)(u)

Alphaland Southgate Restaurants. lnc.
(ASRI) (')

Alphaland Intemational, Inc. (AII)
Alphaland Aviation, Inc. (AAI)
Alphaland Aviation - Pampanga, lnc' (AAPI)

(b)

Aegle Wellness Center, lnc. (AWCI)
Alphaland lntemational, Inc. - BVI

Alphaland Intemational, lnc. - Seychelles

Superface Enterprises Limited
Aegle Drugstore Inc. lADl; 

(')

Chiice lnJurance Brokerage. lnc. (CIBI) (')

Alphaforce Security Agency. lnc. (ASAI)(D.

Redstone Mountain Holdings lnc. (RMHI)(8)

Lodgepole Holdings, Inc. lLHl) 
(d

Mt. Baguio Holding Estates Inc. (MBHEI)'ts'

Top of the Alpha, Inc. Doing business under

the names and styles of ToP of the

Alpha by Louie Y and The AlPha BY

Louie Y(ToP of the AlPha)(d) 
.

The Alpha Suites, lnc. lAlpha Suites)t"'

Pinecrest Holdings. lnc. (PHI)(s)
(a) Through ASTI
(b) Through AAI
(c) Through AMPI: lncorporated in 2017

(d) Through AMPI: lncorporated in 2018

(e) Through Blue Holdings
(fl Associate in 2016
(g) Incorporated in 2018

Philippines

Philippines
Philippines

Philippines

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Philippines
Philippines
British Virgin

lslands
Seychel les

Hongkong
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Philippines
Philippines

Real property develoPment

Real propefiy develoPment

Real property development

Real property develoPment

Real property develoPment
Rcal propertl' develoPment
Holding company

Restaurant operations
Holding company
Aviation

Aviation
Wellness center

l-lolding companY
I-lolding company
Holding compan)'
Pharmacy
lnsurance brokerage

Sec urity agency

Holding company
Holding company
Holding company

Re$aurant oPerations

Real estate comPanY

Holding company

r00

100

100

r00

r00
r00

100

r00
100
r00

t00
100

r00

r00
r00

100
100

r00
100

r00
80

100

100

r00
100

r00
100

r00

r00
r00
100

100

r00
r00

r00
r00

r00
100

r00
r00
97
80
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Chanees in Group Structure durine 2018 and 2017

a. ADI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on December 22, 2017

primarily to engage in the business of retailing or wholesaling of pharmaceutical products'

medicines, foodstuffs and groceries.

b. Blue Holdings initially subscribed to 15,749,996 common shares of CIBI representing

70% of its outstanding shares in November 2012. In October 2017, Blue Holdings

purchased additional O,OOO,OOO common shares from an existing shareholder for F5.0

million resulting to an increase in ownership of CIBI to 97%. ln December 2018, the

remaining interest was obtained by Blue Holdings making CIBI its wholly-owned

subsidiary.

CIBI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on November 6, 2012

primarily to engage, conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act as a broker,

and to do other related activities'

c. ALpHA initially subscribed to 79,999 common shares of ASAI representing 40% of its

outstanding shares in March 2011, which was then accounted for as an associate. In

October ZO3, p1t-pttA purchased additional 79,999 common shares from an existing

shareholder for Fl1.2 mitlion increasing its ownership of ASAI to 80%o.

ASAI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on March l8,20ll
primarily to engage in the business of providing security and investigation services to

private institutions and government organizations.

d. Top of the Alpha was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 21,

20i8 primarily to establish, maintain and operate restaurants, coffee shops, refreshment

parlors and cocktail lounge.

e. Alpha Suites was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on lul: ll,20l8
primarily to deal and engage in the real estate business in all its aspects; to hold, develop,

,unug.jadminister, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent or otherwise deal in

and dispose of, for itselfor for others, all kinds ofreal estate projects.

f. RMHI, LHI, MBHEI and PHI were incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC

primarily to invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, sell, assign, transfer'

*o6gug", pledge, exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by law' of real and

persJna-l pioperty.of er",y-t inO and description. These entities were incorporated in 2018'

Sienificant Operatins Subsidiaries

a. ASTI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 29, 2007 as

Alphaland Corporation. The Philippine SEC approved the change in its corporate name to
.,Alphaland Development, Inc." on"December28,2009 and then to "Alphaland Southgate

Tower, Inc." on October 15, 2015.

ASTI's primary purpose is to engage in real prop.ery.acquisition and development'

ASTI,s main property ir u 20-stoiey office tower building with a six-storey podium

shopping mall known as Alphaland Southgate Tower'

b. ABIRC was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 26' 2010

primarity to invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold' use, sell, assign,

transfer, mortgage, pt"igr, and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by

law, of real und p"ttonul property of every kind and description'
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d.

ABIRC has investment in preferred shares of Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc.

(ABrCr).

AMPI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 6, l99l as

Silvertown Property Development Corporation. On February 26,2010, the Philippine SEC

approved the change in corporate name to "Alphaland Makati Place, Inc."

AMPI's primary purpose is to acquire by exchange of shares, purchase and lease a specific

property described as three-storey building with basement of strong materials together

witir ttre warehouse, other land improvements and machinery and equipment as well as the

leasehold rights on the land, which is situated at Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street,

Makati, Metro Manila.

AMPI entered into a joint venture with the Boy Scouts of the Philippines (BSP) to develop

the Malugay Property into a first class commercial development now known as Alphaland

Makati Place. It is a mixed-use property development consisting of two (2) high end

residential towers and one (l) corporate tower atop an upscale six-storey podium with a

shopping center and a City Club, including a Boy Scout Convention Center.

AMPI has investment in preferred shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Inc.

(TCCAMPI).

ABMLHI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on January 17,2013 as

Alphaland Holdings Company, Inc. On September 7,2016, the Philippine SEC approved

the change in corporate name to "Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc."

ABMLHI's primary purpose is to deal and engage in the real estate business in all its

aspects; to hbld, develop, manage, administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire,

,.rt, o, otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate

projects, involving commercial, industrial, urban, residential or other kinds of real

pro'perty, improveJ or unimproved, with or to such persons and entities and under such

terms and conditions as may be permitted by law.

AAI and AAPI were incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on July 31,2012

and December 5, 2016, iespectively, primarily to engage in aviation industry and its

related businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of hangarage and moorage,

parking and landing operati,ons, aircraft maintenance, supply of parts, oils, and lubricants

and other related businesses.

Maior Sources of Funds

Operations.The Group generates funds primarily from sale of condominium units and parking

,pu.., at Alphaland Makati Place, Baguio Mountain Lodges, and Balesin Private Villa; from

mall and leaiing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower and Alphaland Makati Place Mall

and Corporat. io*er, and; from the operation of the serviced residences of The Alpha Suites

that commenced in the first half of 201 8.

The Group atso generates funds from secondary sale of membership shares of completed Club

projects, namelyl Alphaland Balesin Island Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makati

Place.

Borrowings. ALPHA, ABICI, ABIRC, AMPI and ASTI has an omnibus Loan and Security

Agreemen-t (OLSA) with BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO) for a loan facility of P6,726.0 million for

thi purpose of: (a) refinancing the Group's loans; (b) financing new and on-going projects and

(c) providing additional *or[ing capitai for the Croup. The outstanding balance of the loan

e.
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2.

was assigned to the PBCOM Trust and wealth Management croup on January 23,2019 and

subsequently prepaid in fullon March 15,2019.

AApI and AAI both entered into an Amortized Commercial Loan (ACL) agreement with BDO

Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDOLFI) for a loan facility of ?265.2 million and F309.0 million,

respeciively, for the purpose of financing the acquisition of two ATR72 Turboprop Aircrafts

(frrf'SN 666'and HASN OZfi) and a replacement engine for MSN 678 . The outstanding balance

of t1.,. loans for the acquisition ol MSN 666 and replacement engine for MSN 678 were

prepaid in full on March 21,2019.

Contract To Sell (CTS) Financing. ABMLHI obtained a CTS financing facility with BDO

amounting to F500.0 million for ihe purpose of refinancing the company's CTS 
-receivables

under the terms and conditions of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) dated October 30,

2018 between BDO and ABMLHI.

Aggregate availments under the facility amounted to F382.7m as of December 3 I , 201 8'

L THE ALPHA and logo, with
2. THE CITY CLUB and logo,

201 1

3. A TASTE OF FRANCE and

June 2015

4. BALESIN ISLANDER and

June 201 5

5. COSTA DEL SOL and logo,

2016

There is no bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings involving the Company'

3. Competition

In terms of the property development sector, there are a number of real estate developers, some

with greater financial and other resources and more attractive locations, that compete with the

Group'in seeking properties for acquisition, resources for clevelopment, and prospective clients'

The Group believes it,at in an emerging market like the Philippines, a bold, well-capitalized

developer is best positioned to acquire-and reinvent prime but underdeveloped sites' In less than a

year, the Group has built an inventory of incomparable properties'

The Group stands for development done right, with attention to detail and focus on quality for the

long term that delights its customers, and gives its shareholders the best return'

4. Customers

The company and its subsidiaries are not dependent on any single customer or on a few customers'

5. lntellectualProPertv

ALPHA is the owner of the following registered marks:

IPO Registration No. 4-2011'002902 dated 7 July 201 I

with lpb Registrarion No. 4_201t_002993 dated 20 october

logo, with IPO Registration No. 4-2014-00012033 dated 25

logo,withlPORegistrationNo.4-2014-00012034dated25

withlPoRegistrationNo.4-2014-000l2035datedlJanuary
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ASTI is the registered owner of the following trademarks:

I . "alphaland", with IPO Registration No. 42008002299 dated I I August 2008.

Z. ,,alphaland SOUTHGATE", with IPO Registration No. 412012100009729 dated 16 May

2013
3. THE, ALpHA TENTS and logo, with IPO Registration No.4/2012100009730 dated 16

May 2013

4. ALpHALAND TOWER and logo, with IPO Registration No. 412012100009731 dated l4

June 201 3

5. ALpHALAND MAKATI PLACE and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4/2012100009732

dated 14 June 2013

6. THE ALPHALAND BALESIN CLUB and logo, with IPO Registration No.

412012100009733 dated l4 June 201 3

j. ALpHALAND MARINA CLUB and logo, with IPO Registration No' 4/2012100009'734

dated l4June20l3
g. MARK,S pRIME RIB and logo, with IPO Registration No.4-2014-00012036 dated 25

June 201 5

9. MARK,S STEAKHOUSE and logo, with IPO Registration No.4-2018-00005196 dated

20 September 2018

6. Research and Development Activities

The Company engages in research

construction of materials, construction

its projects. The expenses incurred by

material.

and development activities focusing on the types of
methodology, value-engineering, and quality assurance for

the Company in connection with these activities are not

7. Compliance with Environmental Laws

As the Group is engaged in and operates an environmentally critical project, it must comply with

iu*, pr.r.tiU.O uia"regulated by the Department of Environment and Natural Resources

1,.DENR,,;. Under Presilential Dlcree No. 1586, any person undertaking or operating any

.nuironrr.ntally critical project or area, as may be declared-by the President of the Philippines'

must first secure an Enviionmental compliance certificate ("ECC") from the DENR' An ECC is a

document certiffing that the project wilf not cause significant negative environmental impact and

the proponent will-undertake p-reventive, mitigating and enhancement measures to protect and

rehabi I itate the env ironment'

As a real estate developer, the Group is required to secure permits and licenses from the different

agencies of the national government and local government units. These permits include an

eivironmental compliance 
"certificate, 

building permits and occupancy permit' The Group incurs

expenses for the purposes of comp-lyirg *Iti't environmental laws that consist primarily of

payments for Government regulatory fels.-Such fees are standard in the industry and are minimal'

8. Emolovees

ASTI provides the management and administrative support

human resource requirements of the Group' ASTI has a

employees as of February 28,2019.

such as legal, finance, marketing, and

total manpower comPlement of 255
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ASTI has not experienced any disruptive tabor disputes, strikes, or threats of strikes, and ASTI

believes that its ielationship with its employees in general is satisfactory. ASTI's employees are

not unionized.

9. Risk Factors

ALPHA's profitability is dependent on the performance of its subsidiaries.

10. Properties

Alphaland Southgate Tower
In January 2008, ASTI acquired from South China Resources, Inc. and the Puyat famill' two

parcels of land measuring a total of 9,497 square meters, more or less, at the corner of EDSA and

bt.riro Roces Avenue in trrtakati City together with the existing improvements thereon. The

property is now a fully developed and operational 20-storey ,cffice tower building with a 6-storey

podiu* known as Alphaland Southgate Tower. It was declared an Information Technology Zone

on January 12, 2O0b by the Philippine Economic Zone Authority, pursuant to Presidential

Proclamation No. 1692 dated December 22,2008.

The property secured the long-term loan facility of ALPHA under OLSA with BDO, whicli was

later'assigned by BDO to the PBCOM Trust and Wealth Maniagement Group on January 23,2019.

SubsequJntly, the properry was sold on March 15,2019 to prepay the entire balance of the loan.

Alphaland Balesin Island Property
ndf nC acqLrired approximatety l}i hectares of land in Balesin Island, Polillo, Quezon. Additional

l2 hectares were also acquired via land-for-share swaps with existing Balesin lsland landowners.

This brings the total land ownership to 406 hectares. Of this total, approximateiy 98 hectares in

2017 and 2016 was committed for transfer to ABICI. The transfer of certificates of title is

currently being processed.

In 2017, ABIRC started the development of cerlain portions of its land for sale, Accordingly, these

portions were reclassified to "[-and arrd development costs"'

Certain lots and improvements in Balesin lsland secured the long-term loan facility of AI-PHA

under OLSA with BDO, which was later assigned by BDO to the PBCOM Trust and Wealth

Management Group on January 23,2019 and subsequently prepaid in full on March 15' 2019'

Alphaland Makati Place
This represents the Podium and Tower 3 at the Alphaland l\'lakati Place' The Podium is currently

operated as a mall and is for lease to third parties. In 2017, the Group reclassified Tower 3 from
,,Land and development costs" to "lnvestment Property" due to change in intention over the

property from condominium units for sale to a property held for leasing' The change in

,unug.*.rt's intention was evidenced by actualchange in the use of property'

The prope(y secured the long-term loan facility of ALPH,A' under OLSA with BDO, which was

later assigned by BDO to the FBCOM Trust ani Wealth Management Group on January 23,2019

and subsequently prepaid in full on March 15.2019'
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Baguio Property
ThIs consists of parcels of land and related transaction costs acquired by the Group (through a

wholly-owned sutsidiary) from variours sellers in JLrly 2015. The beneficial owner of the enlire

properry is RVO, the majority shareholder and chairman of ALPHA.

These parcels of land, measuring approximately 13.4 hectares as of the end of 2015, of rolling

terrains are situated in ltogon, Benguet, justten minutes from Baguio City by land' RVO likewise

transferred to the Group rights to another 2.9 hectares of land to complete the total area at'76.3

hectares. The Group is developing the property into the Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges.

The fair value of the property based on an independent appraiser's report dated October 22,2018

and November 10, ZOtl'is atp9,000 per square meter or a total of P4.1 billion and P7,353 per

square meter or a total of P4.4 billion.

The Group acquired the properfy in 2015 at its zonal value, or a total acquisition cost of P106.0

million, which'is substantlaliy below the appraised value. As a consideration to RVO for having

sold tne property at its zonal value, RVO sLall have a l5olo interest in the project without neecl of

any further investment or equity infusion. The Group will shoulder all development costs recluired

for the project.

In 2016, due to the management's decision to develop the property as horizontal condominium for

sale, 13.1 hectare of the properfy that is currently bein5; developed for such.purpose' 'was

reclassified to land and development costs. Additional 'it.'l hectares and 3.7 hectares rvere

reclassified to land and development costs in 2018 and 2017, respectively'

In 2017, the Group started the development for the initial phase of the project and the Group illso

acquired additional land, measuring4.2 hectares. The total land area of the property approximates

77.5 hectares as ofthe end of20l8 and 2017.

Silang Property
ASTIis three parcels of land in Silang, Cavite, measuring a total of 300'000 square meters, more or

less, is reserved fbr ftrture development' The property secured the long-term loan facility of

ALpHA under OLSA with BDO, which was laier assigned by BDO to the PBCOM Trust and

wealth Management Group on January 23,2019 and subse:quently prepaid in full on March 15,

2019.

Patnanungan ProPertY
As at December 31,2016 and 2015, respectively, the Group acquired parcels of land aggrega'ting

approximately 385.6 hectares and 325.3 hectares of land, respectively, in Patnanungan, Quezon'

This brings tire total land ownership to 711.0 hectares, more or less' which is reserved for fitture

development.

In Decembe r 2011, the Group sold 20.0 hectares to Red liun capital Holdings corporation for

F8.0 million, resulting to a gain amounting toF2.1 million' In 2018, the contract to sell was

rescinded resulting to a loss amounting to P2'l million'

In December 2018, the Group acquired 42,2 hectares withr a carrying amount of P3l'7 million'

This brings the total land ownership to 753'2 hectares'
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Atimonan ProPertY
ABIRC's land in Atimonan, Quezon Province,

or less, is reserved for future development'

The fair value of the investment properties as

performed by accredited independent ap

ng a total of 21,000.5 square meters, more

at December 31, 2015 is based on valuations

. As at December 31, 2017, the management

nt property approximates the fair value as at

ranges in the condition of this properfy and

ly-owned subsidiary) acquired PAGCOR City

meter or a total of F198.9 million' However, on

the purchase whereby the Group returned and

r rights o'ver the property. In turn, the Seller

other costs to the GrouP.

evaluated that the carrying value of the investr

reporting date since there were no significant

economic environment between those dates.

PAGCOR City ProPertY
In December 2015, the Group (through a w
Property at its zonal value of F50,000 per sq

January 11, 2017 the parties agreed to resr

delivered to the Seller the titles to, and all

returned the full Purchase Price ofthe Property

ll. Lesal Proceedines

There are certain lawsuits and claims filed by

pending decision by the proper judicial bodies

presently undeterminable. In the opinion of the

ihese castt, disputes and assessments will not

position or results of operations of the Group'

t. Josephine A' Maclang vs. A

Damasco and 3rd Division of the National

No. 138666. This is a Petition for Certiorari fi
the NLRC-Third Division dated 23 January

LAC No. 09-002259-14, which DISMISSED

As of Febru ary 28,2019, the Company is a to the follorving legal proceedings:

third parties against the Group which are either

or under negotiation, the outcome of which are

iroup's management, the ultimate disposition of
have- a material adverse effect on the financial

Corporation, et al., Hon. Labor Arbiter Adela S'

Relations Commission, docketed as CA-G'R' SP

by Petitioner Maclang of the adverse Decision of
7 in NLRCI NCR Case No. 04-05720-l3NLRC

'laclang's Complaint for Illegal Dismissal" The

. Maciang's Motion for Reconsideration of the

Supreme Court denied her petition through R

Motion for Reconsideration but was also denied

Petitioner's Petition for Review on Certi

2. Redentor Y. Agustin vs, AlPhaland

G.R. No. 218282 with the Supreme Court (2nd

Court of Appeals DENIED the instant Petiti

dismissal of her Petition was also denied' C

filed by complainant Redentor Y' Agustin ("A

Padolina") docketed as NLRC-NCR No' C

declaring that comptainant Agustin was illega

him the total amount of P336,875'00' This

Commission (4th Division) and the Court

Corporation's application for the issuance of a
judgment award, inclusive of execution fees.' l

Srpi"r. Court in separate Petitions for Revi

was docketed as SC G.R. No. 217946, whi

complainant Agustin, which is this case' is sub

their respective Memoranda.

l6 June 10t7, respondents received a copy of
elevating the case to the Supreme Court' The

ution dated 3l July 2017' Maclang's filed a

ith finality on l4 February 2018.

was denied with finality, while the one filed by

ined for resolution as the parties had already filed

'orporation, with the Supreme Court docketed as

ivision). This is a complaint for Illegal Dismissal
-r^:.^.. f, r^-:+^ D^,{^l:^. r/('I A

stin") before Labor Arbiter Marita Padolina ("LA

1l16616-2011. LA Padolina issued a Decision

y dismissed and ordering the Corporatio-n to pay

was affirmed by the National Labor Relations

Appeals ("CA"). Since the CA denied the

r.uining order, it was constrained to pay the said

oth parties elevated the Decision of the CA to the

. The Petiti<>n for Review filed by the Corporation
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3, Jose Edwin G. Esico vs. Alphaland Corporation and Alphaland Development' Inc''

with the Supreme Court docketed as G.R. No. 134512 (1st Division)' This case arose from the

consolidated cases of: a. Illegal Dismissal filed by complainant Jose Edwin G. Esico ("Esico");

and, b. wrongful resignation, iraining reimbursement amountingto P977,720.00 and damages filed

by Alphalanl OevetJpment, Inc. (ntw Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc.) ("ADI") before Labor

Arbiter Lilia S. Savari(,,LA Savari"1. LA Savari dismissed thre complaint for illegal dismissal and

ordered the reimbursement of training expenses amounting toP997,700.00. This was reversed by

the NLRC (1st Division), and u*uid"d complainant Esico P2,205,000.00 as full backwages,

p690,000.00 as separation pay, P 3,680,000.00 as unpaid salaries and l0 oh of all monetary awards

as Attorney's fees, and affirmed the award of P45,450.00 as proportionate l3th month pay. The

Corporation and ADI elevated the case before the Court of Appeals, which reversed the NLRC

decision and reinstated the ruling of Labor Arbiter Savari with modification as to the amount of

training expenses fromp997,TOO.OO to P977,720.00. Complainant Esico elevated the case to the

Suprerie Court by way of a Petition for Reviewon Certiorari, which petition is presently pending

resolution.

E, MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDEND,S ON THE COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY

l. Market Price of Shares

on September 8,2014, the PSE issued a resolution delisting the company and mandated the

Company to hold a tender off-er to buy all the shares of its retail/non-strategic shareholders' On

october 17, 2014, the company completed its tender offer to 2,6',72,789 Company shares'

reacquired tirrough ASTI, equivalent to iZ+.2 million. The PSE also prohibited the Company frorn

applying for reli-sting *iinin a period of five years from thr:,effective date of delisting' October

2019 marks the end of the five-year recess, thereby allowing the Company to relist with the PSE'

2, Holders

t. Number of Shareholders of Each Class of Common Security as of February 28, 2019:

The Corporation has 88 shareholders holding common share:i as of February 28'2019'

b. The Top 20 Registered stockholders of the corporation as of February 28' 2019 are:

Citizenshlp_

Filipincr

Filipincr

Filipino

Hongkong

Filipino

Filipino

Filipinrr

Filipinr:
FiliPin,r

Filipin,c

Filipino

Filipino

No. of Shares %

1.

2.

J.

4.

5

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

il.
12,

Alphaland DeveloPment, Inc.

RVO Capital Ventures CorPoration

Boerstar CorPoration

Red Epoch GrouP Ltd.

Fine Land Limited

Azurestar CorPoration

Loustar CorPoration

Powerventures, Inc'

Galaxyhouse, Inc.

Crystalventures, Inc.

Towermill Capital Ventures

Corporation

Gemsplace Resources, lnc.

13,',|92,109,780

8,426,567,460

1.677,884,300

96 1 ,1 34.1 30

890,000,000

280,626,360

222,570,970

2 r9,604,500

r90,304,900

r88.796,760

I 88,454,140

187,512,680

48.55%

29.660h

5.91%

3.38%

3,13%

0.99%

0.78%

0.11%

0.670

0.66%

0.66%

0.66%

Alphaland CorPoration
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13.

14.

15.

r6.

t7.

t8.

19.

20.

Summer Wind Capital Ventures

Corporation

Noble Care Management Corporation

Mega Access CapitalVentures, Inc.

Globalcentric Corporation

Earthlight, Inc.

Regentstar Holdings Corporation

Arculli, Derek

Citadel Investments Limited

Filipino
Filipino

Filipino

Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

161,169,230

145,916,470

100,825,370

100,473,660

100,247,230

1 00,1 38,1 90

100,000,000

100,000,000

0.59%

0.51%

0.3s%

035%
0.35%

0.35%
0.35%

0.35%

3. Dividends

There has been no proposed action or resolut relating to the declaration of dividends for the

ensuing year. The Company has not declared div in the past three fiscal Years.

There are no restrictions on the Corporation limit the payment of dividends on Common

shares. The Company has re-invested its retained

as the expansion of its operations and facilities'
Lgs for working capital requirements as well

As at December 3 l, 201 8, the Company entered the following share subscription agreements:

Other than the foregoing, there were no recent

recent issuances of securities constituting an

of unregistered or exempt securities including
Transaction.
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lventures. Inc.June I 1,2018
10,024,723June I 1,2018

June I 1,2018
18,7 51,268June I 1,2018

I19,463,17910,047,366June I 1,2018

264.414,318June 1 l, 201 8
119,982,18710,082,537June 1 1, 201 8

June I l,2018
|7,097,0229,856,652June 1 1, 201 8

P 1 19,1 64,443I 0,013,819Regerrstar HoldingsJune 1 1,2018

16,716,923Summer WindJune 11,2018

223,883.51718,845,414Towermill Capital
Ventures Corporatic

June I 1,2018

Alphaland Corporation

Date of Subscription Subscriber Number of Shares

Suhscribed

Total Subscription
Price (in PhP)

t8.879.676 224,479,349

Earthlieht. Inc. n9,294,209

Galaxyhouse, lnc. 19.030.490 226,082,227

Gemsplace Resources,
Inc.

222,765,069

Globalcentric
Corooration

Loustar Corporation 22,257,097

Mega Access Capital
Ventures. lnc.

Powerventures. Inc. 21.960,450 260.890.144

Redcrest Holdings
Corooration

198,597.048



F, COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board of Directors and Management of the Company recognize that good corporate
governance is key to achieving the Company's objective of maximizing shareholder value. l'he
institution of the Code on Corporate Governance seeks to provide the process and structune by
which the business and affairs of the Company are directed and managed, in order to enhance
long-term shareholder value through the enhancement of corporate performance aLnd

accountability.

Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is ensured by the Corporate Compliance
Officer in coordination with the Chairman and President of the Company. Regular meetings are
made between Management and the Board of Directors, to review and evaluate the Companly's
performance and address key policy matters. The Board is provided with timely and complr:te
information for each meeting. Each director has direct access to the advice and services of
management and the corporate secretary, and in appropriate circumstances, seek independr:nt

,professional advice concerning tlie Company's affairs.

.All directors are required to submit themselves for re-election every year. In consideration for their
ne-election, the nomination committee reviews and presents attendance and participation in
rmeetings ol' the Company.

,All directors are briefed by Management on the Company's business operations as well as, a
regular tour of the Company's projects.

'Ihe audit committee first reviews the Company's audited financials, who then recommends
approval from the board of directors before they are presented to the stockholders of the Company.
llt is also the audit committee, which ensures independence and objectivity of the external audirtors.

'fhe Companf is continually seeking measures of improving is corporate governance to further
enhance corporate performance and accountability. The Directors and Management have been
encouraged to regularly attend corporate governance seminars and corporate govemance
consultants on methods by which it can enhance it corporate performance and accountability.

l\o deviation from the Company's Manual Code of Corporate Governance has been noted. The
(lompany's Manual on Corporate Governance was amended on Febru ary 2l ,2011 .
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

l, MARGARITO B. TEVES, Filipino, of legal age, with address at
Building, 136 yakar street, Makati city, after having been sworn to in
hereby depose and state that:

ffaryp "fr'"

Great Wall Advertising

accordance with la!v,

1, I am an lndependent Direr:tor of Alphaland corporation (the,,corporation,,).

2. I arn also affiliated with the following companies:

lationsh Period of Service
P..J, Lhuillier Group of
Companies

Member, Strategic
Committee

February 2015 to present

Petron lndependent Director IVIay 20, 201.4 to present
Bank of Commerce Board Adviser July 26, 2013 to present
Atlantic Aurum lnvestments
Philippines Corporation

lndependent Director, July L9, 201.3 to present

AB Capital lnvestment Corp. lndependent Director June 29, 2012 to Dresent
San Miguel Corporation lndependent Director June L4,2012to present
The Wallace Business Forum Managing Director N4qch L,z}t?to present
Think Tank, lnc. Chairrnan 1991to 2000; 20L0 to prersent
Atok-Big Wedge Co., tnc. lndependent Director 20tt - Present
Alphaland Balesin tsland Club,
lnc.

Pampanga Sugar Development

!glf{!uo_rco)

lndependent Director

Director

20tl - Present

July 2011- PresentIpa

k,

3. I possess all the qualifir:ations and none of the disqualificatios to serve as an
lndependent Director of the Corporation as provided for in Section 38 of the Securitie:s
Regulations code ("sRC")arnd its lmprementing Rules and Regulations (,,1RR,,).

4. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as an
tndependent Director under the SRC and its lRR.

5. I shall inform the corporate Secretary /Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Corporation
of any changes in the above-mentioned information within five (5) days from its
occurrence.

Donethis----dayot -' . -,,iJ. at Makati City,

MAITGARITO

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this
City, affiant exhibiting to me his Tltrt No, 105-549-310,

[t {t\ ii 6 Zilt$'){ at Makati

oocNo.ffi-
Pace No.jf1i_
Book No. azl:

series on ilT4.*t

,^4,fuffii,ffiIfi

i,r**i$,*'ffiffi$^#**
,+r,l:,;Hsriltiiqa;isif'htte,'

eoniiti& riui,i a.'r. 
fr3lll,'i;r.;ri
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

l, GREGORIO MA. ARANETA lll, Filipino, of legal age, with address al2LlF Citibank

Tower, Paseo de Roxas, Makati City, after having been sworn to in accordancd with law,
hereby depose and state that;

L. I am an lndependent Direr:tor of ALPHALAND CORPORATION (the "CorporBtion").

2, I am also affiliated with the following companies:

3, lpossess all the qualifi,:ations and none of the disqualificatios to serve as an

lndependent Director ol'the Corporation as provided for in Section 38 of the

Securities Regulations Code ("SRC")and its lmplementing Rules and Regulations

("l11R").

4. lshall faithfully ancl dlligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as an

lndependent Director un,Cer the SRC and its IRR'

5, I shall inform the Corporate Secretary /Assistant Corporate Secretary of the

Corporation of any changes in the above-mentioned information within five (5) days

from its occurrence. ,'f1

Company Position/Relationship Period of Service

Araneta Properties, lnc. Chairman/Chief Executive
Off icer

2010 to presqnt

ARAZA Resou rces Corporation President/Chairma n 2006 to present

Carmel Development, lnc President/Cha irma n 2007 to pres€nt

Gregorio Araneta lnc, Chairman and President 2000 to present

Gregorio Araneta

Management Corporation

Chairman and President 20L3 to present

Gamma Properties, lnc Cha irma n 2000 to present

Philweb Corporation Chairman 2016 to Present

The City Club at Alphaland

Makati Place, lnc.

lndependent Director 201.4 to present

Alphaland Balesin lsland Club,

I nc,

lndependent Director 2014 to present

Atok Big Wedge Co,, lnc. lndependent Director 2014 to present

Done this *-day of

MA. ARANETA III

Affiant

/ .',ir,i f i

suBSCRtBEt) AND 51ryfrRN to before ny'e this 
'''ii\ ' A ' ' r

Makati City, affiant exhibiting to me his TIN No. 136-998-184'. /, ,. ..,\.
EENlGBUlt 6ncln6lt'

Po6;ntine\t l{q'}vl-zs \/"' Hotad(p-uDttc/or-U*1ll.c,lyJ\:?J unriiDi&mber3ilzote-- -.
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CBRTIEICATION OE INDBPBNDBNT DIRBCTOR

I,Jo-sB.RAMoN.TgVIIABJ.IL$J,Filipino,or.reg:i.8:..:,daresidentoftheJesuitResidence,
Ateneo de Manila University Campus, ill.ft U.1gf,1tlf1Oa Quezon Ciry' after having been

duly sworn to in accordance with iaw do herebY declare that:

1. I am a nominee for independent ilirector of ATPHALAND CORP-OBATION'

2. I am affiiiated with the foliowing companies or organizatioas (incrudingGovemment'

Owned and Controlled Corporation's):

3.Ipossessallthequalificatioi'Tgnoneofthedisqualificationstoserveasan
lndependentDirector"r,asprovidedforinSection3B
of rhe Securities Regulation Code, ir;l*pffi*tng R'i"' and Regulations and other

SEC issuances.

4,Iamrelatedtothefollowingdirector/officer/substantialshareholderofALP.HAIAND
co-RPoBATtoNand/oritssub.sidiariesandaffiliatesotherthantlrere}ationship
provided una*r[oi. ig.Z.S of the Su*ri,i., Regulation Code' (where a,plicable\

5, To the best of my knowledge, t am not the sub)ect of any pending cri,linal,or

acrministr:ative investigation., proi.uJing. q clisclose tt ait a* the subjecr of the foliowing

r:riminal/adminisrrativelnvestigation or procfeding @Slhes$g-Usyk)tl

(Fof those irugotterrunentSeHJ independent dire,:tor
requireci pur*iurioriililfiiif *' os'"'y e' I {t:!""r}';
in Arp HArAbID cgBPe MrtQt puffffiffi; *i l:*::lYr" "ndu 

m

D ^.i+i nn /P pl nti nnshin Penod of Sertice

I

--- PG;. refer to attached CV
'#

t Shaieholder

'er Jnnii"rthe Rwised Civil Service Rules'

I have ttre



n I shali faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as

in<lependent directoiu;J;, i.. S.*ii,i-t ntguiation Code and its Implementing

Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate Goiernance and other SEC issuances'

I shall inform the corporate secretary of AJ.PHAIAry.p cgRPoiATIoN of any

cb,anges in the abovernentioned irrfo,*"t[' *ithin five days from its occurrence'

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before mttll:
:?[HJ':'"ffi ,rl;;;"*u*'"';*:::*,*fi::1,::.T:1:

No. P5653 gg7 Aissued bY the*#-;';de'cu of his identity: Passport No'
following competen 4 a a ,---^*- Dn1 e at lvlenfollowing competent evrutrtrLs vr 'r'v'- 

;;201g at Manila, Philippines.
il;;;ffi"t oi Foreign Affairs on 17 Ja

9'til
-T.T--',---7T*.
_,TIT

Dontl, this
at - ru(tlrfl A'f7

l4ii ii ,

Doc. No.

Pa.ge No.

Book No.

Series of

' 
Unlii fecember 31, 2019

Sth Floor, The City Club atAlphalan!^['1qq!.f!,f
ilii A;l; Ar;.'iil ;i. utdtusav st. Makati citv

Roll ol Attomeys No. 68034

IBP No, 0666201.10,2019/ CagaYan

ptR l'to' 2g191S201,10,2019/ Makati Oity 
- -
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CURRICULUM VITAE

Jose Ramon T Villarin SJ

ffiffi*ffiBftH,pheric sciences :"'lill'l:Yl::J::::orosv' 
Atranta' GA' usA

1987-1991 sTB Theology tovotaicrrool of Theology, Roviu campus, Lovola i{eights' QC

1985-lgBTMSPhysicsruu'qu"tieUniversity'Milwaukee'Wl'USA
1976-1980 BS physics ateneo de Manira university, Loyora Heights, QC

CU BRENT LIEADEBSHIP PO-9ITIONS

201L'present President Ateneo de Manila University

2018-Member,BoardofDirectorslnternationalAssociationofJesuitUniversities
2018- lndependent Director Alphaland Corporation

201.7-presernt Member, Advisory Board Sophia University

2017-present vice-inalr, scientific community/Academe National Resilience council

2017-presentCo.ChairNationallndustryAcademeCouncil
2016-present Member, Board of Governor5 Asian lnstitute of Management

2012-presr:nt Chair, Board of Trustees Synergeia

2012.presen.ru.*u.,,NatlPanelTechnicalExpertsClimateChangeCommission
20L2_present Member, Board of iruri.., phirippine tnsiitute of pure and App'ed chemistrv

201.l-present rvremUer, Board of Trustees Loyola Schoolof Theology

20LL-present Chair, Board of Trustees Manila Observatory

2011_pres;ent chair, Board of trusteel confucius rnstitute, Ateneo de Manira university

2011-pre:;ent rvrumt.r, Board of Trustees Ateneo de Naga University' Naga city

ffiffiPYffi.rd of rrustees Ramon Magsavsav Award Foundation

2012.20l,6Member,BoardofTrusteesMetropolitanWaterworksandSewerageSysterrr
2014-201'5 Vice-Chair, Board of Trustees Ramon Magsaysay Award Foundation

201't-20'-14 Member, Board of Trustees Asian lnstitute of Management

2005-2011 President Xavier University' Cagayan de Oro City

20l0.20t2PresidentMariaReyna-XavierUniversityHospital
2005-2011 Chair, Board of Trustees Xavier Science Foundation

2005-2011 Member, Board of Trustees Ateneo de Davao and Ateneo de Zamboanga Universities

.r2007'20llMembe,.,BoardofTrusteesRealtylnvestmentslncorporated
2005-2011 Science adviser Manila Observatory

2000-presentfvtember,BoardofTrusteesAteneodeManilaUniversity
1997-present lVtemUe" Board of Trustees Manila Observatory

1997-2005 Head, Climate Studies Division;

Associate Director for Researcfr Manila Observatory

1998-21105 Assistant/Associate Professor, Physics Ateneo de Manila University

HOr!9RS/AWARDS

Dec20072007NobelPeacePrize(throughmembershipinlntergovernmentalPane}onClimateChange)
Jul 20Cr2 Outstanding goof n*urO, "Oisiurbing Ctimuit" (ftf atioial Rcademy of Science and Technology)

Jut 2000 National outstanding ,"r^* scientisi trtr'ii"t1r Rtudt'y of science & Tech' Philippines)

Mar 1997 Best Graduate Stude'nt n"rJur.i Award (School of Earth & Atmospheric Sciences' Georgia Tech)

fJ.11i,1 Sf:ntril'ff::ri:lnfi?'{ff:l';:'f[:!ffii'll' "'"' 
conrerence' san Francisco' USA)

U*]ril ruX;* :Ji; H[i:i::[?:[l5ffl Departmenta,Award (Ateneo de Man*a Universitv)



Communicationr;)

200g-present column writer, "God's word Today" (Philippine Star)

2010-presenr Member, National panelof Technical Experts, climate change commission {Phitippines)

1988.2005Member,SamahangPisikongPilipinas(PhysicsSocieiyofthePhilippines)
2004-2007 Consultative Group of Experts for Developing countries (UNFCCC)

20ot -2005 partnership for Clean Air (Steering Committee, Scientific Subcommittee)

1998-2005 Air & Waste Management Association (Philippine Section)

PEESONAL

Birthdate/place 30 January 1960 / Manila

NationalitY FiliPino

OJH.ERCOIfl@)
2001-2010 Lead Reviewer, UNFCCC Expert Review Team (GHG lnventories' National

1!l March 2019
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, E , Filipino, of legal age and a resident of
gBB Yale street, wack wack village, Mandaluyong Ci!y, after having been
duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1' I am a nominee for independent director of ALPHALAT{D
CORPORATION;

2, r am affiliated, among others, with the following companies or
organizations (including Government-Owned and Controlled
Corporations):

I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve
as an Independent Director of ALPHALAND coRpoRATroN, ds
provided for in Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code, its
Irnplementing Rules and Regulations and other sEC issuances;

I am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of
ALP.HALAND CORPORATIOI! and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates othrer
than the relationship provided under Rule 38,2.3 of the Securities
R,egulation Code, (where applicable)

5, To the best of my knowledge, I am not the subject of any pending
criminal or administrative investigation or proceeding/I disclose that I erm
the subject of the following criminal/administrative investigation or
proceeding (as the case may be):

Offe n se C h a rq ed/ I n v e sti q a ted Tribunal or Agency Involved Sfafus
N/A

3,

4,

Co m pa n y/ O rg a n i za ti o n Po siti o n/ Re I atio n s h i p Period of Servicet
Herrera Teehankee &
Cabrera Law Offices

Founding Partner June 1986 - Present

Philippine Airlines, Inc. Director October 20t4 -
Present

Riz;rl Commercial Banking
Corporation (RCBC)

Director August 20L6 -
Present

Lufthansa Technik
Philippines, Inc.

Director November 20t7 -
Present

MacroAsia Corporation Corporate Secretary December 20L4 -

Present

Name of Director/Officer/ Substantial
Shareholder

Company Nature of
Relationship

N/a



7' I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilitiesas independent director under the 
'securities 

Regulation Code and itsImplementing Rules and Regulations, Code of Corp-orate covernance andother SEC issuances; and

6, (,u einqo
e;,CC) I have .the required permiss,on @[e:ffisffiW"+ I * :f independent director in-El-pneuruo
9gRpoBArr_oN, pursuanr ro Offlcb 0r rhe piaiioeni i;8 ffifficlircular No. 17 and Section L2, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service
R.ules;

B, I shall inform the
of any changes in
its occurrence.

Corporate Secretary of
the abovementioned information within five days from

Done, this

SUBISCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this at
affiant personally appeared

attiAii

exhillited to me the following competent evidence of his
No, t1c3606842 issued on 7 March 2015 at DFA NCR East.

Doc. No. 1?*(
Page No, l'b
Book No, U

me and
Passport

Certification of Independent Direr:tor

Seriers of
sth Floor, The Crty Club atAtphatand Makatipla*
7232 Ayala Ave, Ext, cor, Malugay St. Makail City

Roll of Attomeys No, 68034
IBP No. 0606201,'10,2019/ Cagayan

PTR No, 7348332101,10,20'19/ Maka0 Ctty
Admitled to tho Bar in ?017 I TIN No. 408.296.4'rc.

Tblephone No.(02) 337.2031

Affiant

Until December 31, 2019



CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

i, GILB-EBTO c. T.Fg!:9Rg' JBI' 
Filipino' of .legal 

age and

Nr. 18, Anahaw ffies Park, Makati City, after

duly sworn to in ;;;dt;ce with iaw oo hereby declare that:

1. I am a nominee for independent director of

2. I am affiliated with the following cgqnanle;or-organizations

Governm"nt-oi)iii ana contritted corporations) :

8:f",i'',il J'n.s ;L,if ; co a u' (u h e re' a p p t i ea b t e)

Name of A rector/ Officer/ Substantial
SharqfiP!!!s1-

WrY'('

a resident of

having been

ALPHALAND

(including'

3,Ipossessallthequalificationsandnone_of.thedisqualificationslto

provided ro''in*'i"ttion 38 ,of the Securitiet

Implementing'Ru;;;;; Regulitions and other sEC issuances'

4.lamrelatedtothefottowingdirector/officer/substantialshareholderof
areHn$rr.q".c.i;iipBAiigi'and/oritssubsidiariesandaffiliates
other than the relationshel*tl**-Xi:t Rule 38'2'3 of the

anization
rnoiipn,i neqgltlgllg

G neu 2QUl9
2015 to

i[tatius Minegr.Inc' x Apr ?p73tcr"a"p@fuf lirectoraffi unibaqE, tnc' 2oTZ to Present

-Directoi
Phil'rPPine Geothermal
Production-9o.,.-Inc' f gg:- to Present

@assL
proceeding (



6,
or GOCQ) I have the required permission from (head of thp
agenc.y/department) lo be an independent director in ALPHALAND
CORPORAIIION, pursuant to Office of the President Mennorandum

Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service
Rules.

7. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my dulties and

responsibilities as independent director under the Securities Regulation
Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate

Governance and other SEC issuances.

B, I shall inform
QSRP.oRAIIo!!. of

Corporate Secretary of ALPHALAI'ID
changes in the abovementioned information

the
anylny
its

Done, this

at H,Wffi -*ff_ ., affiant personally appeared before me ancl

exhibited to me the foltowing competent evidence of his/her identity: TINI

No.123-124-558,

,/ ' Affiant
,/ ,il'il,lill ', ,

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this " e '.; 'r'iri"l - . .-

within five days ffqfn its occurrence.
'i'lli,'i ii 11 rr ,l I I I ii

at nrwrfl ktrT

5lh Floor,Ihe Crty Club atAlphaland MakatiPla,
7232 Ayala Ave, Ext. cor, Malugay St, MakaU Ciry

Rollof Attomeys No. 6803,4

tBP No, 06662?01.10.2019/ Cagayan
PTR Noi 734833201.10,2019/ MakEU Clty

Admirted to tho Bar in 2017 / TIN No, 40&296-d'
TE:eDhnnp l,t n?' 1't7 -?t\31

Doc. No. 1'71 ,

Page No, tk .....;
Book No, (/ .,. . .t

Series ot --At (? .-- I

Certification of Independent Dit'eotot'

Page | 2



Company/Organization Position/RelationshiP Period of Serylgg

AUTO NATION GROUP INC. CHAIRMAN I l/10/201 I to Present

CATS AUTOMOBILE CORP' CHAIRMAN 61812004 to Present

AMERICAN MOTORCYCLES, INC' CHAIRMAN lll28l20l2 to Present

STERLING BANK OF ASIA
vrcs-cuntnvtAN AND

DIRECTOR
4ll8l20l7 to Present

lllll994 to PresentruCKY STARNETWORK
coMMLrNIq4rloNS INC'

CHAIRMAN & PRESIDENT

l2ll12016 to Present
ISM Communications CorPoration DIRECTOR

ALPHALAND CORPORATION DIRECTOR 05/10/2018 to Present

PHILIPPINE AIRLINES DIREC'I'OR 12lll20l I to Present

PAL HOLDINCS INC' DIRECTOR l0lll20l4 to Present

l2lll20l I to Present
GLYPH STUDIOS,INC. DIRECTOR

Tlllz0l I to Presentputt-tppnqE BANK OF

coMMLrNlcAIAN!-
DIRECTOR

llll20l2 to Present@eNcE
CORPORATION

DIRECTOR

CATS ASIAN CARS.INC, I OINACTON 612512004 to presenr

Purr.equriv \,lAN
8/l/2013 to Present

VANTAGE EQUITIES INC DIRECTOR 8ll/2013 to Present

8lll20l5 to Prcsent
E.BUSINESS SERVICES INC' DIRECTOR

81112006 to Pressnt
PROPLE BPO INC' DIRECIUK

11112003 to Present
CMB PARTNERS INC' DIRECTOR

51112012 to Present
NEXUS TECHNOLOGIES, INC' DIRECTOR

l0/1/2001 to Present
JUPITER SYSTEMS INC. DIRECTOR

9lll200l to Present
WORDTEXT SYSTEMS INC' DIRECTOR

2lll2001to Present
DOMESTIC SATELLITE CORP' PRESIDENl

1/l/2009 to Pressnt
BALLET PHILIPPINES BOARD MEMBER

91112009 to Present
VTENNN SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA BOARD MEMBER

/ft*trLt P r r

CERTIFICATIoNoFINDEPENDENTDIRECToR

I, GREGORIO T. YU, Filipino, of legal ageand.a resident of 10 Francisco

6tffirdens,QuezonCity,afterhavingbeendulyswornto
in accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1. I am a nominee for independent director of ALPHAI-AND

CORPOEATre,N

2. I am affiliated with the following companies or organizations (including

Government-ownedandControttedCorporations)i



3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to

serve as an Independent Directir oinlpneueruo conponnT ' as

provided ro,. 
'N:'iection 

38 ;i thfficuritlelRegulation Code' its

Implementing Rutes ino Regulations and other SEc issuances'

4, I am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of

and/or.itssubsidiariesandaffiliates
other than the relationship-piouia"9. -y9."t 

Rule 38'2'3 of the

SecuritiesRegulationCode.(whereaoptrcaotel

5.Tothebestofmyknowle.dg.,.Iu,notthesubjectofanyp.endingl
- \ criminal or adminLtritir" investigltil ;; froceeding/I disclose that 'l

am the subject or'in. ioriowing .rirninurlrdministrative investigation or

ProceeAin g'(as the case mav be):

tO f'om (head of the

as.ency 
't t:) ti'. ilH*1f i:^o'J::$l? ffit*tffifi ii oriii. or the president Memorandum

circular No. 17 Jni su.tion 12, nri" xvul of the Revised civil service

Rules.

L I shall faithfuily and diligently comply .,with my duties and

responsibirities is' indepenoent Jiiector under the secu rities Regulati'on

code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations' code of corporette

Governance and other SEC issuances'

B.IshallinformtheCorporate.SecretaryofALPHALAIIP
CORPORATION of any .n.ni.t"in tn" abovementioned informatlon

witnin iive days from its occurrence'

Certifi cation of lndependent Director
Page | 2

Relationshi,'ubstantial
Shareholder-

Tribunal o1



Done, this

-_,r,.1f,

\1[R 2 
"r 

i't,s.

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN tO bCfOTE MC this

Doc, No.
Page No.

Book No,

at talrttrl Ct{7

riU iU

and
TIN

Place
st, Mal(au city

TUtepnone No,(02) 337'2031

Certifi cation of Independent Director
Page i 3

ti\
L

6 nfttqrt etfv , affiant personally appeared before me

exhibited to me tf,e following competent evidence of his/her identity:
No. 107-465-655.

Series or lofi ;

AYfiant
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"STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILI'ry

FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS"

The management of Alphaland Corporation and Subsidiaries (the Group) is responsible for the

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements including the schedules attached

therein, for the years ended December 31, 20L8 , 2OL7 and 2016, in accordance with the

prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for :;uch internal control as

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error'

ln preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is rr:sponsible for assessing

the Group,s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either

intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do

s0.

The Board of Directorsis responsible in overseeing the Group's financial reporting process'

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules

attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

Reyes Tacandong & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders' has audited

the financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and

in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon

completion of such audit.

n
ANNA bETTITN ONGPIN

President and Vice Chairman

cRrsflNA {/znunrura
Senior Vice President - Finance

Signed this 29th daY of January 2019

9th Floor, Alphaland SouthgateTower,

T: +632.337.203 I I F: +632'338

2258 Chino Roces Avenue cor. EDSA, Makati r3ity, Philippines 123 I

123 I I E: info@alohaland.com'oh I wwrv'alohaland'com oh



NAME

SUBSCRIBED AND
affiants exhibiting to
me, follows:

SWORN to before me this llAR 2 5 ?01$: at Makati city,me their respective identificatioiE?Iments, and personally kno,run to

Roberto V. Ongpin
Anna Bettina Ongpin
Cristina B. Zapanta

Doc. No. '7 il
Page No. '17,

Book No. 1
Series of 2019

PASSPORT ID NO.

P0300707A
EC2050134
P3451 0624

DATE OF ISSUE PLACE OF ISSIJE

September 17, 2016 DFA Manita
September 9,2014 DFA Manita
June 22,2017 DFA NCR East

sth Floor, Tnl6iicruu at erpnarand Makati Pllce

?iiffi;l; A';.'ix. *t. Marusav^st'.Makau citv
' '--' '' - -Rott 

of Attorneys N. 68034

IBP No 06662201'10'2019/ Cagayan.

piH r'i.l i saoiS-iiot' t o'zot gt Makati citv 
. - ^

^o,I*i; 
;g6xi'; 

ft :,1 l,ll,Yo ll''2e*43e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors

Alphaland Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Alphaland Corporation and
Subsidiaries (the 6roup), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at

December 31, 20L8 and 2017, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated

statement$ of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years

ended December 3L,2A18,2017 and 2016, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary

of significa nt accounting policies.

ln our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and 2O\7, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years ended

December 31-,2018,2017 and 2016 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS),

Bosis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consalidqted Financial Statements section of our report, We are independent of the 6roup in

accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)

together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial

statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other lnformotion

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Group's Annual Report for the year ended December 3L,2018, but does not include the

consolidated financial statements and our auditors' report thereon, The Annual Report for the year

ended December 31, 2018 is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors' report,

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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ln connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Monogement ond Thase Chorged with Governonce for the Consotidoted Financiat
Statement:;

Manageme'nt is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charl;ed with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Stotements

Our oblectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole ;:re free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, these could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professionaljudgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

' Identify and assess risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in orderto design audit procedures
that are appropriate in ihe circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

' Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,

lf we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors'

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to

the date of the auditors' report, However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We at'e

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Sroup audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, lncluding any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audits.

REYEs TRcaruporuc & Co.

B .N^"'rr'-t^r"$1
BELINDA B. FERNANDO

Partner
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Book Value per Share!

December 31

Note 2018 2077
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Current Assrlts

Cash and car;h equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Land and development costs and parking lots for sale

Advances to related companies
Equity securities designated as fair value through other

comprehensive income [FVOCl] [formerly classified as

available-l'or-sale (AFS) financial assetsl

Other current assets

E

A

7

17

10

8

F110,157

1,773,928
3,090,140
3,119,379

1,065,311
2,L89,454

F215,593

1,993,504
3,942,375
2,777,049

985,811,

1,797,845

Total Current Assets 11,338,369 11,706,776

Noncurrent Assets

lnvestment in and advances to an associate

Equity securities designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as

AFS financial assets) - net of current portion
I nvestment t)roperties
Property and equipment
Other noncu rrent assets

9

10
11

t?
13

!2,349

29,97O,774
47,675,8L2
L0,t74,8L2

190,584

12,349

29,078,457
40,664,A73

7,832,348
32t,572

Tot,rl Noncu rrent Assets 88,024,331 71,908,799

F99,362,700 183,614,975
h{,
b.qjt LIABILITI E5 I\ND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Current portion of:

Long-term debt
Customer:r' deposits

Advances from related companies
lncome tax trayable

74

15

18

77

F3,896,06?

1,223,967
3,592

245,252
66,949

F2,808,583

1.,07\,574
73,504

8t,764
45,297

Total Current Liabilities 5,435,817 4,080,712
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Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term dlbt - net of current portion

Customers' deposits - net of current portion

Retirement liability
Net deferrecl tax liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities

15

18

27

22

4,974,969

256,111
44,509

18,54L,246
29,910

5,525,046

97,605
24,457

13,451,529

20,118

Tot;rl Noncurrent Liabilities 23,856,745 79,778,749

Total Liabilities 29,292,562 23,799,467

(Forward)
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December 31

Note 2018 2An

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Company

Capital stor:k*
Additional caid-in capital
Retained earnings

0ther comprehensive incomel

Cumulative unrealized valuation galn on equity securities
designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as AFS

financial assets)

Revaluation surplus
Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement liability

15

16

PL,842,!74
12,769,730
45,295,494

22,891,679
3,103,638

45,350

P2,655,7A7

10,740,079
40,343,s98

23,432,497

75,850

45,350

10

12

27

Less:

Parent Ccmpany's shares held by a subsidiary 16

86,948,064

16,881,220

77,293,091

16,881,220

1.,21.4Cost of treasury shares 16 L,2L4

Noncontrolling interests
70,055,530

4,509
64,410,647

4,967
Total Equity 70,070,138 60,475,514

F99,362,70O P83,614,975

Book Value Per Share* F48.081 F47.539

See occompanying Nates to Consolidoted Findncial Statements.

fThe Securitiori and Exchange Cornmission approved the lGfor-l Stock Spl;t (Stock Split) of Alphaland Corporation on December 10, 2018. Sook

value per share is compijted based on the total outstanding shares before the effect of stock split. This information is intended as

additional information for management reporting purposes only.
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Earnings per Share)

Years Ended December 3x.

Note 2018 20L7 2016

REVENUES,

CO5T5 ANI' EXPENSES

Cost of rea I estate sold

Cost of services

General arid administrative

19

20

?2,877,8t9

859,354
646,589

1,237,330

P2,483,427

834,340
360,468
874,784

F2,335,748

1,094,857
285,884

528,056

2,743,273 2,069,592 7,948,797

oTHER TNCOME (EXPENSES)

Gain on fair value changes of investment
properties

lnterest expense and other finance charges

11

15

7,453,516
(321,345)

71,47t,819
(365,727)

10,007,052
(294,749\

Other s {losses) - net 100,85 5L,476 77,431

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX

Current
0eferred

22

7, 11,157,568 9,783,734

7,165,860 11,571,403 10,210,685

68,380 58,161 87,084

369,777 3,344,214 778

3,402,371 3,13

4,729,3Q? 9,169,032 7,076,823NET INCOME

orHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not to be reclassified to profit or loss in

subsequent yeors:

Revaluation increase

lncome tax effect
4,365,148

l,o77,LgZ

9,515
(2,8s4)

6,661

103,828
3 1,148)

72,680

Unrealized valuation gain

designated as FVOCI

lncome tax effect

on equity securities
10 1,094,338

{162,55U
92L,687

Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement

To be reclossified to profit or loss in subsequent
yeors:

Reclassification adjustments on disposal o{ AFS

finanr;ial assets

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial

ass etr;

lncome tax effect

10

10

(2L6,038)

58,146

15.789

(108,49s)

725,090
(51,56s)

554,930(142,103)

(r.12,938

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ,727,L82 F8,056,094 P7,703,087

(Forward)
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Years Ended December 31

Note 2018 24fi 20 16

Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company

Noncontrolling i nterests

94,727,9t2
391

F8,167,662

1,370

P7,076,406

43"7

P4,728,303 P8,159,032 P7,076,823

Total comprehensive income attributabie to
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Noncontrolling interests

?8,726,19\
391

P8,454,768
1,326

P7,742,674
41,?

?8,727,18? P8.056,094 ?7,703,487

Total Comprehensive lncome Per Share*

Based on weighted average number of shares

outstanding before the effect of stock split 23 F6.398 F6.328 P6.444

See occomponying Notes to Cansolidated Finoncial Stotements.

*Total comprehensive lncome per share is computed based or weighted average number of shares outsl.anding before the effect of stock split

which was approved by the 5[C on December 10, 2018. -fhis informatlon i5 intended as odditional information for managemenl reporting

purposes only.



ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SI.,' BSIDIARIES

COT,TSOITOATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES lN EQUITY

(Amounts in Thoursandl)

Years Ended December 31

Note 20r.8 2017 20 16

CAPITAL STOCK

Balance at beginnin5l of Year

Additions

10
F2,655,707 F2,655,701 P?,6s5,701

186,467

2,842,174 2,655,707 2,655,707
Balance at end of Year

ADDITIONAL PAID.I]! CAPITAL

Balance at beginning of Year

Additions

10,74a,Q79

2,029,651

10,739,039 10,739,039

1,040
[xcess of acquisitior' price ove,r acquired interest

10,739,039
Balance at end of

RETAINED EARNING;5

Balance at beginning of Year

Net income
Reclassification adjustn.rents on disposal of equitY

securities designated as FVOCI

Amortization of revaluation surplus

Lu

12,769,710

40,343,598

4,727,9L2

189,059

52,918

10,740,079

32,772,445
8,157,662

3,491

25,095,300
7,076,,446

739

Changes on initial appllg{el illlllg
Balance at end of Ye'ar

CUMULATIVE UNREALIZED VALUATION GAIN

ON EQUITY SECUIIITIES DESIGNATED A5 FVOCI

IFORMERLY CLASSIFIED A5 AFs FINANCIAL

ASSETS)

Balance at beginninlS of Year

Effect of change in tax rate

Unrealized valuation gain

t-0

17,993)

73,432,497
(1,301,805)

921,687

40,343,598 32,1.77,445

23,574,640_

52,331
(194,434)

23,019,670

652,580

Reclassification adjustments on disposal 160,701I 97,650)

22,891,678 23,432,49? 23,574,600
Balance at end of

REVATUATION SURPLUS

Balance at beginning of Year

Revaluation gain

Amortization of revaluation su rplus

75,850
3,A77,t92

(49,404)

72,680
6,661

(3,491)

73,419
(73e)

Balance at end of Year

ACCUMULATED REIVI EASUREM ENT GAI N

ON RETIREMENT LIABILITY

Balance at beginning of Year
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement liabilttv

Balance at end of

3,103,638

PARENT COMPANY,S SHARES I.IELD

BY A SUBSIDIARY

Balance at beginning of Year

Additions

16

22,846
72,504

24,192
)",346)

45,350 22,846

(16,817,e72) (1.6,817,e72)

(63,248)
{16,881,220)

Balance at end of

(Forward)

16,881,220) {r.6,881,220) .76,817,972

;l
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Years Ended December 31

Note 2018 7017 2015

TBEASURY SHARES

Balance at beginninE, of Year
Reissuance
Additions

t6
(81,1141 1P12,214)

11,000
tP1.,2t4\

11,000)

Balance at end of Year

4,867

{7s0)

391

(1,214)

4,510

(1,06e)

L37A
(44)

4,193

417_

NONCONTBOTLING INTERESTS

Balance at beginnin6l of Year

Acquisition
Share in:

Net income
Other comPrehensive lo-ss

Baiance at end ofYear 4,508 4,867 4,610

F70,070,138 F60,415,514 752,41'1,74t
#*-

See accompanying Notes to Cansolidoter! Financiol Stotements

-2-
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION I\ND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT]s OF CASH TLOWS

{Amounts in Thousands}

Years Ended December 31

20x8 2077 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OI'ERATING ACTIVITIES

lncome before income tax

Adjustments for:
Gain on fair value changes of investment

properties
lnterest expense and other finance charges

Depreciation and anrortization
Loss on forfeitures and cancellation

lnterest income

Unrealized foreign exchan6e losses

6ain on sale of AFS financial assets

Equity in net loss (in,:ome) of an associate

F7,165,860

{7,453,516}
321,345
296,100
197,387

{17,033}
3,584

\fi,toil
1,LL7

(123,152)

{ 19,63s)

1,885
( 108,50s )

l,1J)

P11,571,403 F10,210,685

(11,471,819) (10,007,052)

365,727 294,749
L24,561 121,860

11

15

1.2

5

10

9
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Operating income befc,re working capital changes

Decrease (increase) in ;

Trade and other receivables
Land and development costs and parking lots

for sale

Other current assets

lncrease in:
Trade and other payables

Customers' deposits

Retirement liabilitY

513,727

1232,876t

{153,?90}
{15,848}

277,383

98,594
20,058

(1,381

448,598

(738 e83)

(s37,3s7)

{.384,624)

321,031

21,t42
15,540

495,1?2

(4s8,383)

{4s8,693)
220,506

1,062,891

25,991

7,494

Net cash generated from {used for) operations

Income taxes paid

lnterest received

507,748
(46,718)

11,893

(8s4,5s3)
(17,856)

17,764

894,928
(82,0e1)

19,63 5

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 472,923 (854,655) 832t472

CASH FTOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to:
Property and equipnrent
Investment ProPerti13s

Eguity securities designated as FVOCI

Software
Proceeds from:

Sale of equity securities designated as FVOCI

(formerly classif ierJ as AFS financial assets)

Disposal of property and equipment
Rescission of sale and disposal of investrnent

properties

Decrease (increase) in:

Advances to related companies

Other noncurrent assets

lnvestment in and advances to an associate

Advances to an associate

11

13

{1,633,160)

{208,777\
{70,400)

(5,796)

215,921
35,4\7

(342,331)

134,658

{7so}

(43s,010)
(33,4s9)

158,214

221,279

(364,306)

(18,904)

9,67r
1,689

{608,326)
(226,678_l

(1s4)

137,820

(446,730)

52,5r7

(6s6)

N"t.rshl.r*d l" i.r*t,',"g *ti"',ti"t 

-:
iForwardi



Years Ended December 31

Note 2017 201 6

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANC}NG ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from:
llsuance of new shares

Availments of long-term debt

Payments of:

Long-term debt
lnterest and other iinance charges

lncrease (decrease) in :

Advances from related comPanies

Other noncurrent liabiiities

Purchase of Parent Company shares held by a

subsidiary

Movements in treasulry shares

16

1b

P2,216,tLB
782,737

t1,193,853)
(295,078)

163,488

9,797

P-
6,530,142

(s,318,627)
(505,945)

73,071,
(59,691)

(63,248)

11,000

F_

2,757,784

( 1,7 1 3,541)
( 231,6i4)

34,013

12,131)

11,000)

Net cash provided bY financi 233,5r.1

EFFECT OF FOREIGN IXCHANGE RATE CHANGES

ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALINTS ( 1,1 17)

215,593
1,183

256,146
720,526

453,173
551,098

CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING

OF YEAR

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

bh
h
h
hr
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NET INCREASE (DECREASE) lN CASH AND CASH

TQUIVALENTS 759,896) (28,L49

t16,776 97 6,612 i,004,821

CASH AND CASH TQUUALTNTS AT END OF YEAR

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

110,157
38?,944

21 5,593

1,183

256,146
72A,526

F493,101^ ?216,176 P976,672

5ee accomponying JVotes to Consolidated fiilonciol Sfote.renls.

activities 1,682,2A4 702



ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

rrroirs ro coNsoltDATED FINIANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Matters

Corporate lnformation
Alphaland Cgrporation (ALPHA or Parent Company) is a holding company incorporated and

registered with the Philippine securities and Exchange commission (sEC) on November 19, 1990

The principal business of ALPHA and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") is real

property develoPment.

The registererj office address of

Street, MakatiCitY,

ALPHA is Alphaland Makati Place,7232 Ayala Ave' ext' cor' Malugay

The consolidarted financial statements a5 at Decemlcer 31-, 2018 and 2017 and for each of the three

years ended December 31,201"8,20L7 and 2016 were approved and authorized for issuance by the

Executive Cornmittee of the Board of Directors {BOD) on January 29,Z]fi'

ALPHA's Lesarl Sulsidiaries as at December 31. 201!i and 2017

Place of

Percentage of
Ownership

2018 20:-7
CompanY

Alphaland Southgate Tower, lnc. (ASTI) Philippines

lncorporation Nature of Business
100 100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

L00

100

100

r-00

97

80

Aiphaland Balesin lsland Resoft Corporation

(ABIRC)

Alphaland Makati Place, lnc. (AMPI) t')

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, lnc'

(ABMtHl)
Alphaland Balesln lnternational Gateway,

lnc, (formerlY AlPhaland Balesin

Gateway, lnc.) IABlGl]
Alphaland Reclamation Corporation {ARC)

2258 Blue Holdings, Inc- (Blue Holdings) iur

Alphaland Southgate Restaurants, lnc (ASRl)
(a)

,Alphaland lnternational, lnc. (All)

Alphaland Aviatlon, Inc. (AAt)

Alphaland Aviation - Pampanga, lnc, (AAPt) {b)

Aegle Wellness i:enter, lnc. (AWCI)

Alphaland lnternational, lnc. - BVI

Alphaland lnternational, lnc'' Seychelles

Superiace EnterPrises l-imited

Aegle Drugstore Inc. (ADl) {')

Choice lnsurance Brokerage, lnc, (ClBl) iu)

,Alphaforce Secr"rrity Agency, lnc (ASAI) {tr . ,

Redstone Mountain Holdings lnc. (RMHI) {8}

Lodgepole Holdings, lnc. (LHl)'d)

Mt. Baguio Holcling Estates lnc. (MBHEI)'E'

(Forward)

Philippines
Philippines

Philippines

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Phillpplnes
Philippines
Philippines

Phiiippines
Philippines
British Virgin

lsla nds

Seychelles

Hongkong

Phil i ppines

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Real property develoPrnent

Real property develoPment

Real property develoPment

Real property develcPment
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Place of
lncorporation i\ature of Business 2477

Top of the Alpha, lrc. Doing business under

the names and stYles of ToP of the
Alpha by Loui,: Y and The AlPha BY

Louie Y (Top c,f the A,lpha){d)

The Alpha Sultes, Irc. (Alpha Suites) {d)

Pinecrest Holclings lnc. (PHl)(8r

Philippines llestaurant operations

Philippines
Philippines

100

100
lleal estate company
l'{olding company

(a) Through ASTI

{b) Through AAI
(c) Through AMPI; lncorporated in 2077
(d) Through AMPI; lncorporoted in 20J.8

(e) Through Elue Hcldings

ff) Assaciote in 20:16

@ lncorporated in 2078

Chanees in Group Structure durinflJ018 and 2017

a. ADl was incorporated and registered with the Ph lippine SEC on December 22,2AlT primarily to
engage in the business of retailing or wholesialing of pharmaceutical products, medicines,

foodstuffs and groceries.

b. Blue Holdings initially subscribed to 1"5,749,996 common shares of ClBl representing 70% of its
outstanding shares in November 2012, ln October 2A17, Blue Holdings purchased additional

6,000,000 common shares from an existing shareholder for P5.0 million resulting to an increase

in ownership of ClBl la 97%.ln December 2018, the rernaining lnterest was obtained by Blue

Holdings making ClBl its wholly-owned subsidiary.

ClBl was inr:orporated and registered wlth the Plrilippine SECon November 6,2012 primarilyto
engagel conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act a$ a broker, and to do other
related activities.

c. ALPHA initially subscribed to 79,999 cornmon shares of ASAI representing 40o/o ol its outstanding

shares in tVlarch 2011, which was then accounterj for as an associate, ln October 2017, ALPHA

purchased addltional 79,999 common shares from an existing shareholder for?1L.2 million

increasing its ownership of ASAI to 80% (see Note 9).

ASAI was incorporated and registered with the l,hilippine SEC on March 18, 2011 primarily to
engage in tlre business of providing security and lnvestigation services to private institutions and

govern ment organizations.

d. Top of the Alpha was incorporated and register{3d with the Philippine SEC on May 21., 2018

primarily tc, establish, maintain and operate restaurants, coffee shops, refreshment parlors and

cocktail lounge.

e. Alpha Suites was incorporated and registered witl'r the Philippine SEC on June 11, 2018 primarily

to deal aild engage in the real estate business in all its aspects; to hold, develop, manage,

administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent or otherwise deal in and dispose of,

for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate projr3cts.
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f. RMHt, LHl, MBHEland PHlwere incorporated anrJ reBistered with the Philippine SEC primarilyto

invest in, t)urchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge,

exchange,Jr othervr'ise dispose, as may be pernritted by law, of real and personal property of
every kind and description. These entities were incorporated in 2018,

Significant Opr:ratins Subsidia ries

a. ASTI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on lv4ay 29, 2007 as Alphaland

Corporafion. the Philippine SEC approved the change in its corporate name to "Alphaland

Development, lnc." on December 28,2A09 and lhen to "Alphaland Southgate Tower, lnc." on

October 1,t;,201"5.

ASTI's prinrary purpos€ is to engage in real property acquisition and development. ASTI's main
property is; a 20-storey office tower buiiding with a six"storey podium shopping mall known as

Alphaland Southgate Tower (see Note L1).

b. ABIRC was incorporated and registered with thr: Philippine StC on May 26,2010 primarily to
invest in, ;:urchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, rnortgage,
pledge, and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by law, of real and personal

property of every kind and description.

ABIRC has investment in preferred shares ol' Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc, {ABlCl)
(see Note :10).

c. AMPI was incorporated and registered with the F'hilippine SEC on March 6, 1991 as Silvertown
Property D,evelopment Corporation. On Febru;rry 26, 2010, the Philippine SEC approved the
change in c.orporate name to "Alphaland Makati Place, lnc."

AMPI's primary purpose is to acquire by excharrge of shares, purchase and lease a specific
property dr:scribed as three-storey building with basement of strong materials together with the
warehouse, other land improvements and macl'rinery and equipment as well as the leasehold

rights on the land, which is situated at Ayala l\.'renue corner Malugay Street, Makati, Metro
Manila.

AMPI entered into a joint venture with the Boy licouts of the Philippines (BSP) to develop the
Malugay Property into a first class commercial <levelopment now known as Alphaland Makati
Place {see Note 4). lt is a mixed-use property development consisting of two {2) hieh end
residential towers and one {1.) corporate towerr atop an upscale six-storey podium with a

shopping center and a City Club, including a Boy S,r:out Convention Center.

AMPI has investment in preferred shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, lnc.
(TCCAMPI) (see Note 1.0).

d. ABMLHI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine StC on January 17, 2013 as

Alphaland Holdings Company, lnc. On Septemb,er 7,2A16, the Philippine SIC approved the
change in corporate name to "Alphaland Baguio lt,/lountain Log Homes, lnc."
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ABMLHI's primary purpose is to deal and engage in the real estate business in all its aspects; to

hold, devetlOp, manage, administer, seil, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent, or

otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itself or for others, ail kinds of real estate projects,

involving c,Jmmercial, industrial, urban, residential or other kinds of real property, improved or

unimproved, with or to such persons and entities and under such terms and conditions as may

be permitt,ad by law.

e. AAI and tu\Pt were incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on July 31, 2012 and

December 5,701.6, respectively, primarily to,engage in aviatiorr lndustry and its related

businesses, including but not limited to, the prov'ision of hangarage and moorage, parking and

landing opr3rations, aircraft maintenance, supply of parts, oils, and lubricants and other related

businesses.

Maior Sources gf Funds

aperotions. The Group generates funds primarily 1'rom sale of condominium units and parking

spaces at Alphaland Makati Place, Baguio Mountain .odges, and Balesin Private Villa; from mall and

leasing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower and Alphaland Makati Place Mall and Corporate

Tower, and; frr:m the operation of the serviced resirJences of The Alpha Suites that commenced in

the first half of 2018.

The 6roup also generates funds from secondary sarle of membership shares of completed Club

projects, namely, Alphaland Balesin lsland Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place.

Borrowings. LLPHA, ABlCl, ABIRC, AMPI and ASTI lras an Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement

(OLSA) wtth BDO Unibank, lnc. (BDO) for a loan farcility of ?6,776.A million for the purpose of:

(a) refinancing; the Group's loans; (b) financing rrr:w and on-going projects and (c) providing

additional worl<ing capital for the Group,

AApl and AAI hoth entered into an Amortized Commercial Loan (ACL) agreement with BDO Leasing

and Finance, lnc. (BDOLFI) for a loan facility of P26li.2 million and P309.0 million, respectively, for

the purpose of financing the acquisitiorr of two ATR7,Z Turboprop Aircraft.

Contract To Sett (CTS) Financing. ABMLHI obtained a CTS financing facility with BDO amounting to

FS00.0 million for the purpose of refinancing the company's CTS receivables under the terms and

conditions of a Memorandum of Agreement (M0hll dated October 30, 201"8 between BDO and

ABMLHI.

Aggregate loan availments amounted to ?782.7 million andP6,530.1 million in 201"8 and 2A17,

respectively (see Note 15).

fvents after the RqportinLBeriod

Assignment of OLSA with BDO. The long-term loan with BDO under the OLSA dated February 15,

20L7, amounting to P5,653.2 million inclusive of interest and adjustments as of January 23,24i9,
was assigned e:ffective on the same date by BDO to t'hilippine Bank of Comrnunications - Trust and

Wealth Management Group pursuant to an Assignment Agreement dated January 23,2019 between

the parties.
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passibte Sole of Alphatand Southgote Tower. ASTI is currently in negotiations with a third party for

the sale of ,\lphaland Southgate Tower. Howev{:r', as at January 29 2019, there is no definitive

agreetnent r,:garding the sale. The sale is condition,ad on obtainirrg relevant regulatory clearances'

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Prerraration and Statement of Compl.ipnc$

The consoli<jated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with
philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting

Standards Council and adopted by the SEC, includirrg SEC pronouncements. This financial reporting

framework includes PFRS, Philippine Accounting :Standards (PAS), and Philippine lnterpretations

from lnternationa I Financial Reporting I nterpretations Committee (l FRIC).

Measurement Bases

The consoliclated financial statements are preserrted in Philippine Peso, the Group's functional

currency. Allamounts are rounded to the nearest tlhousands unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis,

except for the following:

r Equlty securitles designated as fair value through other comprehensive income IFVOCl]

[formerl,y classified as available'for-sale (AFS) f inancial assets];

r lnvestment properties which are me asured at {'air vaiue; and

r Aircrafts and serviced residences presented under "Property and equipment" account which are

stated at revalued amount; and

Historical corst is generally based on the fair value,of the consideration given in exchange of assets

and fair valu,l of the consideration received in exchange for incurring a liability.

Fair vaiue is the price that would be received to r;ell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group uses market observable data to a pos:;i,ble extent when measuring the fair value of an

asset or a liability. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on

inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

r Level 1- Quoted (unadlusted) market prices in;rctive markets for identicalassets or liabilities,

r Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the loilest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurernent is directly or indirectly observable.

r Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lorruest level input that is significant to the fair value

nleasurement is unobservable,

lf the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different

levels of the fairvalue hierarchy, then the fair valur: measurement is categorized in its entirety in the

same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lor,uest level input that is significant to the entire

measurement.
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The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporling

period during which the change has occurred'

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in Notes 10'

11, 12 and 25.

Adoption of ltJew and Amended PFRs

The accounting policies adopted are consistent withr those of the previous financial year, except for

the adoption of the following new and amended PFRS which the Group adopted effective for annual

periods begirrning on or after January 1, 201-8:

r pFRS 9, Financiol lnstruments - This standard replaces PAS 39, Finoncial lnstruments:

Recognitt'on ond Measurement (and all the previous versions of PFRS 9)' lt contains

requirements for the classification and rneasurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,

impairment, hedge accounting, recognition anc derecognition'

o pFRS 9 requires all recognized financial ass,ets to be subsequently measured at amortized

cost or fair value (through profit or loss,or through other comprehensive income tOCll),

depending on the classification by referen,ce to the business modei within which these are

held and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

o For frnancial liabiiities, the amount of chan,ge in fair value of a financial liability designated

as fair value through profit or loss (fVPL)thrat is attributable to changes in the credit risk of

that liabilify is recognized in OCI (rather than in profit or loss), unless this creates an

accounting mismatch,

o For the impairment of financial assets, PFFIS 9 introduces an "expected credit loss" model

based on the concept of providing for expected losses at inception of a contract.

Recognition of a credit loss should no longer wait for there to be objective evidence of

impairment.

o For hedge accounting, PtRS 9 inffodur:,es a substantial overhaul allowing financial

stat€rments to better reflect how risk management activities are undertaken when hedging

finarrcial and nonfinancial risk exposures.

o The rJerecognition provisions are carried ovr:r almost unchanged from PAS 39.

As allowed under transitory provisions of PFRS 9, the Group applied the requirements of PFRS 9

retrospectively but opted not t0 restate the conrparative lnformation.

The Group has performed an assessment and cletermined the following impact of PFRS 9 on its

financial instruments:

Clossifictttion and Messurement. On the date of initial application, January 1, 2018, the Group

made th e following reclassifications:

(i) Trade and other receivables and other financial assels that were classified as l,rans and

rec,:ivables under PAS 39 are now classified as financial assets at amortized cost. Tnese

finerncial assets are held to collect conractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows

representing solely payments of principal and interest,
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{ii) The Group's investment in preferred shares,cf ABICI (lsland Club) and TCCAMPI (City Club)

classi{'ied as AFS financial assets under PAS 39 will continue to be measured at fair value

under pFRS 9. These investments ur" lr11gndr:d to be disposed of over tlme to third parties.

As permitted by PFRS 9, the Group made an irrevocable designation to present in OCI the

changes in fair value of these investments. lJnlike PAS 39, the accunrulated gains or losses

presented in OCI related to these investments will not be subsequently reclassified to profit

or losr;.

The Group has not designated any financial li;rbilities as at FVPL. There are no changes in

classification and measurement for the 6roup's financial liabiiities,

The application of the classification and measuirement requirements under PFRS 9 did not

materiatly affect the carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments as at January 1,

2018.

lmpoirment. The new impairment requirements do not result to additional provision for

impairment with respect to trade receivables and contract assets from real estate sales because

the credit exposure arising from these financial ilssets was mitigated by the Group's policy that

title lansfer should be done only upon full payrn,ent and the Group can take possession of the

subject property in case the buyer fails to pay the outstanding balance.

For trade receivables arising from other busines,s segments, the Group applies the simplified

approach ln measuring the expected credit losr;es. This approach does not track changes in

credit risk, but instead recognize an allowance for impairment losses based r:n lifetime expected

credit losses. This resulted in an increase of the allowance for impairment losses with a

corresponding decline in retained earnings as at.lanuary 1, 201'8 by P18.0 million.

While cash and cash equivalents are subject to the impalrment requirements of PFRS 9, the

resulting irnpairment loss is not significant primarily because the placements are with reputable

counterparty banks that possess good credit ratings'

For other financial assets at amortized cost which mainly comprise related party transactions,

the PFRS 9 impairment requirements do not result to significant expected credit loss. ln

performing lhe assessment, the Group considr:red the available liquid assets of the related

parties and the letter of support frorn the stockhclders.

Hedging, -t-he Group does not have transactions that will require the use of hedge accounting'

PFRS L5, Revenue from Controct with Custonters - The new standard replaces PAS 11,

Construction Contracts, PAS L8, Revenue, and r,elated interpretations. lt establishes a single

comprehensive framework for revenue recognition to apply consistently across transactions,

industries and capitalmarkets, with a core principrle (based on a five-step modelto be applied to

all contracts with customers), enhanced disclosunes, and new or improved guidance.

The following are the related literatures issued sr:bsequent to adoption of PFRS 15:

o Amenrlments to PFRS 15, Revenue from Cant,roct with Customers - Clarificotion to PFRS 1"5 -
The amendments provide clarifications ,cn: (a) identifying performance obligations;

{b) principal versus agent considerations; and (c) licensing. The amendments aiso provide

some tranSition relief for modified c0ntracts and completed contracts.
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oPhilippirelnterpretationsCommittee(PIC}r3'&ANo,2016.04,ApplicationofPFRS15
Revenu,z from Contracts with Customers on Sale of Residentia! Properties under

Pre-completion Contracts The interpr{}ltation provides implernentation guidance

specifically whether the sale of a residential property unit under pre-completion stage by a

real estate developer that enters into a CTS r,ruith a buyer *meets the criterja for revenue

recognition over time'

o ptc Q&A No. 2OIg-12, PFRS 15 lmplementat,ion lssues Affecting the Real Estate lndustry *

The interpretation addresses some implementation issues affecting real estate industry due

to changes brought about by the adoption of PFRS 15'

o SEC Memorandum Circular No. 14, Series of 7018, PIC Q&A 2ALS-1"2 lmplementation lssues

Affectir,,g the ReolEstote tndustry -The Circul;rr provides relief to the realestate industry by

deferring the application of the provisrons ,cf the Plc Q&A 2a1.8-72 with respect to the

accoun.ting for significant financing component, uninstalled materials and the exclusion of

land in the calculation of percentage of compk:tion, for a period of three years. This deferral

will only be applicable for real estate transilctions. Elfective January L,20Z!, real estate

companies will adopt PIC Q&A 2A1,8-12 and any subsequent amendments thereof

retrospectively or as the SEC will later prescribe.

The Group has adopted PFRS 15 using the cumr:lative effect method which requires that the

cumulative effect of applying the new standard s recognized at the beginning of the year of

initial application. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 and 2016 have not been

restated. Further, the disclosure requirements in PFRS 15 have not generally b'een applied to

comparative i nformation.

prior to adoption of PFRS L5 and its related issuances, the Group is already using the percentage

of completion method in determining the revenue from real estate transactions. The Group

also availe{ of the relief provided by SEC Memorandum Circular No. 14, Series of 2018. With

these, the application of PFRS 15 has no siglrificant impact on the Group's real estate

transactions except for the recognition of contract assets with a corresponding decrease in

trade recei,yables amounting to p217.5 million a:; at December 31, 2018 (see Note 6). Had the

Group opterd to adopt in full the guidance provicled in PIC Q&A 2A18-12, it is anticipated that

there will be a decrease in the revenue from real estate sales due to a lower percentage of

completion,

PFRS 15 dicl not have a significant impact on the Group's other revenlle streams.

Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Ctassification ond Measurement of Shore-based

pdyment l'ransoctions - The amendments clerrify the effects of vesting and non-vesting

conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the

accounting for share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding

tax obligations, and the effect of a modificatiorr to the terms and condition of a share-based

payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity settled'

Amendments to PAS 28, lnvestments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Measuring an Associate

or Jaint Ve:nture at Foir Value - The amendments are part of the Annual lmprovements to

PFRS 20L4-2016 Cycle and clarify that the election lo measure at fair value through profit or loss

an investment in an associate or a joint venture that i5 held by an entity that is a venture capital
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organizatiotl, mutual fund, unit trust or other qualifying entity, is available for each investment

jn an associate or joint venture on an investment-b,y-investment basis, upon initial recognition.

r Amendments to PAS 40, lnvestment Property - Transt'ers of lnvestment Property * The

amendments clarify that transfers to, or from, tnvestment property (including assets under

construction and development) shouici be made 'when, and only when, there is evidence that a

change in use of a property has occurred'

. philippine lnterpretation from IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advonce

Consideration * The interpretation provides guidance clarifying that the exchange rate to use in

transactions that involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency is the one

at the dater of initial recognltion of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred income

liability.

The adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS did not have any nraterial effect on the

consolidated financial statements except for PFRS 9 and 15 as discussed in the foregoing. Additional

disclosures hav,e been included in the notes to consolidated financial statements, as applicable'

New and Amerrded PFRS in lssue But Not Yet Effectil'r:

Relevant new and amended PFRS which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 20L8

and have not been applied in preparing the consc,lidated financial statements are summarized

below.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019:

r pFRS 16, le,ases - This standard replaces PAS 1;', Leoses, and its related interpretations. The

most significant change introduced by the new st;tndard is that almost all leases will be brought

onto lesseers'statement of financial position unrJer a single model (except leases of less than

12 months and leases of low-value assets), elimirrating the dlstinction between operating and

finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, renrains largely unchanged and the distinction

between operating and finance lease ls retained.

r Amendmerrts to PAS 28, Long-term lnterests in A:;.sociates snd jointVentures -The amendment

clarifies that an entity should apply PFRS 9, inclucling its impairment requlrernents, to long-term

interests in an associate or joint venture that forrn part of the net investment in the associate or

joint venture to which the equity method is not applied.

r Amendmerrts to PFRS 9, Prepayments Feotures wt'th Negative Compensafion -The amendment

provides a narrow-scope amendment to PFRS 9 to enable companies to measure at amortized

cost some prepayable financial assets with negative compensation.

Deferred effectivity -

r Amendmerrt to pFRS 10, Consolidoted Financ';ol Statements, and PAS 28, lnvestments in

Assocloles ond loint Ventures - Sole or Contributian of Assets Eetween an lnvestor and its
Associate or Joint Venture - The amendments address a current conflict between the two

standards and clarify that a gain or loss should be recognized fully when the transaction involves

a business, and partially if it involves assets that clo not constitute a business. The effective date

of the amendments, initially set for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, was

deferred indefinitely in December 2015 but earlier application is still permitted.
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Under prevailirrg circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS is not

expected to have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group'

Additional disclosures will be includerJ in the consoliderted financial statements, as applicable.

Basis of Consolid?tion

The consolidated financial statements include th3 accounts of the Parent Company and its

subsidlaries. Subsidiaries are €ntities controlled by r:lre Parent Company' Control is achieved when

the parent Company is exposed, or has right, to ,rariable returns from its investment with the

investee and it has the ability to affect those returns through its powers over the investee.

Subsidiaries arr: consolidated from the date of acqui:;ition or incorporation, being the date on which

the parent Cornpany obtalns control, ancl continue to be consolidated until the date such control

ceases. Asset:;, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the

year are inclucled in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control

until the date the Group ceases lo control the subsid ary'

The financial :;tatements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the sanle reporting period as the

parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions,

unrealized gains and losses resulting fronT intra-groLrp transactions and dividends are eliminated in

full.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, u,ithout a loss of control, is accounted for as an

equity transaction.

When the parent Cornpany has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, it

has power over the investee when the voting right:; are sufficient to give it the practical ability to

direct the rele,,,ant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Parent Cornpany considers all relevant

facts and circunrstances in assessing whether it has powerover an investee, including:

r The size o1'the Parent Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of

holdings or'the other vote holders;

r The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; or

r The Parent Company's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Parent Company re-assesses whether 0r not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances

indicate that there are changes to elements evidencirrg control.

NCI represent:; the portion of net results and net assiets not held by the Parent Company. These are

presented in the consolidated statements of finan,:ial position within equity, apart from equity

attributable to equity holders of the parent and are separately disclosed in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income. NCI pertilins to the equity interest in A5Al as at

December 31, 2018 and 2017 and ClBl as at Decembe'r 31, 2017.

Losses within a subsidiary are altributed to the NCle:ven if that results in a deficit balance.
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lf the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary, it:

r Derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the former subsidlary from the consolidated

statements of financial Position;

r Recognizes any investment retained in the former subsidiary when control is lost and

subsequently accounts for it and for any amounts owed by or to the former subsidjary in

accordance, with relevant PFRS. That retained lnterest is remeasured and the remeasured value

is regarded as the fair value on initial recognitiorr of a financial asset in accordance with PFRS 9

or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment ln an associate or jolnt

venture; a rrd

r Recognizes the gain or loss associated with the loss of control attributable to the former

controlling interest.

gusiness combinatians and Goodwil/- Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition

method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred,

measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any NCI In the acquiree' For each

buslness combination, the acquirer measures the Nrll in the acquiree either at fair value or at the

proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets'

lf the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's

previously helclequity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and

any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss'

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the

acquisition date. lf the contingent consideration is not within the scope of PFRS 9, it is measured in

accordance with the appropriate PFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not

remeasured arrd subsequent settlement is accountec for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the a88regate of the consideration

transferred arrd the amount recognized for NCI over the net identifiable assets acquired and

liabilities assurned, lf this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the

subsidiary acquired, the diiference is recognized in profit or loss'

lf the initial acr:ounting for business combination can be determined only provisionally by the end of

the period by rvhich the combination is effected. Ad.iustments to these provisional values as a result

of completing the initial accounting shall be made within 12 months from the acquisition date. The

carrying amount of an identifiable asset, liability or contingent liability that is recognized as a result

of completing the initial accounting shall be calculated as if its fair value at the acquisition dale had

been recognized from that date and goodwill or any gain recognized shall be adjusted from the

acquisition da.re by an amount equal to the adjustnrent to the fair value at the acquisition date of

the identifiab|: asset, liability or contingent liability being recognized or adjusted,

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cosi less any accumulated impairment losses. For

the purpose pf impairment testing, goodwill acq'rired in a business combination is, from the

acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (CGU) that are expected to

benefitfrom the combinatlon, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are

assigned to thr3se units.
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Where goodwill fornrs part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the

goodwill as:;oc ated with the operation disposed of is lncluded in the carrying amount of the

operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in

this circumstance is neasured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the

portion of thre CGU retained.

Financia I Assets and l.iabilities

Date of Reclgnition. The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial Iiability in the consolidated

statements r:f flnancial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial

instrument. ln the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and

derecognition, as applicable is done using settlement date accounting.

tnitial ftecognitiion, F nancial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value

of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received {in case of a liability). The initial

measuremeyrt of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair vatue through profit and

loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost.

"Day L" Diff,erence. \A/here the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of

other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation

technique rarhose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the

difference betv,reen the transaction price and fair value (a "Day l" difference) in profit or loss, ln

cases where,there is no observable data on inception, the 6roup deems the transactions price as

the best estimate of fair value and recognizes "Day 1" difference in profit or loss when the inputs

become obs;ervable or when the instrument is derecognized, For each transaction, the Group

determines r:he appropriate method of recognizing the "Day 1" difference'

Classificatiotl o,f Findnciol lnstruments. The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition

under the follor,ving categoriesr (alfinancial assets at FVPL, (b)financial assets at amortized cost and,

(c)financial assets at FVOCI. Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are classified as either financial

liabilities at FVPL or other firrancial liabilities at amortized c0st. The classification of a financial

instrument largely depends on the Group's business model.

As at Decerrrber 31, !:018 and 2017, the Group does not have financial assets and liabilities at FVPL

and debt instruments measured at FVOCI.

FinanciolAs$efi otAfiortized fost. Afinancialassetshall bemeasuredatamortizedcostif bothof
the followinl3 conditions are mr3t:

r the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in

order to collect contractual cash flows; and

r the contractual t,:rms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are

solely parynrents of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recr:gnition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized

cost using the effectlve interest method, less allowance for impairment, if any, Amortized cost is

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an

integral part of the elfective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the

financial assets are derecognir,ed and through amortization process. Financial assets at amortized

cost are included unrJer current assets if realizability or collectability is within 12 months after the

reporting perio,J. Otherwise, tl-rese are classified as noncurrent assets.



!

Fl{II

bhrt
!hg
i
lrrrra
I

ihhd,
i
br
F{,
i

H[
Lr-!{t
i
ibli-
I

!hw
Ilrrrfif,
I
I

ffil
I

En
I

l-
i

l

HT
I

FB
I

P
It-F*
I

P
ht.{,
I

fqrD
I

I

l}.--t|fl,
I

I

TD
I

IIrrira
I

Itr
I
Ib-t-
I
I

F
b-
lE{,
i

B
i

[n
ILnt{,
Ihlrl
I

H
I

-15-

lnclucled in this category are cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables (excluding

advances to cfficers and employees), advances to related companies, restricted cash (presented

under "Other r:urrent assets" account), advances to an associate and refundable deposits (presented

under "Other noncurrent assets" account).

Equity Securities Designated as FVOCI (starting Jonuory 1., 2A$), Equity securities which are not

held for trading may be irrevocably designated at initial recognition under the FVOCI category.

Flnancial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial

recognit,on, financial assets at FVOCI are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses

recognized in OCI and are included under "Other comprehensive income" account in the equily

section of the consolidated statements of financial position. These fair value changes are recognized

in equity and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. On disposal of these equity

securities, any cumulatir;e valuation gains or losses will be reclassified to retained earnings.

Classified undr:r this cal.egory are the Group's investment in shares of stock of lsland Club and City

Club. ln the prior financial year, these equity securities are classified as AFS financial assets. The

accounting po,icy for AFS financial assets is set out below;

AFS Financial rlssefs (Pr,ior to Januory 1, 2018). AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. The

changles in fair values are recognized in OCI and accumulated in equity until the investment is sold,

collectecl, or otherwise disposed of or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which

time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity are included in profit or loss,

Flnanciot Liabitities dt Amortized Cost. Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at

amortizerd cos.: when the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an

obligirtion either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the obligation

other th;an by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number

of its own equity instrurnents.

These flrranciai liabilities;are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction

costs. AJter initiai recognition, these financial liabilities are supsequently measured at amortized
cost usirrg the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calcuiated by taking into account any

discount or premium orr the issue and fees that are an integrai part of the effective interest rate.

Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabililies are derecognized or impaired or
through the arrortization process,

This (:ategory includes trade and other payables (excluding deposits from sale, unearned rent

incorne;lnd statutory payables), long-term debt, customers'deposits and advances from related

companies.

Reclassil'icatio n

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at

amofl:ized cosl., any gain or loss previously recognized in OCl, and any difference between the new

amortized cosl: and maturity amount, are amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life of the

invest,mernt using the effective interest method. lf the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any

gain c,r loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or Ioss,
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ln thr3 case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss shall be

recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed. lf the financial asset is
subserquently impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been recognized irr OCI is reclassified from
equity to profi'r or loss.

lmpairment of Financial Assets at Amortized Cost
The Ciroup records an allowance for "expected credit loss." Expected credit loss (ECL) is based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash l'lows thar. the Group expects to receive, The difference is then discounted at an approximation
to the asset'5 6rriginal erffective interest rate.

The Ciroup has established a provision matrix that is based on the industry's historical credit loss

experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Derecognition of Financial A,ssets and Liabilities

Finan,cialAssets. A financial asset (or, where appllcable a part of a financial asset or part of a group

of siniilar financial assets) is derecognized when:

the right tcl receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

r tl're Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation
tc, pay thern in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" arrangement;
or

r the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either: {a)has
transferred substantially allthe risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained surbstantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retairred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement
in the asset. r:ontinuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amournt of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Finonciol Liobilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is

discharged, cancelled or expired. When an existing financial iiability is replaced by another from
the same lencler on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substetntially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
originill liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recr:gnized in profit or loss,
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Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

FinanciaI assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated

statements of financial position if, and onrv it, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset

the recognized arnounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basls' or to realize the assets

and settte the liabilities simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting

agreements, and trre related assets and liabilities;are presented gross in the consolldated

statements of flnancial position'

ClassificationofFinanciallnstrumentbetweenLiabilityandEquity
A financial instrunrent is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

r Deliver cash cr another financial asset to another en'tity;

r Exchange firancial assets or financial liabllities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Group; or

r Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange r:f a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset ior a fi.xed number of own equity shares'

lf the Group doers not have an uncondltion;ll right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset

to sertle its contractual obligation, the obligatiJn meets the definition of a financial liability'

Land and Devek
property acquired or;;il*rtr*ied for sate in the ordinary course of business' rather than to be

held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as inventory and is measured at the lower of cost and

net realizable varlue {NRV)'

Costs include:

r Cost of the and;

r Construction and development costs; and

oBorrowingcosts,planninganddesignC:osts,costsofsitepreparation'professionalfees'property
transfer taxes, construction overheads and other r'elated costs'

NRV is the estirnated selling price in the ordinary course of the business' based on market prices at

thereportingdate,lessestimatedspecificallyidentifiablecostSt0completeandtheestimatedcosts
to sell.

Other Current ,qssets

This account c,:nsisI of the excess of input value-aclded tax (VAT) over output VAT' advances to

contractors anri suppliers, creditable withholding taxes (cwT)' supplies' prepayments' deferred rent

and restricted r:ash.

VAr.Revenue5/expensesandassetsarerecognizednetoftheamounto{VAT,excepti

r where the tax lncurred on a purchase of assets 0r services is not recoverable from the taxation

authority,inwhichCasethetaxisrecognizedasplartofthecostofacquisitionoftheassetoraS
part of lhe expense item as applicable; and

lreceivablesandpayablesthatarestatedwiththtlamoun!oftaxincluded'



Ctff. CWT represents the amount withheld by the Group's customers tn

canbeutilizerdaspaymentforincomr:taxespr'rvidedthatthese
certificates of creditable tax withheld at source suL'ject to the rules on

CWT is stated at estimated NRV'

-rb-

The net amount of tax recoverable from the taxatiorr authority is included as part of "other current

assets,, account in the consolidated statements of financial position'

AtlvoncestoContract,orsondsuppliers'Advancestcrcontractorsandsuppliersrepresentadvance
payrnents on services to be incurred in connection i'crith the Group's operations' These are charged

to expense or capitalized to projects in the consolidated statements of financial position' upon

actual receipt cf services or supplies, These are con:,idered as nonfinancial instruments as these will

be applied ag;rinst future billings from contractors and suppliers' Advance payments to contractors

and suppliers, relating to the portion of the project that is classified as investment property and

advance payments tnat witt be applied against future billings beyond 12 months from the reporting

date, are presented as part Of "Other noncurrent assets" account in the consolidated statements of

financial Positlon.

r relation to its income' CWT

are proPerlY suPPorted bY

Philippine income taxation.

prepayments. Prepayments are expenses not yet incurred but paid in advance' Prepayments are

apportioned over the period covered by the payment and charged t0 the appropriate account in

profit or loss when incurred, Prepayments that are expected to be realized for no more than

12 months afler the reporting period are classified as current asset' otherwise, these are classified

as noncurrent asset'

Restrictedca:;h. Restricted cash includes cash in banks under trust and to be used for interest and

principal loan payments, funds reserved for the purchase of Euro notes and environmental escrow

funds. This is classified as current asset if the e>':pected release is within 12 months from the

financial reporting date. otherwise, this is classified a5 a noncurrent asset'

lnterests in Jt)int OBerations

A joint operation is a .loint arrangement wheretry the parties that have joint control of the

urrung.*"nt have rights to the assets, and obligaticlls for the liabilities relating to the arrangement'

TheGrouprecognizesinrelationtoitsinterestinajointoperation:

r its assets, including its share of any assets helcl jointly;

r its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

r its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the ioint operation;

r its share of the revenue from the sale of the o'Jtput by the joint operation; and

r its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly'

lnvestment in an Associate

The Group's nvestment in an associate i

entity in which the Group has significant

Under the er;uity method, investment in an associate is carried in the consolidated statements of

financlal position at cost plus post acquisition charnges in the 6roup's share of net assets of the

associate.

is accountecl for using the equity method' An associate is an

inf luence.
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Theconsolidatedstatements0fcomprehensiveincomereflecttheshareintheresultsofoperations
of the associate. where there has been a change recognized directry in the equity of the associate,

the Group recognizes its share of any chan'ges arxj discloses this' when applicable' in the

consolidated st;rtements of changes in equiiy' Unrealized gains and losses resulting from

transactions betrveen the Group and the associate are r:riminated to the extent of the interest in the

associate.

The share in net income of the associate is shown as ''Equity in net income (lossi of an associate"

,l.ouna in the consolidated staternents of comprehensi'ue income'

The financial statements of the

Where necessan1l, adjustments

Group.

serviced re:;idences and aircrafts, are stated at cost less

and impairrrrent in value, if any' Land is stated at cost less

associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group'

are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the

Upon loss of significant influence over an associatr:, the Group measures and recognizes any

remaining invesl.ment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate

upon loss of sigrrificant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from

disposal is recognized in profit or loss'

ifrtrtr*ffi,ffi.o*rrrse of compreted propertir:s and iand for future deveropment held bv the

Group to earn rerntals or foi capital appreciation, or both. lnvestment properties are measured initially

at cost, incruding transaction costs. The.urrying Br"rlourrt incrudes the cost of repracing part of existing

investmentpropertiesatthetimethatcostisincurrelrlandiftherecognitioncriteriaaremet,and
excludes the co:its of day-to-day servicing of investment properties. Subsequent to initial recognition'

investment properties aie stated at fair value, which rerfiects market conditions at the reporting date

as determined by independent appraisers' Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair values of

investmentpropertiesarejncludedintheprofitorlossintheperiodirrwhicht'heyarise.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use' For a transfer

from investmerrt property to owner occupied propertY, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is

the fair value at the daie of change in use. lf ownc'r occupied property becomes an investment

property, the (3roup accounts for such property in accordance with the policy on property and

equipment up to the date of change in use'

lnvestment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the

investment prclpertles are permanently withdrawn from use and no further economic benefit is

expectedfromitsdisposal,Anygainorlossontheretirementofdisposalofaninvestmentpropertyis
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal'

Propeftv and.FquiPment

Frop.rty and equiPment, excePt land,

accumulated depreciation, amortization

any impairmerrt in value'

The initial cosr: of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties'

nonrefundabte taxes and any directry attributabre costs in bringing the asset to its working condition

and location for its intended use. such cost include:;the cost of replacing part of such property and

equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognitic'n criteria are met'
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Expendituresincurredafterthepropertvandequipmenthavebeenput:t":,!::1t::::::::"repairs
and maintenance, are normally charged to profit or loss in the period when the costs are incurred' ln

situationsWhereil"canbeclearlydemonstratedthatthei:xpenditureshaveresultedinanincreasein
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and

equipment beyonrl its originally assessed rtrnarri of perfrrrmance, the expenditures are capitalized as

additional cost of property and equipment'

ln 2016, the Grclup adopted the revaluation model in measuring its aircrafts' This change in

accounting policy was applied bv the Group prospe(:tively, ln 2018, the Group adopted the

revaluation model in measuring its serviced residences'

UndertherevalLlationmodel,aircraftandservicedrr:sldencesareinitiallyrecordedatcostand
subsequently measured at fair value, valuations are performed with sufficlent regularity to ensure

that the fair varue of a revarued asset does rrot differ materia,y from its carrying amount' Additions

subsequent to the last appraisal date are stated at acquisition cost'

ArevaluationincreasejsrecordedinitiallyinoClancjaccumulatedtotherevaluationsurplusin
equity,However,theincreaseisrecognizedinprofitorlosstotheextentthatitreversesa
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously rr:cognized in profit or loss' A revaluation

decreaseisrecoSlnizedinprofitorloss,excepttotheextentthatitoffsetsanexistingsurplusonthe
same asset recognized in revaluation surplus in equity in which case the decrease is recognized in

ocl,

Upon disposal, erny revaluation surplus relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to

retained earnings.

Each part of the property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of

the item is depreciated separately'

Depreciationanrlamortizationiscomputedonthestraight-linebasisovertheestimatedusefullives
ofthedepreciakrleassets.ThedepreciationandamorrizationperiodsforpropertYandequipment'
based on the abrlve policies, are as follows:

Asset-iyPe
Number of Years

Servicr:d residences

Aircralits

Buildings

Transportation equiPment

Machinery, equiPment and tools

Office furniture and equiPment

LeaselT old imProvements

The estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to

ensure that the periods and method of depreciation and amortization is consistent with the expected

pattern of econr:mic benefits from ltems of property and equipment'

An item of property and equipment is derecognizeri upon disposal or when no future economic

benefits are ex[,ected from its use. Any gain or loss arlsing on derecognition of the asset (calculated as

the difference lletween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in

profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized'

J5

15 to 25

20 to 40

2to5
21o15
2to5

2 to 10 or lease term, whichever is shorter
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Construction in ylrogress, which includes cost of construction and other direct costs, is stated at cost

and is not depreciated untrl such time as the reievant a:isets are completed and put into operational

use. Assets uncler construction are reclassified to aspecific category of property and equipment

when the construction and other related activities necessaryto prepare the assets fortheir intended

use are completr:d and the assets are available for use.

Soitwarg
Software is me;asured initially at cost. Software is recognized if it is probable that the future

economic benefits that are attributable to the asset vuill flow to the enterprise and the cost of the

asset can be nteasured reliably, After initial reco5lnition, software is measured at cost less

accumulated anrortization and any impairment loss.

Amortization of software is computed on a straight-line basis over the estlmated useful life of

five years.

The amortization period and method are reviewed perriodically to ensure that these are consistent

with expected pattern of economic benefits from the intangible assets,

lmoairment of Nonfinancial Assets

Nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying: amount may not be recoverable. The Group assesses at each reporting date whether

there is an indication that an as$et may be impaired lf any such indication exists, or when annual

impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable

amount, An assret's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or CGU's fair value less costs to sell

and its value in use and is determined for an individual ;asset, unless the asset does not generate cash

inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets' Where the

carrying amounl of an asset exceeds its rec:overable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is

written down to its recoverable amount. ln assessingvalue in use, the estimated future cashflows are

discounted to iheir present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market

assessments of t.he time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An assessment is made at each reporling date as to whether there is any indication that previously

recognized imp;rirment losses may no longer exist or nray have decreased. lf such indication exists,

the recoverable amount is estimated, A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if

there has been i: change in the estimates u:;ed to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the

last impairment loss was recognized. lf that is the case,, the carrying amount of the asset is increased

to its recoverable amount. That increased amount c;lnnot exceed the carrying amount that would

have been determined, net of depreciation and amortiz;ltion, had no impairment loss been recognized

for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognizecl in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at

revalued Brnoutlt, in which case the reversal istreated;rs a revaluation increase. After such a reversal

the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted irr future periods to allocate the asset's revised

carrying amounl., less any residual value, on a systemat c basis over its remaining useful life.

Goodwilt. The rSroup assesses whether there are any'indicators that goodwill is impaired at each

financial reporting date. Goodwill ls tested for impairment annually and when circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. lmpairment is determined for goodwill by

assessing the rercoverable amount of the CGU, to which the goodwill relates,

Where the reccrverable amount of the CGU is less tharn their carrying amount, an impairment loss

is recognized. lmpairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.



-20 -

lnvestment in Qn Associote. After application of the equitY method, the Group determines

whether it is necessary to recognize an impairmr:nt loss on the Group's investment in its
associate. The Group determines at each financial reportinB date whetherthere is any objective

evidence that the investment in an associate is impaired. lf this js the case, the Group calculates

the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate

and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in profit or loss under the "Equity in net income

{loss) of an assoc;ate" account.

Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital

Capital stock is measured at par value for all sh;rres issued. Proceeds andlor fair value of

considerations received in excess of parvalue, if any, are recognized as additional paid-in capital.

lncremental co:;ts directly attributable to the issue of new capital stock are recognized as a

deduction, net crf tax, from the equity.

EsBued-&lnll,c!
Retained earnirgs represent the cumulative balance of the Group's results of operations,

reclassification ad.iustments on disposal of equity securitles designated as FV0CI {formerly classified

as AtS financialassets), amortization of revaluation surplus, and net of dividend distribution, if any.

oct
OCI comprises crf items of income and expenses that are not recognized in profit or loss for the year

in accordance lvith PFR5. OCI of the Group pertains to unrealized vaiuation on equity securities

designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as AFS financial assets), revaluation surplus and

remeasurernent on retirement liability.

Treasurv Stock

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury stock) are recognized at cost and

deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recollnized in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity

instrurnents. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is

recognized as additional paid-in capital. VotinB rights related to treasury shares are nullified for

the Group and no dividends are allocated to them.

Parent Cornpanry's Shares Held bv a Subsidiarv
parent's share:; which are held by a subsidiary are treated similar to treasury shares and

recognizecl and deducted from equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income on the purcha,se, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's

own equity insrlruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration is

recognized as additional paid-in capital.

Revenue Reco8nitio_n

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probaLrle that the economic benefits will flow to the

Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Flevenue is measured at the fair value of the

consideration received, excluding discounts and rebates.

Revenue from contract with customers is recognizerd when the performance obligation ln the

contract has been satisfjed, either at a point in time or over time, Revenue is recognized over time if

one of the folk:wing criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the

benefits as the Group performs its obligations; (b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an

asset that the customer controls as the asset is createcl or enhanced; or (c)the Group's performance
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does not create an asset with an alternalive use to lhe Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date. Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in

time. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized'

Revenue from sale of condominium units, Parking Lots, sale of t'og Homes and Privole villas

{starting }anuory 1, 2018). Revenue from sale of conrlcleted projects is accounted for using the full

accrual method at a point in tirne when the custon'ler obtains control of the assets' when the

Group has material obligations to complete the project after the propertY is sold' revenue is

recognized over time using the percentage of complelion method' Under this method' revenue is

recognized as the related ouligatlons are fulfllled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated

completion of a physical portion of the contract work'

The Group accounts for any cash received from buyers as "contrac[ liabilities" account in the

consolidated statements of financial position when the related performance obligation for which

payment was nnade has not yet been performed. Excess of collections over satisfied performance

obligation is als;o classified as contract ljabilitles. contract liabilities are reduced by the amounts of

revenue recognrized during the reporting period. Recelvables that are conditional upon performance

of other Obligrations are recOgnizecl as "Contract assets" (presented under "Trade and other

receivables,,account) in the consolidated statements of financial position. Contract assets are

reclassified to trade receivables upon completion of the performance obligation'

Forsale of con,Jominium units and preferred shares undera single contractto sell, the selling price

is allocated to each component. collections received are applied pr0-rata based on the selling price

of lhe condominium unit, net of VAT and interest, and the selling price of the preferred share'

Reql Estste Salt:s {prior to )onuary L, 2018). Revenue from sales of completed projects is accounted

for using the i'ull accrual method. The percentage of completion method is used to recognize

income from sales of projects where the Group has material obligations underthe sales contracts to

complete the pro1ect after the property is sold. Llnder this method, sales is recognized as the

related obligations are fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated cornpletion of a

physical portlun of the contract work. Costs th,at relate to the acquisition' development'

irnprnu**.nt and construction of the real estate projects are capitalized and are charged to

operations when the related revenues are recognizecl'

The Group acc,)unts for any cash received from buyers as deposits from sale of condorninium units

when the construction is not beyond a preliminary stage. Constructjon is not beyond a preliminary

stage if engineering and design work, execution crf construction contracts, site clearance and

preparation, e)(cavation, and completion of the builcling foundation are incomplete. Proceeds shall

be accounted f or as deposits until the criteria for perc:entage of completion method are met' Excess

of collections over the recognized receivables are included in the "Trade and other payables"

account ln thr: consolidated statements, of financal position, if expected to be applied within

j"2 months from the financiai reportlng date. Otherv,iise, these are classified as noncurrent liability

under,,Other noncurrent liabilities" account in the consolidated staternents of financial position'

Revenue on the sale of parking lots is recognized using the full accrual method'

Rent. Rent income from operating lease:; is recogniz,ad on a straight-line basis over the term of the

lease. Contingent rent income is recognized when it arises. This also includes common utilities,

services and nraintenance charges, as well as other incidental income in providingthe service'
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Air Tronsport, tvledicol and Security services' These ;3re recognized when the related service has

been rendered.

RoomReventJes.Revenueisrecognizedwhentheroomfacilitiesareusedandtherelatedservices
are rendered'

Gain an sole oJ' AFS Finsncial Assets. Gain on 53ls r:f AFS financial assets are recognized upon

transfer of risks and rewards to the buyer'

lnterest incame. lnterest lncome is recognized as the interest

effective Yield on the assets'

accrues taking into account the

other lncame, lncome from other sources, which irrcludes revenue from serviced residences' is

recognized when earned during the period'

ffi*ffitrffiffises in economic benefits during rhe accounting period in the form of

outflowsordep'letionsofassetsorincurrenceofliabilitiesthatresultindecreaseinequity,otherthan
those relating to distributions to equity participants'

Cost of Reat [:stgte Sold, Cost of real estate solcl is recognized Consistent With the revenue

recognition method appried. cost of condominium units sord before the completion of the proiect is

determined ba:sed on actualcosts and project estimat,3s of building contraclors and technicalstaff'

Contractcoslsincludealldirectmaterialsandlabor':ostsandthosedirectcostsrelatedtocontract
performance.ExpectedlossesonContractsarerecognizedimmed]atelywhenitisprobablethatthe
totalcontractr]ostswillexceedtotalcontractrevenue.Changesincontractperformance,contraci
conditionsandestimatedprofitability,includingthosr:arisingfromcontractpenaltyprovisions,and
final contract settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs and gross margins are

recognized in the year in which the changes are determined'

Costofservices.CostofservicesisrecognizedaSexpensewhenservicesarerendered.

General ond Administrotive Expenses. General arrd administrative expenses constitute costs of

administering the business' These are expensed as incurred'

lnterestExpetlseandatherFinonceCharges,lnterestexpense,lg"..l:'l'T:.:,,.n,'uesare
recognized as they accrue. This includes tie amon:ization of any discount or premium or other

differences between the initialcarrying amount of an interest-bearing instrulnent and its amount at

maturity calculated in an effective intere:;t rate basi:;'

Emplovee Benetits

short-term Be,nefits. The Group recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense

for services rendered by employees during the acc'ounting period' A liability is also recognized for

the amount e,xpected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit sharing plans if the Group

has a present legalor constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided

by the emplo'7ee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably'



-23-

Short-term enrployee benefit liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as

the related seivice is provided.

Retirement gtznefit costs. The Group has an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit plan

covering all qualified employees. Retirement bene,fit costs are actuarially determined using the

projected unit credit method which reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation

and i ncorpo rates assumptions concerning employees' projected sa I a ries.

The Group recognizes service costs, comprising of cllrrent service costs, past service costs, gains and

losses on curtallments and nonroutine settlements, and interest expense in profit or loss' lnterest is

calculated by applying the discount rate to the retiretnrent liability.

past service c,osts are recognized in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendtnent

or curtailmenti, and the date that the Group recogniz,as restructuring-related costs'

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and lot;ses and return on plan assets are recognized

immediately in ocl in the period in whicn they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent Periods,

The defined retirement benefits obligation is the aggregate of the present value of the defined

benefit obiigartion and the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled

directly. The present value of the retirement liability is determined by discounting the estimated

future cash r:utflOws using interest rate on go\,'ernrnent bonds that have terms to maturity

approximating the terms of the reiated retirement liability'

A,ctuarial valuations are made with sufficient reguilarity so that the amounts recognized in the

consolidated financial statements do not differ nraterially from the amounts that would be

deterrnined at the rePorting date.

Operating Lease

Graup as a l.essee. Leases where the lessor relains substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership ar,a classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized in profit or

loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group os a Lessor. Leases in which the Group cloes not *ansfer substantially all the risks and

benefits of orvnership ol the asset are classified as,cperating leases. lnitiai direct costs incurred in

negotiating arr operating lease are adderj to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized

over the lease term on the same bases as rent incorne. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue

in the period in which they are earned.

B-prrowinF Costs
Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a

qualifying ass,et. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the

asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are betng incurred. Borrowing costs are

capitalized until the assets are substantially ready Jor their intended use. lf the carrying amount of

the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded. All other

borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur.
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Foreign Currencv Denomilpted Transactiql$

Transactions dr:nominated in foreign currencies are iinitially recorded in Philippine Peso using the

exchange rate prevailing at the date of transaction. l/onetary assets and liabilities denominated in

foreign currenr:ies are restated at the functional currency using the rate of exchange prevailing at

the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences between the rate at transaction date and

settlement date or reporting date are crerdited to or charged against profit or loss. Nonmonetary

items that are measured in terms of hlstorlcal cost in foreign currency are translated using the

exchange rate ilt the dates of initial transactions'

lncome Taxes

Current Isx. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the

amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rate and the tax

laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substanlively enacted atthe end of

the reporting P'eriod.

Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting

p"iioA betweern the tax bases of assets and llabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset

revaluations. Deferred tax liability is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of an

asset or liabilrty in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit or oss nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income

tax liabilities are not provided on nontaxable temporary differences associated with investments in

domestic subsidiaries, an associate and interests in joint ventures.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporarY differences, carryforward benefits of

unused tax cradits {excess of minimum corporate income taxes or MCIT over regular corporate

income taxes or RCIT) and unused tax losses (net op,tirating loss carryover or NOLCO), to the extent

that it is probabie that sufficient future taxable profi't will be available against which the deductible

temporary differences and carryforward benefits of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utilized,

fhe carrying ?rmoufit of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probaLrle that sufficient future taxable profit will be

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax

assets are re-;rssessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it

has become probable that sufficient future taxablel profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that are expected to apply to the

period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rate and tax laws that have

been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset the current

tax assets against the current tax liabilities and the ceferred income taxes relate to the same taxable

entity and the same taxation authority'
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Deferred tax relating t0 items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss'

Deferred tax iterms are recognized in reration to the underrying transaction either in ocl or directly in

equity.

Relaled Parties;
parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to controlthe

other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating

deciSions. Parties are also considered to be relatr:d if they are subject t0 common control or

common signif icant influence'

A related part\/ transaction is a transfer of resource's;, services Or obligatiOns between a reporting

errtity and a related party, regardless of whether a prir:e is charged'

Provisions
provisions are recognized when the Group has a pre:;ent obligation (lega| or constructive) as a result

of a past ev€ilt, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be

required to sBttle the obligation, and a reliable e$timate can be nrade of the amount of the

obligation.

provisions are made using the best estintates of thr: amount required to settle the obligation and

are discountecl to present values using a pre-tax rate |hat reflects current market assessments of the

time value of money and the risks specific to the ob igation. Changes in estimates are reflected in

profit or loss in the period they arise"

Contineencies

Contingent liabilities

disclosed in the notes

resources embodYing

consolidated financial
probable.

are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are

to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of

economic benefits; is remote, Contingent assets are not recognized in the

statements but are disclos;ed when an inflow of economic benefits is

Events after tlrre RePorting Date

post year-endi events tfrat pioviOe additlonal inforrnation about the Group's financial position at

reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected irr the consolidated financial statements' Post

year-end everrts that are not adiustinS events are clisclosed in the notes to consolidated financial

staternents wnen material.

t stc"lfi*"t fiG*ent, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires

management to exercise judgment, make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts of assets'

liabilities, inc6me ard expenses reported in the consolidated financial statements' The judgment'

estlmates an,d assumptions used in the consolidated financlal statements are ba$ed upon

management's evaluatlon of relevant facts and cirr:umstances as of the date of the consolidated

financial statements. while management believrls that the assumptions are reasonable and

appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the

assumptions may materially affect the estimated amounts. Actual results could differ from such

estimates.



-26-

Judgment
ln the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following
judgment, apa,rt from those invoiving estimations, ivhich have the m,ist significant effect on the

amounts recoglnized in the consolidated financial statr3ments.

Recognizing Re:venue from Realfstote Sales Under PFRS L5, The recognition of revenue at a point in
time requires r:eriain judgment on when the customer obtain control overthe promised goods and

services. in det:erminingwhether control has been transferred to the customer, the Group considers

the following indicators:

. The Group has a present right to payment for the asset.

' The custorner has legal title to the asset.
. The Group has transferred physical possession oi the asset,

. The custorner has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.

. The custonner has accepted the asset.

For real estatr3 sales recognieed over time, the Group recognizes revenue using percentage of
completion nrethod. This method requires certain judgments based on the buyer's commitment on
the sale whicl'r may be ascertained through the sigrrificance of the buye/s initial investment and

completion of development. The buyer's commitment is evaluated based on collections and credit

standing of the buyers. The percentage of completion of development is determined based on

engineer's judgment and estimates on the physical portion of contract work done and that the

development is beyond the preliminary stage,

Real estate sales recognized amounted to F1,346,5 million, p1,366.6 million and F1,421.2 million
in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note Lgi.

Determining Functional Currency. Based on tl're economic substance of the underlying
circumsiances relevant to the Group, functional currency has been determined to b,e the
Philippine Peso. The Philippine Peso is the currency of the primary economic environment in

which the Group operates.

Determining the Classificotion of Aperoting Lease Contmitments - The Group as a Lessor. The Group
entered into ar nurnber of operating lease agreements as a lessor. As a lessor, the Group has

determined that it retains substantially ali the risks ;:nd rewards of ownership of the assets being
leased out under operating lease agreements.

The Group recognized rent income amounting ta P3",L73.7 million, F834.8 million and P696.0 million
in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note 18).

Determining the Clossificotion of Operoting Lease Commitments - The Group as o Lessee. The
Group entered into various cancellable lease agrerements with its related companies covering
AWCI's branches. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions
of the arrangement, that the lessor retains all the significant risks and benefits of ownership of the
properties and has classified the lease as operating lease.

Rent expense amounted to F23.2 million in 2016 {see Note 18).
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Determining the Ctassificotion af Finoncial lnstruments. The Group exercises judgments in

classifying a financial instrument on initiaI recognition either as a financial asset, a financial

liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractualarrangement

and the defin tions of a financial asset, a financial l ability or an equity instrument. The substance

of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, Soverns its classification in the consolidated

statements of financial position.

Determining tair Value of Financial lnstruments, PFFS requires certain financial assets and liabilities

to be carried at fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates. While significant

components 9f fair value measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence, the

amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Ciroup utilized dlfferent valuation methodologies'

Any changes in fair value of these financial assets wo.rld affect profit and loss and equity'

The fair value of the Group's financial assets and liahilities are disclosed in Note 25.

Determining l:air Value of lnvestments in Clubs' Prej'erred Shures. The Group establishes fair value

by using recent arm's length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties. The fair

value of investments in preferred shares of the Clubs is determined based on the current cash

selling price tr: third Parties.

The carrying value of investments in preferred shares amounted to P31,036.1 million and

P30,064.3 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 10)'

Determining ,Control, Joint Controt or Significont ln,fluence aver Gn lnvest^ee Company. Control is

presumed to exist when an investor has power o'rer the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to

variable returns from its involvement with the inveslee ancJ has the ability to affect those returns

through its p6wer over the investee. On the other hand, joint control is presumed to exist when the

investors contractually agreed to share control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions

about the relevant activities require the unanimcrus consent of the parties sharing control. The

Group has ass;essed it has control over its subsidiaries and joint control in alljoint arrangements'

The Group has a 50% interest in Alphaland l{eavy Equipment Corporation (AHEC} as at

December 31,2018 and 2017, The 6roup accounts for theSe investments as associate since

management has assessed that there ls no joint control between the parties.

Determining ttte Classificdtion of loint Arrangeffients. The joint venture agreement with BSP is

accounted for as a joint operation since the parties that have joint control of the arrangement, have

rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilitie:;,, reiating to the arrangement'

Classifying lnvestment Properties and Owner-Occupied Properties. The Group determines whether a

property qualifies as investment property. 1n makinB its judgment, the Group considers whether the

property generares cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity. Owner-

occupied properties generate cash flows that are;:ttributable not only to the property but also to

the other assets used in the production or supply process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to elarn rentals for capital appreciation and another

portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative

purposes, lf these portions cannot be sold sep,arately, the property is accounted for as an

investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the supply of goods or services

or for administrative purposes. Judgment is applierJ in determining whether ancillary services are so

significant that a property does not qualify as in\restment property. The Group considers each

property sep;rrately in making its judgment,
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Determining Tra'nsfers. Transfers between investment properties, land and development costs and

property and equipment of the Group are made after determining that there is a chanSe in use,

evidenced by ending of owner-occupation, cornmencernent of an operating lease to another party

or ending of construction or commencement of deverlopment with a view to sale' These transfers

are recorded using the carrying amounts of the invest:rnent properties, land and development costs

and property and equipment at the date of change in use'

The carrying arflounts of nonfinancial assets transferr,ed between investment properties, land and

development cc,sts and property and equipment are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

Noter zaLB 2aL7

Transfer from land and development costs to:

Property and equiPment

lnvestment ProPerties
Transfers from investment properties to:

Land and develoPment costs

Property and equiPment

12

11

1

11

F2,115,853

653,310
2,744

F-
2,425,353

327,319
19,471

Evaluating Legal contingencies. There are on-going litigations involving the Group which

managernent b,:lieves would not have a material adverrse impact on the Group's financial condition

and results of gperations. The estimate of the prob;tble costs for the resolution of possible claims

have been developed in consultation with legal counsel handling the Group's defense in these

matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results (see Note 26i'

Estimates and,Assum PtioLrs

The key assumptions concerning the future and otherr key sources of estimation uncertainty at the

financial reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financialyear are discussed below.

Recognizing Re.venue and Cost. The Group's rev,enue and cost recognition policies require

*unig**.nt to make use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of

revenue and cost. Revenue and cost from sale of real estate recognized based on the percentage of

completion ar{l measured principally on the basi:; of the estimated completion of physical

proportion of the contract work, and by reference to the actual costs incurred to date over the

estimated total costs of the project'

Revenue from AMpl,s sale of condominium units anrj preferred shares, ABIRC's sale of private villa

and land and ,ABMLHI's sale of log homes under a single contract to sell are allocated to each

conrponent using the residual method.

The fair value c,f the preferred share is measured at ils current cash selling price to third parties on a

stand-alone basis and the fair value of the cond,:minium unit is the residual amount of the

transaction price.

Revenue recognized based on percentage of completion amounted to F 1,345.5 million,

F1,366.6 millic,n and p1,421.2 million in 2018, 201.'7 and 2016, respectively (see Note 1"9). Cost

recognized ba:;ed on percentage of completion arnounted to p859,4 million, P834.3 million and

p1,094.9 million in 2018, 2017 and 201-6, respectivel!'(see Note 20)'
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Assesslng Expec:ted creditlosses. The Group estimates expected credit losses on trade receivables

and contract assets using a provision matrix that i:; based on days past due for groupings of

various custorxer segments that have slnrilar loss patterns. Depending on the diversity of its

debtor,s base, the Group uses its hlstorical credit l0ss experience adjusted for forward-looking

factors, as aPProPriate,

lmpairment losses recognized on trade and other receivables amounted to P 4'5 million'

F71.g million arrd F34.1 million in 201g, 2017 and 2{J16, respectively. The Group wrote-off trade

and other receivables amounting to F6'9 million in 2016' The Group recognized a reversal of

allowance for irnpairment losses amounting to F104.6 rnillion in 2018 (see Note 6)'

Allowance for impairment loss on trade and otlrer receivables amounted to F29'7 million

and p111.8 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 6)' Management

believes that thre allowance is sufficient to cover receivable balances which are specifically identified

to be doubtful r:f collection.

The aggregate carrying amount of trade and other receivables and advances to an associate and

related companies amounted to F4,894.3 miliion arrd F4,771-.5 million as at December 31' 2018

and20117, respectively (see Notes 6, 9 and 17)'

Determining Nt?V of Land and Developmeilt Costs and Psrking Lots for Sate' The Group writes down

the carrying value of land and developrnent costs and parking lots for sale whenever the NRV

becomes lower than cost due to changes in markei prices or other causes' The NRV of projects

under construction is assessed with reference tc' market price at reporting date for slmilar

cOmpleted property, less estimated costs to completr: the construction and estimated costs to sell'

The carrying v;rlue is revlewed regularly for any declin'e in value'

The carrying value of land and development costs amounted to P 2'808'0 million and

F3,g05.6 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Parking lots for sale amounted to

p:2tl.1million and F135.8 million as at December 3l-. 2018 and 20L7, respectively (see Note 7)'

Assessing Equity Securities Designoted os FVOCI {Fctrmerly Ctossified as AFS Financial Assets) for

lmpoirment. The Group assesses equity securities designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as

AFS financial assets)as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair

value below its cost or whether other objective evidence of impairment exists' The determination

of what is 'significant' or 'prolonged' requires judgrnent' The Group treats 'significant' generally

as 20o/o or rTrore of the original cost of investrnent, and 'prolonged' as period more than

12 months. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including future cash flows and the

discount factors for unquoted equities'

The Group,s,tquity securities designated as Fvo(ll (formerly classified as AFS financial assets)

amounted to P31,036.1 million and F30,064'3 nriilion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017'

respectivelY (see Note 10),

Estimating L)sefut Lives of Property ond Equipment, The Group estimates the useful lives of the

property and equipment based on the period over which these assets are expected to be available

for use. The estimated useful lives are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ

from previou:; estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and

legal or other limits on the use of these assets. ln addition, estimation of the useful lives is based

on cr:llective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with

similar asset$. lt is possibie, however, that futurre results of operations could be materially
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affectedbychangesinestimatesbroughtaboutbychangesinfactorsmentionedabove.The
amounts and tirning of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these

factors and circumstances,

There is no change in the estimated useful lives of depreciable property and equipment in 2018'

2017 and 2016. The carrying value of property and equipment amounted to P10'l'74'8 million and

F1,832,3millionasatDecember31,2018and2017'respectivelY(seeNotel2i'

Estimating lmpairment of Nonfinanciil! Assets. The Group assesses impairment on nonfinancial

assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these

assets may not be recoverable. The factors that the Group considers important which could

trigger an impairment review include the following:

r Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating

res u lts;

. significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall

business; and,

. Significant negative industry or economic trends'

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated

recoverable amount'

ln determininE, the present value of estimated future cash

thecontinueduseoftheassets,theGroupisrequiredto
canmateriallyaffecttheconsolidatedfinancialstatements'

No impairment loss on nonfinancial assets was recognized

amounts of nonfinancial assets are as follows:

flows expected to be generated from

make estimates and assumptions that

in 2018, 2017 and 2015. The carrYing

{ln Thousands)
2Afl?018Note

Other current assets*

lnvestment in an associate

PropertY and equiPment
Other noncurrent assets* *

I
9

12

13

F1,806,510

11,326

La,L74,8L2
141,931

F1,790,662

11.,326

1,832,348
224,226

* t ntuding reslr icted cosh -
*'Excluding noncurrent portion of trade rcceivobles ond relundoble Ceposits

Determining Fair Value of lnvestment Properties. The €roup engaged an independent appraiser to

determine the fair value of its investment properties' The fair values of investment properties were

based on the valuation performed in 2018, 2017 and 201-5' The fair values of the land were

determined using sales comparison and land development approach' Sales comparison approach

invorves the comparison of the rand to those that are more or ress rocated within the vicinity of the

appraised property and are subject of recent sales and offerings. lf there is limited data within the

area, the independent appraiser considers the expansion of the research on properties considered

comparable. ,qdjustments were made to arrive at the market value by considering the location' size'

shape, utility, desirabiiity and time element, Land development approach is basically a discounting

process wherein the present worth of the potential value of the property as "raw" land for

subdivision purposes may be estimated. The fair value of properties held for lease was determined
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using income (:apitalization approach which considers income and expense data relating to the

property bein61 valued and estimated it through capitalization process. Capitalization relates

income, usualllr a net income figure, and a defined value type by converting an income amount jnto

a value estimate.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values of investment properties

are discussed i11 Note 11.

Gain on fair value changes which was recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income amourrted to F7,453.5 million, F11,471.8 million and F10,007.1 million in 201"8, 2017 and

2016, respecti\/ely. Carrying values of investment properties amounted ta ?47,675.8 million and

P40,664.1 milli,on as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 11)"

Determining Foir Value of Property and Equipment Meosured ot Revolued Amount, The Group

engaged an irrdependent appraiser to determine the fair value of its serviced residences and

aircrafts. The fair value of the serviced residences was determined by an independent appraiser

using income capitalization approach which considers income and expense data relating to the

prop.rty being valued and estimated it through capitalization process. Capitalization relates

income, usuall'/ a net income figure, and a defined value type by converting an income amount into

a value estimate. The fair value of aircraft was determined using the market data approach. Market

data approach involves gathering of cost data from original import commercial invoices as well as

comparable sources of similar aircraft,

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair vaiues of serviced residences

and aircrafts are discussed in Note 12'

The revaluation surplus recognized in the equity section of the consolidated statements of financial

position amouinted toP3,103.5 million andF75.9 million as at December 31,2018 and 2017,

respectively. The aggregate carrying value of serviced residences and aircraft carried at fair value

amounted to F9,786,3 million and P1,534.7 miliion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively

(see Note 1.2).

Determining Retirement Benefit Costs. The determination of the Group's obligation and cost for

retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in

calculating such amounts, Those assumptions are described in Note 21 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Retirement expense amounted to P19.9 million, P6.4 million and P7.5 million in 2018, 2017 and

201.6, respectlvely. Retirement liability amounted to 844.5 million and F24.5 million as at

December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 21).

AssessinE Realizabitity of Deferred Tax Assets. The 6roup reviews its deferred tax assets at each

reporting date: and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that

sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be

utilized. There is no assurance that the Group will generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or

part of its deferrred tax assets to be utilized.
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Recognized deferred tax assets of the Group amounted to P6.7 million and F111,5 million as at

Decenrber 31,2018 and 2017, respectively. Unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to

F306.t) million and F217,2 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 22)'

Management believes that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to

allow all these deferred tax assets to be utilized.

4. Joint 0peration

On june 30,2Cr08, AMPI and BSP entered into a Joint Venture Agreement to develop the Malugay

property into a first class commercial development to be known as Alphaland Makati Place

(the ,,project"i whereby BSP shall contribute the Malugay Property while AMPI shall contribute the

improvements {the "Development Costs"} and its exclusive right (the "Leasehold Rights") over the

Malug;ay property, as well as to provide all necessary funds, equipment, materials, construction

works, expertise and related undertakings for the development of the Proiect.

The project consists of three high-end residential towers atop an upscale six-storey podium, the

bottom half of which is a shopping center and the top half a City Club for urban sports and leisure.

The project also includes a Boy Scout Convention Center as provided in the loint Venture

Agreement.

AMpl and BSP agreed to share at 85% and 15%, respeciively, of the total gross floor area of

completed anc disposable units in the Project, The 85% share of AMPI shall include The City Club

and tlie 157o slrare of BSP shall include the Boy Scout Convention Center, As provided in the Joint

Venture Agreement, AMPt shall submit progress reports of the development works in the Proiect on

a regular basis to BSP.

On June 2,203"\, BSP sold the Malugay Property to AMPI for a total consideration of 8600'0 million.

The amount ol consideration paid to BSP was then contributed by BSP to the development of the

project. The Lr:asehold Right was effectively terminated when AMPI acquired the land from BSP in

June 2011, Despite the sale, the Joint Venture remained and the partners continued the

85:15 Sharing licheme, The partners have amended the Joint Venture Agreement accordingly'

The Group accounts for the joint venture arrangement as a ioint operation. As at December 31,

2018 and 201;', the Group recognized its share in the development costs of the Project {excluding

the c6sts relatgd to the City Club - see Note 7) in the following accounts:

(ln Thousands)

Note zCI18 2017

Land and development costs and parking

lots fsr sale 7

11

F498,133
1?',274,473

F2,656,792

1.1,763,279lnvestment properties

..;m ,n"
Supplement expressly enumerates the specific units in the Project that constitute the BSP Share

with respect to the Podium, Tower L, Tower 2 and Parking Slots. The Supplement further provides

that the BSP Share in Tower 3 shall be determined in another Supplement,
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5. Cash and Cash tquivalents

This account cottsists of:

(ln Thousands)

2018 24fi

Cash on hand and in banks

Shicrt-terrn Placements F215,593F110,157

Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates'

Short-term pla,:ements are made for varying periods of up to three months' depending on the

jmmediate cash requirernents of the Group and earn interest ranging from 1'05% to 1'5% in 2018'

201"7 and 2016'

Sourcr:sofinterestincornerecognizedbytheGroupareasfollows(seeNotel9):

(ln Thousands)

Note 2018 2017 20L6

F106,888
3,769

F205,382
10,211

ln-house firancing
Trade and rther receivables

Restricted cash

1

6
oo

F13,280

1,998
951
804

P7,705

5,368
518

4,773

P8,381

9,490
419

1,345
Cash and cash equivalents

F17,033 ?77,764 F19,635

::l';#

O. frade and Other Receivables

This account crlnsists 0f

{ln Thousands)

Note 2018 ?o77

Trade recerivables f rom:

Sale of real estate

Air transPort services

Sale of club shares

Tenants
trlontrade
Clontract ;tssets

0thers

10

18

F990,218

334,214
55,145

88,075

60,145
7l7,61.a

58,246

F1,752,595
207,912

81,690

33,955
8,796

2A,4O2

1,803,653

129,7251

2,105,350

t1"11",846)
Less allor,t'ance for impairment losses

9L,773,928 F1,993,504

Receivables f'om sale of real estate and club shares have terms ranging from one to three years'

NOnCurrent pgrtign of these receivables are presented under "Other noncurrent assets" account in

the r:onsolldated staternents of financial porition (see Note 13). Amortization of interest on these

receivables amounting toP2.0 million, F5.4 million and P9'5 million in 201'8' 2017 and 2016'

respectively (see Note 5).
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The Ciroup enlered into memorandum of agreement with BDO whereby the Group assigns' with

recourse, its installment contract receivablei from the sale of Baguio log homes covered by CTS'

The 6roup retains the balance of assigned receivables ancl recorcls the proceeds from these

assignments as, bank loans. As at December 31,2018, trade receivables and contract assets assigned

amounted to F528,8 million and F39.2 million, respectively (see Note 15)'

Receivable frcrm air transport services are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and are due and

dema ndable.

Receivables from tenants are noninterest-bearing and are generally on a 30-day term'

contract assets are reclasslfied to trade receivables upon completlon of the performance obligation'

Nontrade receivables malnly pertain to receivables from related companies' officers and employees'

Advancestorelatedcompaniesareunsecured,noninterest-bearingandaredueanddemandable
(see Note 17). Advances to officers and employees are noninterest-bearing and are subiect to

liquidation.

other receivar:les mainly consist of sss claims and other receivables'

Allovrance for impairment losses pertain to receivables from several lessees of ASTI and unit buyers

of AlrlPl that .rre at least 90 days past due'

Movraments of allowance for impairment losses are as follows;

2018 2017

(ln Thousands

tlalance a I beginning of Year

fieversal of imPairntent loss

Changes on initial application of PFRS 9

F1.11,846

t104,609)
17,993
4,495

P39,906

71,944

P5,852

34,054
Provision:i

?29,725 P111,846 F39,906
llalance at end of Year

Reverrsal of inrpairment loss in 2018 pertains to forfeited sales of AMPI condominium unil' parking

lots and AFIi financial assets with related costs amounting to p171.5 million, F13'4 million

and P2.8 milllon, respectively (see Notes 7 and 10). As a result of the forfeiture' the Group

recognized loss on forfeited sales amounting to p104.6 million (see Note 7)'

ln afldition to the above write-off of allowance for impairment losses' the Group wrote-off trade and

otherr receivables amounting to P6.9 million in 2016 (see Note 20)'
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l*L*d t-d D.r.lop*.nt Costs and Parking Lots for Sale

This account consists of the following

2018

ln Thousands)

Land and develoPment costs:

Alphal;rnd Baguio Mountain Lodges

Balesin Private Villa

Alphaland Makati Place

?2,143,236
438,77t
225,988
272,L45

P1,050,767
234,816

2,52L,O42
1.35,750

Parking lotr: for salt:
F3,080,140 P3,942,375

Alphaland Basuio Mopqlain LogFes

Movements in land and develoPment

Project are as {bllows:

costs pertaining to the Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges

(ln Thousands)

NOtE 2018 2017

Balance at beginning of Year

Transfers
Additions:

DeveloPment 'losts
CaPitalized borrowing costs

11

i5
,l"v

F1,050,767
653,310

615,277

L27,644

{298,762

?480,743
220,371

788,563
49,868

(488,718)
Cost of re;rl estate sold \E'vr. Y-

77,143,236 Pl,A50,767
Balance at end of ',rear FL'tqr'Lrw

The Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges Pro.iect pertains to 16'8 hectares of land situated in Benguet

that is currently being developed as horizontal condominium for sale'

ln 2016 due to management's decision to develop the property as horizontal condominium for sale'

L3.1 hectare:; Of thr: property, was reclassifiecl from "lnvestment properties" to "Land and

development costs." ln 2018 and 2017, additional /'7 hectares and 3'7 hectares' respectively' were

reclassified to this account (see Note 11)'

As at December 31, Il01-8, capitalized depreciation expense included as part of development costs

amounteci to F4.8 million (see Note 12)'

on october 25,:2a7g,the Housing and Land use Regulatory Board {HLURB) issued a license to sell

for Alphalancl Baguicr Mountain Lodges project n'hich is valid not later than October 2019' the

completion o1'the approved development plan

ln November 2018,,qBMLHl started to sell log homes under in-house financinB arrangement at

30;"6 down pisymer']t, payat:le monthiy over a maximum of 5 years with interest rate at 9% per

annurt.

lnterest earned from real estate sales under

s).
As at Decemtrer 31, 2018, ABMLHI sold 27 log homes' l

in-house financing anrounting to FL1'7 million {see Note
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costs pertaining to the tsalesin Private Villa project are as

(ln Thousands)

t\lote 2018 2017

Balance at beginning ofYear

Ad d itions:
Development costs

Cancelled sale

CaPitalized borrowing costs

Co,st of real estate sold

Tr;a nsfers

I5

1"1

F234,816

305,?28
57,22?
23,313

{181,808)

P_

1"94,380

5,242
(71,8L4]}

107,008

Balance at end of'Year F438,77L P234,816

The Balesin F,rivate \,,illa pertains to 4.4 hectares of land situatetl in Balesin lsland that is currently

being developed as properties for sale.

Irr 201,7, due, to the commencement of clevelopment on the property with a view to sell' the

property was reclassified fronr "lnvestment properties" to "Lanrl and development costs"

(see Note 11),.

ln 2018, the Group cancelled a sale with related cost amounting to P57.2 million and a loss on

cancellation amounting to P92.8 million was recognized in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income under "Other gains (losses)" account.

Alphaland Makati .Place
Movements in land ;rnd development costs pertaining to the Alphaland Makati Place project are as

follows:

(ln Thousands)

l\ote 2017

Balance at beginning of Year
Transfer:; to:

Property and equiPment
I nves;tment F)roPertles

Cost of real estate sold

ArJdition:;:

Forferited sales

Deverlopment costs

.LL

1L

2A

6

15

F2,52L,047

(2,115,863)

(350,734)

17L,543

P4,803,547

(2,425,353)
(257,833)

Capit:alized borrowing costs

388,754

71.,927

Balance at end of year P225,988 P2,521.,A42

The Alphaland Makati place Project, which is a joint venture with BSP (see Note 4), is located on a

one-hectare lot along Ayala Avenue [xtension corner Malugay Street, Makati City. Alphaland Makati

place consists of three residential tovvers atop a six-storey podium comprising of a shopping center

and the city Club for sports and leisure (see Note '11), Towers L and 2 were completed in 2016 while

Tower 3 was completed in 2017'

2018
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Projr:ct cost classified as land and development costs pertains to the Group's proportionate interest

in the three residential towers of Alphaland Makati Place that are intended for sale. ln 2017, the

Group charrged its inlention to lease Tc,wer 3 to third parties instead of selling it as a condominium

unit. Accordingly, cost of Tower 3 was reclassified to "lnvestment properties" (see Note 11).

ln May 201.8, AMPI started its serviced residences operation under "The Alpha Suites." A number of

conclominiunr units of AMPI were utilized for its serviced residences. Accordingly, the costs of these

units were transferred to "Property and equipment" account (see Note 12).

The Group started the pre-selling of condominium units in October 2011 for Tower l and in
Novr:mber 2013 for Tower 2. The terrns and conditions of the CTS involve the sale of one

concl6miniunr unit and one City Club share, i.e., a preferred share of TCCAMPt, in which ownership

of the condominium unit and the City Club share are inseparable. Under the CTS, the components

are sold undr:r a single selling price with downpayment payable upon signing of the CTS and the

unpaid balance payable in monthly installments for a period of three years from date of CTS'

Owrrership of the City CIub share will allow the buyer to enjoy the amenities and facilities of the City

Club.

The Housing ,:nd Land Use Regulatory Boarcl issued the permanent License to Sell (LTS) to AMPI for

the sale of condominium units in Tower 1of Alphaland MakatiPlace on October 9,zAtZ and for the

sale of condominium units in Tower 2 on May 27,2A14.

As discussed in Note 4, on September 8,2015, the Parties executed a Supplement to the Joint

Venture Agreement enumerating the specific units in the Project that constitute the BSP Share with

respect to ther Podium, Tower 1, Tower 2 and Parking Slots.

AMF,I receive,l deposrts froni the sale of real estate. As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the current

portion amounting tr: P 13.0 million and P 91,4 million, respectively, were presented under

"Trade and other payables" account {see Note 14) and the noncurrent portion amounting to

P7.1 million as at December 31,2018 and 2017 were presented under "Other noncurrent liabilities"

account in the consolidated statements of financial position.

ln 2018, the Group forfeited a sale with related cost amounting to P171.5 million and a loss on

forfe,iture antounting to P 104.6 million was recognized in the consolidated statements of
comorehensirre income (see Note 6).

Parking Lots lor Sa.le

Movements in parking lots for sale are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

Note 20172018

[]alance at beginning of year
Purchase:;

Cost of real estate sold

l\dditions due to forfeited sales

2A

6

FL35,750
150,996

{28,050}
73,447

P151,725

(15,975)

ii.l"l* .t e^d of y.* F272,L45 P1"35,750

ln Miay 2016, AMPI started to seil

arrangement at 5% down payment,

at 89/o per annum.

condominium units and parking lots
payable monthly over a maximum of

under in-house financing
L0 years with interest rate
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.5.5 ai Dei:errther 33. :*is,.'i'$ pl s*td t*9 and 326 co'rdominiurn units and parking lots' respectively'

lnirre:*iearnedfl*mrealestatesalg5underin-housefinancingamountingtoPl..6million,
pt.i nrilit,rn and FS"rl nriilion in 2il18,2017 ancl20L6, respectively (see Note 5)'

8. Gther CurrentAssets

This account consists of

(ln Thousands)

Note 2018 2Afi

lnput VAT

Advances to contrartors and suppliers

Restricted cash

Supplies
Prepayments

26

P832,114

558,461

382,944
248,641

71,416
52,832
43,046

P94I,752
611,165

1,183

t27,837
52,52,263
28,32628,326
29,379

lnput VAT

lnput VAT arises frOm the acquisition of land and payments to suppliers and contractors for the

acquisitlon of goods and development of the Group's projects'

Advances to Cont-ractors and SupPlie.rs

Advances t0 cOntractors and suppliers represerrt advance payments to COntractors for the

constructlon and development of tlre Group's proier:ts and are recouped upon every progress billing

payment depending o1 ir,. percentage of accompli,shment' Advances to contractors and suppliers'

relating; to the portion of it',e proiect that iS classified as investment property and to advance

payments that will be appliecl against future billings beyond 12 months from the reporting date'

amounting toP1.8 million anciF138,4 million as at December 3l', 201'8 and 2017, respectively' are

presented under ,,Other noncurrent assets" account in the c0nsolidated Statements of financial

position (see Note 1-3).

Prepavments
Pr.pay*".is include prepaid rent, insurance and commissioning fees'

Restricted Cash

Details of restricted cash are as follows:

Def,erred rent
P?,189,454 P1,791,845F 4, J' OJ raJa

-. 

leffff

(ln Thousands)

2018 24fl

nent service reserve account (DSRA) 8378,834
2,9L7

3.,L93

P-

1,183
Escrow - license to sell

Esr:row - environmental funds
F382,944 P1,1"83
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fscrow - license to sell represents cash deposited r,vith sterling Bank of Asia, lnc., pursuant to theffiffif ,::,:J:?;:":J,;:'ff,J;o*'i'' in reiation to ilie cornpletion or Arpharand Baguio

Escrow - env'ironmental funds represent cash deposited with philippine Bank of communications(PBCom)' pursuant to the tnviro-nmental comptrance certificate issued to ABrRC relating to therehabilitarion of the Proiect-affectecl area throughr3ut 1,e conrtru.tion and maintenance of the
liiiliflXs;rhe 

funds shall be reptenisneJ annuattv ,r whenever the amount goes berow 50% or the

under the oLS'A' Asrl' AMPI' ABIRC (coiiectively, the llorrowers) are required to maintain a DSRA forthe security of interest an-d/or principrr i"prv**nts to the renders. The Borrowers are required todeposit cash to the DSRA equivalent ,l ,r,. uFlcoming interest and/or principar repayment(see Note 15)' as discussed in Note 1, the oLSA witl-r the lenders was preterminated and refinancedthrough BDo to finance new proiects and working capital ,uquir"*urrs of the Group.
interest incomr: earned from restricted cash amounted to p1.0 milrion, F0.5 miilion and F0.4 millionin 2018, 2017 and 20L6, respectively {see Note 5).

9. lnvestment in and ldrrn.*u toinl**irtu
This account consists of:

(ln Thousands
Note

2A77Investment in an associate
Advances to an associate 17

F11,3?6
1,023

P11,326

L,023

Details of investrnent in an associate are as follows;

(ln Thousands

Acquisition c,rsts: 2017

Balance ;rt beginning of year
Reclassification

P50,00o F58,000

_ (8,000)B.alance ai ena of year
50,000 50,000Accumulated equity in net loss

Balance at beginning of year
Equity in net inconre during the year
Reclassificatio n

,rr,u:, (38,043)

1,,391

_t2,A721Balance al end of year
38,674 (38,674)

lnvestment in an arssociale comprises of a 50i/o interest in AHEC whose principal activity involves saleand iease of heavy equipment as at December 31, 201g and 20j.7

212,349 P1"2 349



AHEC

0n April 5' 2013' the BoD of AHtc approved a res.lution to shorten the corporate life of AHEC tofour years' As at December 31, zoia, ;Fncls liquiclation is stilr in progress, The renraining carryingamount represents the Group's share in the residualnet assets of AHEC,

ASAI

79'999 cornmon sharers of ASAI representing 40% of its outstandingwas then accounted for as an associate. in October 2OL7, AL,HAfrom an existing shareholder forFll.Z million increasing ALpHA,s
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ATPHA initiafly subscribecj to
shares in March 2011, which
purchased additional 79,ggg
ownership to i3O%.

::Hffi:l 
financiat information of the associate prepared on the historicar basis of accounring are

{ln Thousands)
2018 2AfiCurrerrt astiets

Current liabilities
Net equity

F46,532
23,ggg
22,544

P46,532
23,ggg
22,644

{ln Thousands)

k
&n
n*

H
Ftbbb
&rbb
b
E-Jb
hb
b
b
h
P
tr'\

F
P
FT

h
FI
F
F

F
b
b
b
b
I

Reve n ue
2018 2A17* 20L6

costs and er{oenses F- Ftl'u4l p72,547P1.2,042P-

F* p4,776 (P2,824)*tncluding 
ASA| ap to Artoiillotz

The Group has not incurred any contingent iiabilities in relation to its investment in AHEC nor doesthe associate it:;elf has any contingent liabilities for i,rihich the Group is contingently liable as atDecember 31, 20tg and 2017.

The Group has not entered into any capital commitments in relation to its investment in AHEC anddid not receive any dividends from the associate in 2a7.n, 2a1.2 and 203.6.

10. Equity Securities Designated

This account con:;ists of:

as FVOCT {Formerly Ctassif ied as AFS finarrcial Assetsj

(tn Thousands
2018 2A17Unquoted Clurbs' preferred sharer

ABICI

TCCAMPI
F25,379,595

5,656,500
P24,491,,269

5,593,000
F31,036,095 F30,064,269
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The rollforwiard analysis of the account are as follours:

(ln Thousands)
lJote 2018 2A77

Baiance art beginning of year
Fair valuer adjustments

p30,064,269

1,094,339

{218,711)
103,400

2,79A

P30,257,222

58,146

(251,s00)

oo:

5ale of ecluity securities designated as FVOCI
(fornrerly classified as AFS fjnanciai
SSSet:S)

Add itional subscriptions
Additions due to forfeited sales

Cu rre nt
Noncu rrent

9ul!r9", at end of year
830,064,269

F 1,065,311
29,97a,774

F985,811

29,079,457

F30,064,269

"Jb
Hb
H

H
b
htt
kn

Fp
b
b
F
P
P
Fr
i

The preferrecl shares held by the Group are not required to gain control of the Clubs ancj areintended to be disposed of over time to third parti,es. The preferred shareholders are entitled toname one nominee per share to become a member and avail of the amenities and facilities of theClubs, uniess ias otherwise required by applicable lalvs. They are not entitled to vote and be votedfor in all meetings of the shareholders oJ'the clubs. The prefe rred shares have preference over theissuer's common shares in the distribution of assets in case of dissolution and liquidation.

The cost of the Group's investments in the preferrecl shares of Aglcl anclTCCAMpl includes the cashconsideration and the cost incurred and to complete rthe clubs, facilities.

a, ABICI

on February La,2011, ALPHA, ABIRC ancJ ABlcl e,ntered into a Development Agreement (DAlforthe development and construction of a resort club (the "lsland club,,). lt is agreed that ABIRCwill develop and construct the lsland club with ;\LPHA extending any financing required for thecompletion of the lsland club and its amenities in exchange for the ABICI shares. ABtct agreesthat the excess of the construction costs over the, par value of the shares issued by ABlcl shall betreated as additional paid-in capital. Furthermr:re, it was clarified that the ownership of thelsland ciub, its facilities and amenities will be tran:;ferred to ABlcl as cost is incurred.

On Fehruary 24,2011,, the Phiiippine SEC approv,_"d ABlCl,s Registration Statement on the lslandclub offer lihares for the primary offering of 391 of its class "u' preferred shares and secondaryoffering of its 3,5L9 class "B" preferred shares rtfffer Shares or Tranche L). ln 2013, the sECapproved l'BICI's Amended Registration statement to increase its offer price from F2,000,000per share to F3,000,000 per share. ABlcl filec in 2013 a Second Amended Registration
Statement to further increase its offer price to F:i,000,000, which is still subject for approval bythe SIC as at December 31,20].g.

ln 2012, ABIRC subscribed to additional Class "8" preferred shares of ABtCI totaling 3,0g0 shares,
As a consideration for the additlonal acquisitions of ABlcl preferred shares, ABIRC entered into asupplemental DA with ABlcl in June 2012 increasirrg its obligation to complete the lsland club,sfacilities' B)'virtue of these additional subscriptiorrs, ABIRC transferred investment properties toABICI amourrting to p453.3 million.

P3
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On Novr:mber 12,2012, the shareholders o'f ABICI approved an amendment to the ABlCl,s
shareholder structure whereby the additional 3,090 shares with par value of pL00 were split
into 6,18i0 shares iTranche 2) with a par value of P50 per share. As a result, ABIRC's subscription
to the above 3,090 shares was con,,/erted to 6,190 shares, On January 31",2013, the stock split
was approved by the SEC,

On January 5, ?A17, the sEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock of ABICI from
P2'1 million divided iilto 14,000 common shares with par value F100 per share, and
10,090 Class "E" preferred shares cjivided further into 3,910 Class "B-l" preferred shares with
par valuer of F100 a share and 6,180 Class "B-2" preferred shares with par value ofp50 a share to
F3 0 million divided into 20,000 common sharers with par value of p100 per share, and 1"5,000
Class "B" preferred shares divided further into 2,000 Class "B-l" preferred shares with parvalue
of F100 y:er share, tT,oaa class "B-2" preferred shares with par value of F50 per share, and
1,000 Class "B-3" preferred shares with par valui: of p200 per share.

On May 3L 2A17, ABIRC subscribed to additional 2,000 Class "B-2" preferred shares and
1,000 Cla,ss "B*3" (Tranche 3) preferred shares at a subscription price of F100 per share and
P200 per share, respectively, or an agBregate arrrount of F0.4 miilion.

ln April 2{113, ABICI and ABIRC executed a Letter Agreement wherein the parties agreed that the
differencr: between the budget under the supplementary DA and the actual construction costs
incurred will be treated as advancers to ABICI Advances to ABICI related to this agreement
amounte<i to P1,575.5 million as at December:!1, 2018 and 20L7 (see Note 17), ln 2015, ABICI
already firranced its own construction in the lslarrd Club.

ABICI's Tranche L and Tranche 2 preferred share,s entitle the holder for 14 and 7 free villa night
stay in ther lsland Club, respectively.

Thefairvaluesof unsoldsharesasatDecember:i L,20i.g andzalT areasfollows:

2018 24fl
Number of

Shares Amount*
Number of

Shares Amount*
Tranche 1

Tranche 2

Tranche 3

711
11.,966

1,000

P3,199,500
2?,179,995

200

754
12,000

1,000

F3,015,000

21,465,068
200

F25,379,595 F24,49\,268
*Amounts in thousonds.

b. TCCAMPI

ln October 2010, ASTI, AMPI and TCCAMPI entered into a DA for the development and
construction of a City Club in Alphaland Makati Place, tt is agreed that ASTI and/or AMpl will
develop and construct the Cit'y ClLib with Al/iPl extending any financing required for its
completion and anrenities in exchange for the TCCAMpI shares.

on December 9, 2010, the sEC approved l-ccAMpl,s registration of an aggregate of
5,000 preferred shares, with issue price of P100 per share, comprising of 500 shares to be
offered by way of primary offering and 4,500 shares by way of secondary offering.
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ln December 2010, ASTI, AMPI ancj TCCAMPI ,entered into a Supplemental DA to clarify that
under thr: DA, it is AMPI who has the primary orcligation to develop and construct the city club.
Moreover, it was clarified that, in consicJeration forthe City Club's construction, TCCAMpI agrees
t0 convert any and all advances provided by A:iTl and AMpl to additional paicl-in capitalas cost
is incurred' Furthermore, it was clarified that the ownership of the city club, its facilities and
amenitie:; will be transferred to TCCAMpI as cos.t is incurred.

The City Club was fully completed in january 201'/..

AMPI's A[:S financial assets are tnarked to markr:t using the fair value of p1.5 million per share asat December 31", 20L8 and 2017. There are 3,/'7t and 3,722 unsold shares as at December 31.,
2018 and 2017, respectively. As at December 31, 2018 and 2a1,7, the fair value of unsold shares
amountecl to F5,656.5 miilion arrcl F5,5g3 0 miilion, respectivery.

Unreal.ized Valuatlon gain on AFS FinancialAssets
The Group's l\FS financial assets is marked to marllet using the fair value equivalent to the cash
selling price o1'a recent sale to the public forthe uncluoted preferred shares.

Movements in the unrealized gain on AFS financial assets, net of related tax effect, are as follows:

([ Thousands)

20L8 2017
Balance at beginning of year
Effect of change in tax rate
Un realized valuation gain

2?.3,432,497

{1,301,805}
921,697

(160,701)

F23,574,500

52,33;
t94,4341

7 million and F89.2 million
13). No dividends were

Reclassificalion adjustments
Balance at end of year P27,991",679 P23,432,497

On December 19,2017, a new tax reforrn law, Tax Fieform for Acceleration and lnclusion (TRAIN),
was approved which provides amendments to sever;ll provisions of National lnternal Revenue Code
of 1997 (NIRC of 1997). This will be effective beginning January 1", 2018. capital gains tax (CGT)
from sale of shares of stock not traded in local stock exchange is amended from 5% on the first
P0.L million and 10% in excess thereof based on NIRC of 19g7 to a f lat rate af 15%on TRAIN.

on various dates in 2018, AMPI and ABTRC sold 3!i and 5L shares, respectively, with fair values
aggrsgatingP218.7 millionatrespectivedatesofdisposal inresponsetoliquidityrequirements. The
cutlulative net gain on disposal amounting to P18,9.1 million, gross of tax effect, was directly
reciassified to retained earnings in 2018, Gain orr sale of AFS financial assets am0unting top123'2 million and P108.5 million in2a1J and 2016, respectively, were presented in profitorloss.

Receivabie arising from the sale of AFS financial asser::; amounted to F62
as at Decemberr 3L,2018 and 2017, respectivery (see Notes d and
recognized in 2018, 2017 and 2016.

As at December 3L, 20i.8 and 20L7, deposits receir,'ed from buyers of club
F380.3 million ernd p239.2 million, respectively, were presented under ,,Trade

account in the consolidated statefnents of financial pc,:;ition (see Note 14).

shares amounting to
and other payables"
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11. lnvestment Properties

Movements in this account are as foiiows:

(ln Thousands)
tv4g 2018 2aL?

Balance at beginning of year
Fair value change 7,4sa,sh6 tl,47L,glg
Additions;

Capital expenditures L77,Og6 12,634Purchases 31,6g1 zo,gzs
Capitalized borrowing costs l_5 * d )lz

Transfers from (to):
Land and development cost 7 1653,310) 2,09g,034
Propert;y and equipment J,,)_ 12,2441 ll9,4t1)Rescission of:
Dispos;rl 9,000
Sale

Pirposars ----: ''ii;313iBalanceat.ndffi=.:-.---- =____f4?4lid12= ,. F40,664,073

lnvestments carried at fair value consist of the following:

(ln Thousands)

2018 201.7
Alphaland Southgate Tower
Alphaland Balesin tsland property

Alphaland h4akati place:

Tower 3.

Podium
Patnangunan Property
Baguio Property
Silang Prop€ rty
Atimonan Property

F11,463,356

9,566,450

8,672,092
3,549,391
5,296,26A
4,744,557
4,390,01,2

14,744

F10,11"4,716

8,355,753

B,214,ggg
3,549,391
1,772,459
4,443,152
4,2O0,O'.J.1.

14,744

o,rffi"r-a*, 
=-=:.-*rll*Ii*2 -' ?io'66i'9-i '

ln January 2008, ASTI acquired from South China Resourrces, lnc. ancl the puyat family two parcels of
land measuring il total af g,497 square meters, more or less, at the corner of EDSA and Chino Roces
Avenue in Makati City together with the existing impro,;ements thereon. The property is now a fully
deveioped and operationaj 20-storev office tower hullding with a E-storey podium known as
Alphaland Southgate Tower. lt was declared an lnfornration Technology Zone on January 1,2,2009
by the Philippine Economic Zone Authority, pursuant lro Presidential proclamation No. 1692 dated
December 22,2C\08.

Rent income frorn Alphaland Southgate Tower includir,6lcommon utilities, services and maintenance
charges amounted to P779.8 miilion, F740.3 million and F624.5 million in 201g, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. Direct costs related to rent income amounted to F186.7 million, pllg,L million and
F111'3 million in 2018, 2A17 and 201,6, respective y, which mainly comprised of utilities and
comnrissary costs (see l,!ote Lg).
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11. tnvestment nroperties

Movements in this accouni are as follows

Balance at Uegirut,ng;il;; l\ote
201,7

Fair value change P40,564,Q73 --w?PU,;171r,
Adrjitions; 7,453,515 71,471,g19

Capitalexpenditures
Purch,ases 177,095 n,$4
Capitalized borrowing costs 1.5 

31,581 za,g25
Transfers {iom (toJ: - r'r 

4,212
Land and development cost
Property ,no 

"q,ltpn,"ot 
'7 1653,310) 2,098,034

Rescission of: 
_ _-e.H'.i!,,r L2 Q,244) 

, 
tts"i)t1

Disposral

Sale 5,000

Disposals , - {21G,279)

lnvestments carried at fair value consist of the following:

(ln Thousands

ln Thousands)

Alphaland Sourhgaie tov,rer
Alphaland Balesin lsland property
Alphaland t\,Iakati place:

Tower 3
Podium

Patna ngunar.l property
Baguio propr:rty
Silang Property

P1.1.,463,356

9,555,450

g,672,Agz

3,549,391
5,296,260
4,744,557
4,390,a1.2

L4,704

p1.0,114,716

9,355,753

g,2L4,ggg

3,548,391
1,772,459
4,443,152
4,2A0,A11

14,7A4

Atimonan prtperty

2AL7lmri*!f

fr,qy

-\!C
nrrd

r..ry
titd
qt
qry
\tp
h,_;f
-,t$
t
;f
&c

F47,575,812 P40,664,073
AIAlphaland Southsatg TowCI

i:,.iJH::l-l[:;i:Iil?*,1':::::::-:l]-i1::,.,1:es, ,nc and the puyat rami,ytwo parce,s orllx ff il il'ff :, ::r',: : ff : : ;Tt ;":**i:::: :j;:: :i 
'; 

: i j :;": y: JiI ifli [T;'j::]
lffi [ :: T::' : ;:.I. l;';j i L:*,::" i* ::;i':::{l : [: ; il il:'::I " ilJ ; :jiili :ltr j ffi;
ffil.jiJ#,:::d,fi 

,1:ili 
iff :,:: " :T* t" ; 

1 
; ;ffi ;, fl ,T"l "; f"lJ,iffilH x,,H j, :I

il'ffJ Tl ;";ff i:: # n,.: : x :^.: ::;":: ii: i,: ril', J il" ffi :';:'J :j,il,,I ryff;llJffJi?:;;::",,,ic Zone nutnoritf p;;;.;, i::il:,,r.Jffi?il.1ilT:iiH.Ir;rr,ri?:;December 2A,2A0g,

Rent income from Alphalancl 5outhgate Tower including common utilities, services and maintenancecharges amounteri to P77g'8 milliJn, uzoo.: miltion arrrj F624.6 miilron in 2018, 20rr and 2016,respectiveiy' Direct costs related to rent income amounted to p1g6.7 million, p179.1 million anci
:#l1rJliil,,'i,i:'fi;.|o,d and 2016, respectiverv, which mainry comprised or utirities and:

#
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fhe property currently secures the iong-tet'm l(lan facility of ALPHA

(see Note L5). The same property was used to secure the long-term debt
in 2017.

As discussed in Note 1, ASTI is currentlr/ in negotiartions with a third party

Southgate Tower, However, as at ianuary 29 2019, there is no definitive
sale. The sale is conditioned on obtaining relevant regulatory clearances

under OLSA with BDO

of ASTI which was settled

for the sale of ,Alphaland

agreement regarding the

Alnhaland Billesin lsland Property
ABIRC acquired approximately 394 hectares of land in Balesin lsland, Polillo, Quezon. Additional

12 hectares were also acquired via land-for-sharet swaps with existing Balesin lsland landowners.

This brings the total land ownership to 406 hectares. Of this total, approximately 98 hectares in

2017 and 2016 were con:mitted for transfer to AtllCl (see Note 10), The transfer of certificates of

title is currerrtly being processed.

Certain lots ernd improvements in Balesin lsland currently secure the long-term loan facility of ALPHA

under OLSA ,*ith BDO. The sanre lots secure the loans payable obtained by ABIRC on May 21",2013

and March 2'3,2012 which were seltled tn2017 (seer Note L5),

ln 2017, ABlllc started the development of certain portions of its land for sale. Accordingly, these

portions were reclasslfied to "Land and developmerrt costs" account (see Note 7).

{lphaland MakatiPlace
This represents the Podiunr and Tower 3 at the A,lphaland Makati Place. The Podium is currently

operated as a mall and is for lease to third parties (see Notes 4 and 7). ln 2017, the Group

reclassified Tower 3 from "Land and development costs" to "lnvestment property" account due to

change in intention over the property from con,Cominium units for sale to a property held for

leasing. The: change in management's intention was evidenced by actual change in the use of

property (seer Note 7).

Rent income earned from Alphaland li,4akati Placr: amounted to F393,9 million, P94.5 million and

F71.4 million in 2018, 20L7 and 2016, respectively. Direct costs related to rent income amounted to
P42.5 miiliorr,F1'3.7 million and 810.3 rnillion in 2018, 2017 and 201.6, respectively, which mainly

comprised of utilities and commissary costs (see Note 18).

The propert,y currently secures the long-term loan facility of ALPHA under OLSA with BDO

{see Note 15). The property, including the projer:t cost classified as land and development costs

{see Note 7), used to secure the long-term debt obtained by AMPI which was settled in 2017 (see

Note L5).

Patnanungarr Property
ln 2016 and i1015, the Group acquired parcels of land aggregating approximately 385.6 hectares and

325,3 hectares of land, respectively, in Patnanungan, Quezon, This brings the total land ownership

to 711..0 hectares, more or less, which is reserved fr:r future development.

ln December 2A77, the Group sold 2.0 hectares to Red Sun Capital Holdings Corporation for
P8.0 million, resulting to a gain amounting to P2.1 rrrillion. ln 2018, the contract to sell was rescinded

resulting to a loss amounting to P2.1 million.

ln December 201.8, the Group acquired 42.2 hectares with a carrying amount of P31.7 million. This

brings the iol.al land ownership to 753.2 hectares.
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Baeuio Profrertv
This conslsts of parcels of land and related trarrsaction costs acquired by the Group (through a

wholly-owned subsidiary) from various sellers irr July 2015. The beneficial owner of the entire
property is IlVo, the majority shareholder and Cha,irman of ALPHA,

These parcels of land, measuring approximately 73.4 hectares as of the end of 2015, of rolling
terrains are situated in ltogon, Benguet, just ten nrinutes from Baguio City by land. RVO likewise
transferred to the Group rights to another 2.9 lrectares of land to complete the total area at

75,3 hectarers. The Group is developing the property into the Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges.

The fair value of the property based on an indeperndent appraiser's report dated October 22, ?Ot9,

November 1.0,zAfi and December 2,2A16 is at 119,000 per square meter or a total of P4,7 billion,
F7,353 per square meter or a total of F4.4 bil.ion and P5,900 per square meter or a total of
P3.6 billion, respectively.

The Group acquired the property irr 2015 at its zonal va lue, or a total acqulsition cost of
P106,0 milli,cn, which is substantially below the appraised value. As a consideration to RVO for
having sold the property at its zonal value, RVO shall have a 1.5% interest, t0 be finalized upon
conclusion of the project, without need of any furtlrer investment or equity infusion. The Group will
shoulder all development costs required for the project.

ln 20L6, due to management's decision to develop the property as a horizontal condominium for
sale, 13.1 hectare of the property was reclassiiied to land and development costs. Additional
7.7 hectares and 3.7 hectares were reclassified tr: land and development costs in 2018 and Z0!7,
respectively (see Note 7).

ln 2017, the Group started the development for thre initial phase of the project and the Group also

acquired additional land, measuring4.). hectares. The total land area of the property approximates
77.5 hectares as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Silang Properly
ASTI's three parcels of land in Silang, Cavite, measr:ring a total of 300,000 square meters, more or
less, is reserved for future development. The property currently secures the long-term loan facility
of ALPH,A under OLSA with BDO (see Note 15).

Atimonan Propertv
ABIRC's land in Atimonan, Quezon Province, measuring a total of 21,005 square meters, more or
less, is resenred for future developmenl..

The fair valr"re of the investment properties as at December 31, 2015 is based on valuations
performed by accredited independent appraisers. As at December 31,2018 and 2017, the
management evaluated that the carrying value of the investment property approximates the fair
value as at r,sporting date since there were no significant changes in the condition of this property

and economic environment between those dates.

PAGCOR Citl Propertv
ln December 2015, the Group (through a wholly-civned subsidiary) acquired PAGCOR City Property
at its zonal value of P50,000 per scuare meter or a total of P198.9 million. However, on

January 3"1,2A1,7, the parties agreed to rescind the purchase whereby the Group returned and

delivered to the Seller the titles to, and all other vig[15 over the property. ln turn, the Seller

returned the full Purchase Price of the Property an,C other costs to the Group
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The description of the valuation techniques used and key inputs to fair valuation are as follows:

I ncome Cap italilation Approach

Stabilized net operating
incorne (NOi)* Capitalization rate

21118 24fl 2018 201"7
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Alphaland Southgate Tower
Alphaland Makati Place:

Tow,tr 3* *

Podium

F576,:169

509,rr11

P542,4?9

4s8,026
67,968

5.00%

5.00%
2.00%

539%

5.00%
2.AA%67,1,68

'ln thousonds.
rtReclcrssiJisi frsnt "Land ond develapment costs" actaunt in 20:17.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorized within Level 3 of

the fair valu,e hierarchy of the entity's portfolios oJ'lnvestment properties are:

c Stabitized NOI: calculation used to identifu performance of an investment property that

produces stable income,

. Capitoli;:ation rate: rate used to estirnate the p,61s611.1 return of the investrnent property.

lncome capitalization approach is a comparative approach, which considers income and expense

data relating to the property being valued and estimated it through a capitalization process,

Capitalization relates income and a defined value t'ype by converting an income amount into a value

estinrate. I'his process may consider direct relar:ionships (known as capitalization rates), yield or

discount rat,es (reflecting measures of return on inv'estment), or both.

S€nsitivity Anolysis. Ger:erally, an increase (decrr:ase) in stabilized NOI will result in an increase

(decrease) tr: the fair value of investnrent propert'/. An increase (decrease) in the capitalization rate

will result in a decrease (increase) to the fair value of an investn-lent property. The capitalization

rate magnifies the effect of a change in stabilized l(Ol, with a lower capitalization rate resulting in a

greater impact of a change in stabilized NOlthan arhigher capitalization rate.

lYarket Data.Approqch

Range

Class of
Prolect Property Significant Unobservabler lnputs 2077

Alphaland Balesin Land price per square meter
lsla nd

Atimonan

Patnanungan

Value adjustments (for clevelopment)

Land Price per square fileter
Value adjustments

Land Price per square meter
Value ad]ustrrents

P1,500-P9,615 P950-F7,000

L89%-339% t90%-272%

F1,200-F3,600 P1,200-83,600

4A%-80% 40%-80%

F1,000 F400-F950

3A% 5%-35%

The significant unobservable inputs to l'air valuaticrn are as follols:

Price per square meter: estimated value prevailiing in the real estate market depending on the

location, area, shape and time element.
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Value adjustme'nts: adjustments are made to bring the comparative values in approximation to the

investment p16perties taking into account external factors (market conditions, competitiveness,

economic conilition/demand/growtl^r, time element,l and internal factors (location, size/shape/

terrain and develoPment)'

ln valuing the lilnd using sales comparison approach, records of recent sales and offerings of similar

land are analy:red and comparisorrs were made for such factors as size, characteristic of the lot,

location, qualit'y and prospective use'

Sensitivity Analysis, The following factors were considered in determining the market value of the

subject properl.Y:

o property location and neighborhood data

r present use of the property is either commerciaUresidentiallagricultural

r quantitative market value adjustments based on,external and internalfactors

. highest ancl best use {commercial and residential building/resort and its allied development)

Significant increase {decrease) in price per square meter would result in a significantly higher (lower)

fair value measurernent. Significant increase (decrease) in value adjustments would result in a

lower (higher) ]'air value measurement'

Land Developnrent APProach

December 31, ?018

Significant Unobservable lnP ut Baguio Silang

Period of land dr:velopment and selling program

Administrative,/nrarketing cost

lnterest rate sel€:cted for discounting

Developer's profit

Proposed selling Price

Calculated no. o'l' subdivislon lot

Land value,/annual increment of land value

Significant Unobservable I nPut

5 Years
7% of gross sales

t4%

20% of development cost

Ir45,000 - F55,000

320 lots

25%

5 '6 Years
L2% of gross sales

L2%

20% of development cost

F18,000 - p26,400

175 - 486 lots

lAYo-20o/o

December 31,20L7

Baguio Silang-

Period of land development and selling program

Ad ministrative/rnarketi ng cost

lnterest rate selected for discounting

Developer's proiit

Proposed selling price

Calculated no. o1'subdivlsion loi

Land value/annual increment of land value

20% ol ,levelopment cost 20% of development cost

5 years

7% of gross sales
1no/Ln /a

ia40,000 - 850,000

320 lots

25%

5 - 6 years

t2% of gross sales
1 10/tz /o

F18,000 - F26,400

175 - 486 lots

l1Yr20%

Using the lanr1 development approach, the prop,:rties are treated as mixed-used subdivision

development ;ind the gross sales that may be expected from the proposed saleable lots are then

estimated in accordance with the prevailing price$ of comparable development subdivision lots

within the imnrediate vicinity. Overhead and sales €XPeflses, and developer's profit, the residual

sales income is then attributed to the "raw" land value.



-49-

The valuation t)rocess consists of the following:

r Preparation of a subdivision study in accordarrce

(i.e. residential subdivision development)of the land;

with the highest and best use concept

r Establishment of total revenue or proceeds of sales of subdivision lots on the basis of what

ready-to-build sites in similar subdlvisions are selling;

r Determination of development costs corrsisting of clearing and grading, sllrvey, tilting services,

construction of access roads, roadways, curbs and gutters, sewerage and drainage system,

water supply and electrical distribution, rip-raprping and supervision and other contingency

items considering current prices for construction materials, labor, contractol's profit and

overhead expenses;

. Estimation of overhead and sales expenses such as broker's commissions, promotion and

advertisernent, ad ministrative a nd collection, tar:es and miscella neous expenses.

Sensitivity Anolysis. Significant increase (decrease') in lar-rd value, proposed selling price and

calculated no. of lots woulcl result in a significerntly higher (lower) fair value measurement.

Significant increase (decrease) in administrative and marketing costs and developer's profit would

result in a lower {higher) fair value measurement.
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ln May 2018, the Group reclassified a number of ,:ondominium units of AMPI from "Land and

development costs" to "Property and equipment" account due to change in intention over the
property from condominium units for sale to a property operated as serviced residences. The

change in mairagement's intention was evidenced by an actual change in use of the property
(see Note 7).

Fair-Vql ue Meilsu re ment
ln 2018, the Group adopted the revaluation nrodel for the measurement of its serviced residences.
The fair value of the Group's serviced residences as determined by an independent appraiser on
October 1"9, ;1018 using the lncome Capitalizatir:n Approach amounted to 88,229.0 million.
The differencer between the fair value and the carrying amount of the serviced residences

amounting to II4,245.0 mlllion was recognized as rerrilluation increase. The fair value measurement
for serviced residences has been categorized as Level 3 (significant unobservable inputs).

ln 2016, the 6roup adopted the revaluatir:n model for the subsequent measurement of its aircrafts.
The fair valu,e of the Group's aircrafts as detr:rmined by an independent appraiser on
December 12,2018 and Novenrber 7,2017 r-rs;ing Market Data Approach amounted to
FL,446.1, milliori and F558.5 million, respectively. l'he difference betweerr the fair value and the
carrying amourlt of the aircrafts amounting to PL20 l million and P9.5 million was recognized as

revaluation increase in 2018 and 2017, respectively, The fair value measurement for the Group's

aircraft has beern categorized as Level 3 (significant unobservable inputs).

The revaiuation surplus recognized in the equity seclion of the consolidated statements of financial
position amounted to F3,103.6 million and P75,9 rrrillion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respective ly.

The carrying amount of property and equipment rneasured at revalued amount had they been
recognized at ccst are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

2018 2Afi
Serviced residences
Aircrafts

P3,952,533
974,587 1,424,61,7

P_

?4,927,714 ?L,424,61,1"

lncome Capitaliization Approach
As at December 31, 2018, the stabilized NOI and capitalization rate used for the fair valuation of
serviced residences amounted to P411.4 million and 5i.0%, respectively.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fairvalue measurement categorized within Level3 of
the fair value hierarchy of the entity's serviced residences are:

t Stabiilzed AlOl: calculation used to identify perl'ormance of a property that produces stable
income.

t Copitalization rote: rate used to estimate the pot3ntial return of the property.ry
B
m
B
hlr#
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lncome capitalization approach is a comparative approach, which considers income and expense

data relating to the property being valued ancl estimated it through a capitalization process'

Capitalization relates income and a defined value type by converting an income amount into a value

estimate. This process may consider direct relationships (known as capitalization rates), yield or

discount rates (reflecting measures of return on investment), or both.

Sensitivity Anolysis. 6enerally, an increase (decrease) in stabilized NOI will result in an increase

{decrease) to the fair value of serviced residences. An increase (decrease) in the capitalization rate

will result in a decrease (increase) to the fair value of serviced residences. The capitalization rate

magnifies the effect of a change in stabilized NOl, with a lower capitalization rate resulting in a

greater impact of a change in stabilized NOI than a higher capitalization rate.

Market Data APProach
ln determining the fair value of aircrafts, cost data were gathered from original import commercial

irrvoices and ;rs welI as the comparable sources of similar machinery and equipment and used of

prices and other relevant information generated by market transactiorl involving similar asset, The

fair value was determined by reference to the replacernent cost translated at the current foreign

exchange rate.

Sensitivity Anulysis. Significant increase (decreasei in replacement cost and exchange rate would

result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement'

Further inforn:ation about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in Note 25'

Depreciation and amortization is recognized under the following aCCounts:

(ln Tlrousands)

Note 2018 20Ll 2016

F298,781
2r12b 84 L2l

p17_4.481 P121,737Propertv and equiPment

k"iltiJare 13

111" \fr7

-tu'lil
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13. Other Noncurrent Assets

This account cc)nsists of:

(ln rhgu:g1dt|__
Note 7AL7

lnput VAT
Refundabl€: dePosits

Prepayments
Receivables from sale of:

Club sl"rares

Real estate
Software - net
Advances to contractors and suppliers -

net of current Portion
0thers

10

6

8

F95,321
36,229
t5,761

7,556
4,868

3,747

L,769
25,333

p50,464

48,258

7,556
41,532

77

138,352
25,333

F190,584 P321.,572*.,m '"'
These are refundable upon termination of service of Meralco'

The movements in software are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

Note 24fi
Cost

Balance at beginning of Year
Additions

p8,040

5,796

F8,040

13,836 8,040Balance at end of year

Accumulated Amortization
Balance at beginning of Year
Amortization 12

7,963
2,776

7,879
84

Balance at end of year 10,089 7,963

Net Carrying Amount

20x8

"*
ffi

m

..[G

-aF
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14, Trade and 0ther Payables

This a{:count consists of:

(ln Thousands)

N cte 2018 2A!7

Trade
Nontrade
Reterntion payable
Deposits from sale r:f:

Preferred sharers

Real estate
,{ccrued expenses;

lnterest
Construction costs
Others

Unearned income
Others

;t6

10

7

F1,777,O6L
560,247
409,037

380,252
13,005

188,29:.
186,773

19,495

105,065
257,835

F1,030,804

447,5t4

239,165
91,415

15,376
873,676

16,359
99,256
36,007

P3,896,062 P2,908,583

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are due for payrnent within 30to 120 days.

Nontrade payables are noninterest-bearing and are due and demandable. These pertain to
purchases of assets.

Accrued expenses mairrly pertain to accruals for development costs and general and administrative

expenses. Other payables consist cf government payables. Accrued expenses and other payables

are generally sr:tlled within one year.

Unearned income pertains to unearned rental.

15, Long-term Debt

Presented below are thre details of this account:

(ln Thousands)

2018 ?077

Borrower Current Noncurrent Total Current l'loncurrent Total

ALPH,A

AAPI

AAI

ABMt.HI

F1,053,655 ?4,467,355 P5,521,020 P973,389 P5,227,985 P6,20L,374
48,765 778,973 t67,738 45,270 167,742 2L3,072
55,310 74,831 130,141 52.915 129,319 182,234

66,232 313,800 380,032

P1,27.3,962 F4,974,969 F6,198,931 p1,,071,574 P5,525,046 F6,596,620
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ALPHA

amnibus Losn ond Security Agreement with BDO

On February 15, 2017, ALPHA entered into an OLSA with BDO for a loan facility of P5,500.O million to

refinance the e):isting lcrans and to finance new projr:cts and working capital requirements of the

Group. The lo,an has a term of seven years, pay;able in ?5 quarterly principal amortizations

commencing onr3 year after initial drawdown date. This loan facility was subsequently increased to

p6,7263 million in the last quarter of 2A17. Loarr cJrawdowns aggregated P400.0 million and

p6,2g5.0 million in 2018 and2Afi. ALPHA had undrawn borrowing facility available amounting to

F40.0 million as at Decenrber 31,2018.

lnterest, which is based on the sum of the Fixed Tranche lnterest Rate and the Floating Tranche

lnterest Rate, is payable quarterly, Fixed Tranct-re Interest Bate is the sum of the prevailing

seven-year PDS1'-R2 ratet plus 2.75% spread per annurn. Floating Tranche lnterest Rate is the higher

of the sum of the prevailing three-month PDST-R2 rate plus 2.75Y, spread per annum or the sum of

the prevailing di:posit facility rate adopted by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas for deposit facilities

with a term of 2i3 days plus 1".25% spread per annum.

Effectiveinterestratesc,f thelong-ternrdebtrangefr0m5.0%to9.1%and 4.8%to 8.1%perannum

in 201g and 2017, respectively. lnterest expense rr3co8nized in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income amounted to P292.3 nrillion arrd F268.2 million in 2018 and 2017.

The OLSA with BDO is secured by: a) realestate mortBage over the lots and improvements in Balesin

lslancl, propertiers in Alphaland Southgate Tower, Alphaland Makati Place and Silang Property with

an aggregate anrount of F39,600.0 million and P38,42i3.0 million as at December 31, 2A18 and 20Il 
'

respectively (see Notes tLl" and 12); b)Continuing Surety Agreement with ALPHA, ABlCl, ABIRC, AMPI

and AST;; and ci Share lvlortgage in Alphaland Propertv Management Corporation, ABIRC and ABlCl.

The long-term lc,an with BDO under the OLSA dated February L5,2017, with outstanding amounting

to p5,653.2 million inclusive of interest and adjustrnents as of January 23, 2019, was assigned

effective on ther same clate by BDO to Philippine Eank of Communications - Trust and Wealth

Management Group pursuant to an Assignrnent Agreement dated january 23,20L9 between the

parties,

The scheduled maturities of ALPHA's outstanding loans as at December 31, 2018 are as follows

(in thousands)r

20L9
)n)o
2021 and onwards

P1,065,725
L,065,725

3,453,609

Less deferred financing cost

5,595,059
(74,039)

P5,521,020
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The details cf th€ loans refinanced in 201"7 through

{in thousands):

the 0LSA with BDO are as follows

Carrying Amount on the
Date of Refinancing lnterest

RatesBorrower Bank

ASTI pB{:0m
Purpose of the Loan

ABIRC

ABMLHI

AMPI

PN3

DBP, LBP, BOI:

ancl MayBank

P2,477,L66

1,009,606

723,335

351,270

4.7% 10 5.6%

5.9%

5.8%

5.O%to 6.4%

Refinancing existing OLSA vrith 6D0 Unibank and

for financing of general corporate business

Partiolly refinancing the loarr facility and partially

funding the capital expenditures and other
general corporate expenses of r\BIRC

Partially financing the constructio.r and

development of elphaland Baguio Mountain
Lodges Project

Partlally financi ng the development, construction
and operation of the Phase I of Alphaland

Makati Place

74,561,37]

The refinancecl loans are secured by (a) Alphaland liouthgate Tower; (b) real estate mortgage over

lots in [ialesin lsland; ic) continuing suretyship dSr€,3ment with ALPHA; (d) deed of pledge covering

1,000 ABICI prr3ferred shares held by ABIRC; (e) corp,rrate guarantee of ASTI; (f) properties located in
parafraclue City; {C) Alphaland Makati Place; and (h) Silang property. Total carrying value of the

collateral amounted tc) F83,013.5 million as at Decernber 31,2016'

lnterest expense pertaining to the refinanced loans amounted to P45.9 million and F223"3 million in

2017 ard 2016', respectively.

Loan Facility with PBC<>nl

On February 7!,2A16, ALPHA entered into an OLSA with PBCom for a loan facility of P480.0 million

for the purpose of financing the general corporate purpose of ALPHA. On Febrtrary 11, 2016 and

May 11,2016, ALPH;\ made the first and seconcl drawdown amounting toP400.0 million and

P80.0 rrr illion, respecti,/e ly.

The loan has a term of seven years from initial drawdown date, inclusive of a Erace period of one

year reckoned from the initial cjrawdown date, payablein24 quarterly principalamortizations after

the lapse of the grace period. lnterest, which is based on floating rate of the higher of the

three-month Benchmark Rate plus spread of 3% per annum and BSP Overnight Borrowing Rate plus

spread of 1.25{,Ya per annum, is payable quarterly.

The loan was fully sett{ed in 2o17 .

Capitali;red interest an,J other financing costs on the Ioans are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

Noter 2018 24fi 2016

Land and developrnent costs
I nve,stment properties

7

11

P145,957 p67,037 P36,440
L )1)

?745,957 p7L,249 P36,440



-58-

The rate used to determine the amount of borroruiirg cost eligible for capitalization was 6.5%and

7.lYa, as at December ii1,, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

AAPI

On February il, 2O\7, AAPI entered into an ACL agreement with BDOLFI for a loan facility of

FZ4S,0 million for the purpose of financing the acquisition of an ATR72 Turboprop Aircraft,

MSN 678, AAPI made its initial drawdown amounting to P205.7 million on February 14, 2017 at a

fixed inl.erest rate of 7 .O% per annum,

On Octcrber 5,2017, the loan facility was increased to F265,2 million to accommodate the financing

of a replacement engine for the said aircraft. AhPl rnade its second drawdown amounting to

P38.4 million on November l.6,2017 at a flxed interest rate of 8,0% per annum'

lnterest expen5e recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive incorne amounted to
p16.4 nriltion andP12.B million in 2018 and 201"7, 1'he principal and interest of the loan is payable

within 6'0 months frorn the date of initial borrowing.

The ACt- is secured by the: (a) deed of chattei mortgage over the subject aircraft with a carrying

amount of P374,4 million as at December 31, 2018; and (b) continuing surety of ALPHA, AAl, ASfl

and ABIRC.

The scl"eduled maturities of
(in thousands):

2019

2420
202 1 and crnwards

AAPI's outstanding loans as at December 31, 2018 are as follows

P49,083

52,746

66,535

Les:; deferred finarrc

168,364
(626)

P167,738

AAI

On March 4,20L6, AA.1 entered into an ACL agreement with BDOLFI for a loan facility of
p309.0 million for the purpose of financing the acqr:isition of ATR72 Turboprop Aircraft, MSN 666'

On Mar,:h 4,2016, AAI made its drawdowrr arnounting to P266.8 million.

Loan interest rate is the prevailing market rate on actual booking date up to January L, 2017. A

subseqilent agreement changed the fixed interest rate into a floating interest rate that is repriced

quarterty based on thre sum of the prevailing three-month PDST-R2 rate and 2.75% per annum

effective January ?.,2017. The principai and interest of the loan is payable within five years from the

date of initial brorrowirrg. Monthly amortization amounts to P5.3 million.

lnterest rate of the long-term debt ranges from 5.i32% to 7.A4% in 2018 and 5.06% ia7"25% per

annum in 2017 and 201.6. lnterest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income amounted to P10.2 million, 813.0 million and P15.4 million in 2018, 2017 and

2016, respectively.

The ACL is secured by the following: (a) deed of chattel mortgage over the subject aircraft with a

carrying; amount of F449.3 million as at December.31,2018; and (b) contirruing surety of ASTI and

ABIRC.
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AAI's outstanding loans as at December 31, 2018 are as followsThe schedulerJ maturities of
(in thousands);

2019
20210

202.1 and lfnwards

P55,596
59,467
15,503

Less deferred financing cost
130,566

(42s)

Pl_30,141

Pursuant to the terms of the loan agreements, tlre Group is restricted from performing certain
corporate act:; without written consent from the creditor bank and is required to comply with
certain financial covenants.

The agreements also contain cross default provisions triggered by failure of the Group to comply
with any term, obligation or covenant contained in any loan agreen'|ent.

ABMLHI
Cln November 16.2018, ABMLHI entered into a menrorandum of agreement with BDO Unibank, lnc.
for a CTS recei'rable purchase facility of P500.0 million to refinance the existing CTS receivables.

The noles payable represents liability from the assigned receivables with recourse of ABMLHT which
bears an effec;tive rate of 7% and has a term of li years payable in equal monthly amortization
inclusive of principal and interest, lnterest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income arnounted to PL.1 million in .2018.

Sumnrarized below are the details of the notes payable:

Avaf lrnents; P382,737

-----
,As at December 31,2018, trade receivables ilnd contract assets assigned amounted
F528.8 rnillion and F39.2 million, respectively (see Note 6i.

lnterest experlse and other finance charges recognized in the consolidated statements
comprehensive, income are as follows;

(ln Thousands)

2018 2017 2016

of

Lon6l-term Cebt

Finarnce charges
Others

8320,039

1,301

p333,248

29,21"8

3,261,

P291,489

3,261
F321,345 P365,727 F294,749
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L6. Equity

CapitjrlStqck

The compositi,rn of ALPHA's capital stock consisting of all common shares are as follows:

2018 2077

Amount+
Number of

5h a res Amount*

Authorized - F0.1 Par Value and Pl^ Par

Value irr 2018 and 20i17, respectively 50,000,000,000 85,000,000 5,000,000,000 Pl.Q!!,090:=

Number of
Shares

lssued
Beglnning of year

Addltians;

2,654,707,417
186,466,424

( 12,450,847,3 1 1)

t2,655,707 2,654,7A7,477
LA6,467

72,655,7A7_

Effect of stock split 25,570,564,569

,654,707 ,417End of year _ 28,41t,738,4L0 2,842.,174 2,654,707,417 2,655t7Q7

Parent Company's shares held by a
subs;idiary

Beginning of year

Effect of ,tock split
,Additions

(!,783,427,479) (16,881,220) 17,379,270,978]} 116,8L7,972t

- lo,zro,soit toi,zaet
End of year _ .-............_ _ * {13,834,274.,790) (15,881,220} (1,383,427,479} (16,881,220)

Treasury

Beginning of year

ttfect of :stock split
Reissua nce

t423,900) (1.214) (1,s23,900)

(3,81s,100) 
_ 1,100,000

(L2,214)

11,000

End of year (4,23e,000) (1,214) (423,900) (1,2t4\
t4,573,224,620 1,270,856,038

rtn thoilsandJ.

The total number of shareholders, which includes PCD Nominee Corporation, is 88 and 57 as at

Decenrber 33",20L8 and 201"7, respectively.

Pare.nt Comgany's Shares Hel{..by a Subsidiarv

On Junr: 5,2A14, Alphaland Holdings (Singapore) ?te. Limited (AH) and Masrickstar Corporation
(MC)orrone hand, anclanothergroup affiliated with RVO including ALPHA and ASTI (collectively, the
"RVO Group") entered into a MOA to settle a sharelholder dispute. Pursuant to the MOA, ALPHA,

through its 100%-owned subsidiary, ASTI acquired the shares of stock of ALPHA owned by AH, MC

and Credit Suisse (Singapore) Limited (Credit Suisse), another shareholder, and received

P2,500.{l million in cash in exchange for assets and liabilities mainly comprising of 100% ownership

of Alphaland tt4akati Tovrer, lnc. (AMTI); 100% ownership of Alphaland Marina Corporation (AMC)

including AMC's investment in preferred shares of Alphaland Marina Club, lnc. (AMCI);50%
ownership of A,BCC, the joint venture company formed by ASTI and a group led by D.M. Wenceslao

& Associates, lnc. (DN4WAl) (the Wenceslao Ciroup or "WG"); and 6A% interest in the
unincorporated joint venture between the Group and Akean Resorts Corporation and the additional
parcels ,rf land acquired by the Group with total area of approximately 10.81 hectares.

On October 17, Z}tu\, these assets owned by the 6roup were transferred to Bedfordbury

Development Corporation (BDC), a newly incorporat,rd company- owned by AH and MC. AH, MC and

BDC will be coliectively referred to as the "AH Group,"
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The 6roup's joint venture with WG is subject tCI litigation because of WG's actions in causing a delay

in ASII and AMiC's construction and clevelopment of the Marina Club Project With BDC's takeover

of AMC and AMCI, BDC assumed the responsibility of handlirtg the liti8ation with WG.

pursuant to the implementation of the MOA discussed above, ASTI acquired shares of stock of

ALpHA owned by AH, MC and Credit Suisse amountin6lto p16,818.0 million.

ln 2017, ASTI acquired additional shares of stock of ALPHA owned by a minority shareholder

amounting to F63.2 million.

Stock Split
On January 19, 2018, ALPHA filed a L0-for-1 stock sSrlit with the SEC. On December 10, 2018, the

SEC approved the application for the stock split, whereby its capital stock would be divided into
p50.0 billion cornmon shares with a par value P0.10 each share. The stock split has no dilutive effect

on the proportionate perrcentage ownership of the slriareholders.

The resulting shareholCer structure of ALPHA, afte'r the transactions mentioned above, net of

treasury shares and shares held by a subsidiary, is as follows:

Shareholders Number of Shares

RVO Ca pita t Ventures CorPoration

Boerstar Corporation
Red Epoch Group Ltd.

Fine Land Limiterj
A,ru resta r Corporation
L0ustar Corporation
Powerventures, lnc.

6illaxyhouse, lnc.

Crystal Ventures, lnc.

Towermill Capital Ventures Corporation
Gemsplace Resources, lnc.

Summer Wind Capital Ventures Corporation
Nr:ble Ca re Man;agement Corporation
Mega Access CapitalVentures, lnc.

Globalcentric Corporation
[arthlight, lnc.

Regentstar Holdings Corporation
Citadel lnvestments Limited

Derek Arculli
Rr:dcrest Holdingls Corporation
Major Holdings Corporation
Other minority

8,426,567,454
1,,677,884340

961,134,L30
890,000,000
280,626,360
))) t-tn' q'7n.

219,604,500

190,304,900

1.88,796,760

788,454,140
1"87,512,680
167,1.69,730
145,91"6,470

100,825,370

100,473,660
10a,247,230
100,138,190

100,000,000
100,000,000

98,566,s20
90,118,820
36,312,930

L4,573,224,62A

Retained Eprnirgg
Accumulated elquity in net inconre of an associate and subsidiaries not available for dividend

declaration ant,3unted 1o816,531.4 nrillion and P24,879.4 million as at December 31, 2018 and

2017, respectivr:ly, Significant components of the rertained earnings pertain to cumulative gain on

fair valuer chang,es of investment properties Further, the Group's existing loans with various banks

prohibit the declaration and payment of dividends.
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17. Related Party'lransactions

The Group, in its regul,ar conduct of business, has ti'ansactions with its related conrpanies. The

follovring tablels summarize the transactions with the related companies and outstanding balance

arising from these transactions.

(ln Thousands)

?018 20t7
Pu rchases Rental Purchases Rental

A:rsot:i0te

A:;AI F- P- F34,273 F195

Reloted contponies un'!er common key

m0naqement F* F- FBz,4t2 F955

(ln lhousands)
2018 20!7

Nature oI Arnount of
TaJrr5Jct,on! Transactions

Outstanding Amount of Outstanding
Balances Transactions Balances

Irade and othel receivables
Trade

Reloted comp0ni es u nd e r
cofimon key manogenent

Air transport
services

Real estate

sales

8184,348

702,987

P3 17,380

301,762

P23,745 ?154,167

176,362 138,053

619,142 792,820

N0ntrade
R e loted com pen i es u nd e r

Iotfitn ou key mqrr r a rnr r,
Capital

expenditu res,

,lebt servicing 215,400 55,276

Contract asselrs

Re lated com pu n ies u nd er
romrton key' manogement

Real estate

sa les 286,025 150,265 4 s 2,611 351,356

P824,583 *644,776

Trade and other payables
Trade
i? el lte,i com pdilies u rt de r

common ket. rn o nage nent

Assaci)te -

ASAI

Acquisition of
properties

Purchases

Security services

72,216,t!7
24,699

7647,30r

1,143

F_

82,472

34,273

P_

52

7648,444 P52

Advances to
4sri0cirfe -

.AH EC

Reim bu rsenrent
of expenses P1,023 F1,023

Re!ated com pan i es u n d e r Rel m bursern ent
common key manage me'tt of expenses F647,L26 F3,119,379 P368,325 ?2,777,O48

Advances fronr
Rdoted componies under

cofitilotl key mon a ge m ent
Purchase of

assets and
reim bursement

of expenses 8163,488 ?245,252 p71 ,Agt P81,764
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Other transar:tions of the Group with its related cornpanies are as follows:

r As discussed in Note 11, RVO is the beneficial owrrer of the investrnent properties (e.i. Baguio

Property) acquired by the Group during 2015.

r ln 2015, the 6roup entered into lease agreements with TCCAMPI and ABICI for the rental space

of AWCI, ln January 2017, ABICI and TCCAMPI rescincleci the lease agreement and started to

assume the rental charges at no cost to AWCI. Rent expense amounted to P23.2 million in 20L6

(see Note L8).

r ln April 201.3, ABICI and the ABIRC executed a Letter Agreement wherein the parties agreed that

the difference between the budget under the Supplementary DA and the actual construction

costs incr;rred will be treated as advances to ABlCl. Advances to ABICI related to this agreement

amountirrg toF1,575.5 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is due and demandable

(see Note 10).

r On August 5, 2012, ALPHA, ASTI and ABICI executed a Letter Agreentent whereby ASTI, as the

developrnent arm of the Alphaland 6roup and on behalf of ALPHA, undertakes to perform

ALpHA's obligations under the DA (as supplemented) entered into by ALPHA with ABIRC and

ABICI over the lsland Club, specifically to provide a subsidy to the lsland Club's operations during

ABICI's c0nstructi0n Period.

IgItIgIC-Arnd itions of Tra nsa ct-i qns with Related Com pa n i es

Outstanding balances as of year-end are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and settlement occurs in

cash or equity. The Group has not made any provision for impairment losses relating to the

amounts owr:d by related companies.

Compensation sf Kev Manaeement Personngl

The details of compensation of key management personnel, which include its senior vice presidents,

follow;

{ln Thousands}

2018 ZAfl 2016

Short-term employee benefits P92,254 P83,868 F36,326

_-*-
Stq-€!--og!g!, tlan
On Nrivemb<:r 27,2017 and December 79,z}rc, the Stock Option Plan Committee awarded stock

options to k(ly officers and employees of the Group. The Stock Option Plan was approved by the

BODof ALPHAonJune S,2O],3,andbystockholdersrepresentingmorethan2/3at theoutstanding

capitalstock of ALPHA during the annual meeting held on December 3,203"4. The Stock Option Plan

is still subject for approval by the SEC as at December 31, 2018 and will not be effective until

approved.

il
,.,ilGI

*l;)
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18" Operating Lease Commitments

Operating Le,ase - Group as a Lessor

ASTI and AMPI entered into various operating lease agreements as a lessor covering mall and office
spar:es at Alphaland Southgate Tower and Alphaland Makati Place for a period of one to ten years

and two to ten yeilrs, respectively, which may be renewed or extended under such new or

additiorral terms or conditions agreed by the parties. Upon inception of the lease agreements,

tenants are required to pay certain amounts of deposits, Commencement of the lease term started

upon completion of construction of the mall and tower in November 2013 and November 2017,

respectively.

Tenants likelvise pay either a fixed monthly rent, ri;fi161'l is calculated with reference to a fixed sum

per square nleter of area leased, or pay rent on a percentage rental basis, which comprises a basic

rnonthly amount and a percentage of gross sales or a minimurx set amount, whichever is higher.

The terms o{ the lease agreements also provide for an increase in the rent generally at the rate of
5% b LA% starting on the second year and annually thereafter for ASTI; and 5% to 7% escalation

rat€ starting on the third year of the lease term for AMPI.

Rent income and common utilities, services and maintenance charges from Alphaland Southgate

Tow,er and Alphaland Makati Place aggregated to F1",I73.7 million, P834.8 million and P696.0 million
in 2018,201.2 and 2016, respectively (see Note L1). Direct costs related to rent income aggregated

to p229.2 million, P192.8 million and E121.6 million in 201-8, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which

mainly comprised of utilities and commissary costs (see Note 11).

,As;lt Decenrber 31, 2018, the estimated minimum future rental receivables under the lease

agreernents ;rre as follows {in thousands):

{ln Thousands}

2018 2011

tV thin one year

After one year bul r']ot more than five years

P834,358

2,!14,798
?1.O5,464

368,768

P2,949,156 2475,232

As at Decemtrer 31., 20L8 and 2017, the Group's receivable from tenants amounting to P88.1 million

and P34.0 million, re$pectively, were presented under "Trade and other receivables" account in the
cons;olidated statements of financial position (see Note 6).

The Group's r:ustomers' deposits on lease contracts are as follows:

{ln Thousands)

2018 2017

l:urrent
Noncurrent

F3,592

266,111

p73,504

97,605
p269,743 P171,109

Customers'drlposlts on lease contracts are generally equivalent to six months rental and refundable
at thre end of the lease term. Current portion pertains to one yearoperat;ng lease agreements while
noncurrent portion pr:rtains to two to five years'op,erating lease agreements,
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The Group recognizes the customers' deposits at fair value. The fair value of the deposit is

deterrnined ba,sed on the prevailing market rate of interest for a sirnilar loan. The excess of the

principal amourrt of the cleposit over its fair value is accounted for as deferred lease income and

amortized on a straight-line basis. The deferred lease income amounted to F0.1' million and

P0.4 rnlllion a:; at December 31,2018 and 2017, respectively, and is included under "Other

noncurrent liab,ilities" account ln the consolidated statements of financial position' lnterest on the

deposit is accounted for using the effective interest rate method.

Aside from customers' deposits paid by tenants, advance rentals generally equivalent to two months

rental are also paid and included in the initial billing to tenants, which shall be applied to the

montirly renta at the end of the lease term. Advance rental amounted to F21.0 million and

p 17,7 million as at December 31, 2018 arrd 2017, respectively, and is included under
,,Other noncurrent liabilities" account in the consolidated statements of financial position'

Operal1Jlglg-g5e-- 6ro"Hp as a Lessee

AWCI has entered into a commercial lease for the rental space of wellness centers for an indefinite

periocl until such agreement is terminated. AWCI has determined, based on an evaluation of the

terms and conrlitions of the arrangement, that the lessor retains all the significant risks and rewards

of ownership of the properties and thus, accounts for the contract as an operating lease'

ln January 201.7, the parties agreed to rescind the agreement on the commercial lease' AWCI

recogrrized retlt expense amounting to F23.2 million ln 2016 (see Note 17).

19. Revenues

This account consists of:

{ln ThoLrsandsi

Note ?018 2077 7016

Rent 18

Real estate sales of:
Towers 1 and 2
Log hornes

Private V lla

Parking slots

91,173,732

499,936
467,334

33L,250

48,006

226,042
35,557
26,5t4
18,7]-5
17,033

33,690

P834,780

356,834
222,AAO

745,556
4t,176

200,483

20,992

15,499
t7,764
77,343

F696,045

7,4!7,187

4,054

174,774

13,L88

19,635
10,870

Air transpo rt servictts

Medicalservices
Roo''n revettues
Sercurity services
lnterest income
Others

F2,877,819 P2,483,427 P2,335,748

others consist mainly of commission incorne and income from restaurant operations
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20. Cost and ExPenses

Cost ,end expenses are classified

follolt,s:

in the consoli,Cated statements of comprehensive income as

(ln Thousands)

2018 2017 2015Note

Cost of real estate sold:
Land and development cost F831,304 8818,365 1r1,073,691

15,975 21,L66Parking lots for sale 7 , 28,050

F859,354 P834,340 it7,094,857

Cost of services:
Tran sportation
Utilities
Depreciation and amortization
Medlcal services
Ot[rers

1.2

F305,511

233,413

79,L25
23,345

5,195

F161,916
1q7 7q!.

5,194

?757,A44
121,633-

7,207

6r:neral and administrative:
Salaries and emploYees' benefits

Taxes and licenses

Utilities and rent
Service and professional fees

Travel and transportation
Repairs and ma intenance

Sales and marketing
I nsu rance

Depreciation and amortization
Representation
5u nplies
Communication
Donation
Wrlte-off of trade and other

receivables

Others

12

F263,319
164,894

144,774
119,0?5

82,40L
73,285
52,644
46,359
45,646
37,989
12,963
1.0,886

F 219,857
69,110

1.09,372

83,394

62,944
39,2t6

q dq6

33,587
49,356
t8,26\
1,4,013

7,868
11A 1?)

q4,fi8

F57,328

50,001
87,353

85,455

27,915
29,922
34,416

6,643

83,076
10,434
6,606
4,242

5,850

27,815187,195

P1,237,330 P814,784 P528,056

Transcortation expense under "Cost of service:s" account includes depreciation amounting to

P171.3 million, F75.2 million and P38.8 million in 2018,2017 and 20L6, respectively (see Note f2)'

In December 2A!1, ASTI donated to Ateneo de Manila, lnc, (Ateneo), a non-stt)ck, non-profit

educational institution, various real and personal property in support of the rnission of Ateneo to be

an educational institution with the highest level of professional competence and service in order to

provirle the best possible quality of formation and education to its students.

F646,589 P360,468 F285,884
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31. Retirement Liability

The 6roup has an unfunded defined benefii plan cr:vering all its regular employees. Benefits are

computr:d using an amount equivalent to one-half ntonth's salary for every year of :;ervice, with
six months or more of service considered as one yernr. The retirement liability is determined using

the projected unit credit method.

The following tables sunrmarize the components of retirement expense recognized in the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income and retirement liability recogr{ized in the

consotidated statements of financial position based on the latest actuarial valuation as at

December 31,,2A]-7.

(ln Thousands)

2018 2017 2016

Retirement benefit cost:
Current service cost
lnterest cost
Past service cost - curlailment

918,137
L,794

P10,548

2,173
(6,296)

86,299
1,195

F19,931 ?6,425 $t7,494

{ln Thousands)

2018 2017
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Present value of defined benefit obligation:
Balance at beginning of year

Current service cost
lnterest cost
llemeasurement gain

,Additions during the year

Past service cost - curtailment

P24,457
18,264
L,794

F31,416

10,548
2,773

(;12,504)

9,114
(6,296)

lSalance at end of year F44,509 P:|4,451

The accumulated remeasurement gain on retirenent liability, net of deferred income tax,

recognized in the equity section of the consolidatec statements of financial position amounted to
F45.4 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Principal actuarial assumptions used to determine rel"irement benefit obligations are as follows:

20172018

Discount rate
Salary increase rate

5.70%
5.OO%

5,70%

s.00%
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The sensitivity analysls below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each

significant assumption on the present value of the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the
reporting period, assuming all other assumptions wr:re lreld c0nstant:

(ln Thousands)

lncrease (Decrease)

2018 2}fi
Discount rate:

lncrease by $.A% b 15,5%

Decrease by 71.5%ta 72,5Yo

Salary increase rate:
lncrease by 12.9% la 14.4o/o

Decrease by 10.8% lo 1,1.9%

(Fe86)

t,173

1,604

{t,4L4l

P3,545
(2,906)

3,274

{2,743lI

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as at year e:nded:

{ln Thousands)

2018 2077

20rr9

20it0
)n-,t 1

242t,7

2A2i.3 ra 2027

The avr:rage duration of the defined benefit oblig;ltion at
1.4.0 years in 2018 and 201.7,

F345

1,863
3,804

2,605

28,310

the end of the

P345

1.,863

3,804

2,605

28,310

period is :t2.8 years to

22. lncome Taxes

The provision for current income tax represents MCIT for ALPHA, ABMLHI and ABIRC in 2018,
ALPHA, ASTI and ABIRC in 2Ol7 and ABIRC in 2016 and RCIT for other companies within the 6roup.

For income tax purposes, full recognition is applied when more than 25% of the selling price of
condominium units has been coliected in the year of sale. Otherwise, the installmerrt method is

applied
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The firllowing ere the components of the Group's net deferred tax liabilities:

2018
Deferred tax liabilities:

(ln Thousands)

2AU

Gain on fair value change of investment properties
Unrealizecl valuation gain on AFS financial assets

Revaluation surplus
Accumulaled depreciation for tax purposes

Capitalized borrowing costs

E.xcess of trook basis over tax basis of accounting for
real estate transactions

E:xcess rent income under operating lease computed
on a straight-line basis

Unrealizeci foreign exchange gain

F12,845,181
4,O39,7A9
1,316,947

190,937
92,861

50,233

11,952
191

p10,662,606

2,603,611
32,506

145,?94
55,085

55,717

8,795

18,547,9L7 13,563,014

Deferred tax assets:
TVICIT

Retirement liability
NOLCO

Allowance for inipairment losses

3,734
2,931

2,843

7,747

75,5L2
31.,383

6,665 111,485

P18,541,245 P13,451,529

The fr;llowing deferred tax assets
profit will be a',railabie to allow the

were not recognized as it is not probable that sufficient taxable
benefit of the net deferred tax assets to be utilized in the future:

(ln Thousands)

2018 24fl
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NOLCO

U nearned ncome
MCIT

Allowance for impairment loss on receivables
Retiremen,: liabilitl,
Urnrealized foreign exchange losses

P240,485
31,550
19,930

9,923
7,036

3

F176,7A7

29,577
3,751
2,17L
4,666

353

F306,927 P217,225

The dietails of llotCO, which can be claimed
years from the year the NOLCO was incurred

Year lncurred
Beginning

Balance lncurred

as deduction from future taxable income, within three
is shown below (in thousands).

Applied/
Expired

Ending
Ba la nce

Valid
Until

20 1B

24fi
lu 1t)

20 15

P.
63 2,6 21

101,940

41,476

P371,947 p_

{202,9511
(101,940)

t4t,a76)

p371",947

429,674
2A71.

2024
2019

2018

P775,637 p37 3",947 (F34s,967) F801,617



Thr: details of MCIT which can be claimed as deduction from income tax due are as follows:

Year lncurred
Beginning

Balance I n cu rred Applied
Ending

Ba I ance

Valid

Until
2018
2017

2016
)n1q.

P-
5,94 L

291
356

P16,426 B-

(3s6)

FL6,426
5,941

2021
2A20
2019
?nl c

F6,594 P16,426 (Fss6) P22,664

Ther reconciliation of income tax computed at statutory tax rate to provision for incorne tax shown
the consolidated statements of comprehensive inconre are as follows:

(ln Thousands)
2017 2016

lncome tax computed at statutory tax rate
Applied and expired NOLCO

Change ie unrecognized deferred tax assets

Expired ltllClT

Addition:; to (reductions in) income tax
resu ltirig fronr:
Nondeductible expenses and others
lntererrt income subjected to final tax
Incorn: subjected to CGT

Other:,

P2,180,080
103,790

89,742
356

64,L56

urr_,

P3,471,42L

25,794

1718,2541

61,767

11,4O1)
(36,946)

Fr3,063,206

16,530

15,205

72,053
(s2e)

{32,552)
(s1)

P7,437 P3,4A7,371 P3,133,962557

23. Total Comprehensive lncome Per Share and Book Value Per Share Computation

Tot,ll comprehensive inconre per share is computed as fr:llows:

2018 2077 2416
(a) Total comprehensive income attributable

to equity holders of the Parent Company
(in thousands)

{b) Weighted average number of shares

?8,726,791 P8,054,768 P7,702,674

outstandil_g before the efLg.g of stock s-plit ._11364,089,250 1,272,964,289 I,274,3/4,956
Basicldiluted earnings per share (a/b) F6.398 P6.328 P6.044

Book value p,3r share is computed as follows;

2018 201.7

(a) Totalequity (in thousands)
(b) Total number of shares outstanding at

end of year before the effect of

_ s iock spjit
Book valr"re per share (a/b) F48.081 P47.539

The informat on presented above are intended as additional information for managenlent reporting
purFloses onlv,

P70,070,138 P60,415,514

'J.,457,322,467 L,27Ct,856,039

2018
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24. Risk Nlanagem'ent Obiectives and Policies

Tlre Group's principal financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents' trade and other

receivabies (excluding advances to officers anr.l employees), advances to related companies'

restricted cash (preserrted under "Other current assets" account), refundable deposits; {presented

under,,Other roncurrent assets" account), advances to an associate, equity securities dr:signated as

FVOCI (formerly classified as AFS financialassets), trade and other payables (excluding dr:posits from

sale, unearnecl rent incOme and statutory payables), long-term debt' customers' deposits and

advances from related companies. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide

funds for the GrouP's oPerations.

The tloD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the t3roup's risk

manatSement 
.[ramework. The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and

manage the Group's exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction limits arnd controls'

and to monitc,r and assess risks and compliance to internal control policies. Risk rnanagement

polici*s and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditi<lns and the

Group's activit es.

The Group has exposule to credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk from the use of its financial

instruments. 1'he Group's exposLlre to foreign currency risk is minimal as it does not normally enter

into transactions in currrencies other than its functionat currerrcy. The BoD reviews and approves

the pr:licies for managing each of these risks'

!rcC$ 3$t
The Ciroup tra,les only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. lt is the 6roup''s policy that

all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification pr<lcedures' ln

addition, recelvable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group

expo$ure to b;rd debts is not significant. Fortransactions that are not denominated in tlhe functional

currency of tlre parent Company, the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific

approval of thr: Chief t'inance Officer.

with respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, the 6roup's exposure to credit risk

arises;from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equalto the carrying amount of

these instruments.

Since the Group trades with recognized third parties and related parties, there is no rec;uirement for

collateral. The,re are no other concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

Credit euality of Financial Assets. The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group

using internal credit ratings such as high grade and standard grade.

High 6rade - pertains to deposits or placements to counterparties with good credit rating or bank

standing. For receivables, this covers accounts of good paying customers, with good credit standing

and are not expected by the Group to default in settling its obligations, thus credit risk exposure is

minirnal. This normally includes large prime financial institutions, companies and government

agenr:ies.

Stanclard Gracle - other financial assets not trelonging to high quality financial assets are included in

this credit rating.
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The table below shows the credit quality of the Group's financial assets as at year entl:

(ln Thousands)
December 31, 2018

Neither Past Due nor lmpaired Past Due but
not lmpaired

Past Due

Grade Standard Grade

Fin$ncial Assets at
l\mortized Cost

Cash and cash

equ iva ients*
Tra,Je and other

receivables*'
Advances to an rssociate

and related
corl pa nies

Restrirted cash

Refundable dep3sits e9

F107,816

1,81 1,208

3,120,402
382,94{

36,?29

F107,816

1,405,306

3,120,402
382,944

F-

368,917

P107,816

r,774,223

3,!20,402
382,944

FL

7,260

F-

29,725

i,qsa,sgg 5,a5z,gg7 368,9!7 s,4?1,6L4 7,26:;.o 29t725

Fin:rn(ial Assets at
rVOCI

Unquoted Clubs'

ed sh;,res 5 31,036/085 31,036,08s

F36,494,684 F36,088,782 P368,917 P36,457,699 ?7,zCrA

'txt:tuding cosh ott hoDd omounting to 92,341.

(ln Thousands)

December 3t,20f7
Past Due butN€ither Past Due nor lmPaired Past Oue

Loans and Receivabtes

Cash and cash

{}qu iva lBnt s 
r

Trade and othe,
rectivables" ''

Adlances t0 an associate

and related
(o mpan ies

Re!lricted cash

P774,265

2,!45,617

2,718,07r
1,183

48,258

P2r4,265

1,288,2 28

2,778,07 7

1,183
48,258

P*

659,302

P214,265

1,947,530

2,778,O7r
1,183

48.258

B-

86,266

P_

1 1 1,846

Refundable deposits

5,187.419 4,330.00s 659,302 4,989,307 86,266 11 1,846

AFli Finailcial Arisets

unquoted clubs'
preierred sh; res 30,064,268 30,064,268 30,064,268

F3s,251,687 P34,394,273 F659,302 F3s,053,575 F86,266 P11 1,846

'€xdu6ing cosh on hond omounlin$ to 81,328
. . L<ctt(iing advor ces to olfice rs ond em ploye e s a nd inci ud ing nantur te il( por iion ol il a de /eceivoble s a marntinq ta p8,795 0 nd P49,(t88, rcsPectively.

Total Uiatl Craae Standard 6rade Total not lmpaired and lmpalred

I

:#il
_ q*-.I

--!**'
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The foll,rwing are the aging analyses of financial assets as at year end

{h Thousands}

December 31, ?018

Past Oue But Not t

Neither Past Due

Total nor lnrpaired
1*30
Days

31-60 61-90 More than

Past Due

And
lmpalredDay! Days 90 Dai's

Financial Aiisets at Afiortlzed
Co5t

Cash and c:ish equivalents3
Trade and otlrer receivableira
Advance$ to an assoclate and

rclatec companies
Reslrlcted cash

F107,816

1,811,208

J,1-20,402
38 2,944

Fl07,8r6
t,774,223

3,120,402
382,94.1

76,229

P-
7,260

2* P- B- F.
29,725

Refundable deposits 36.229

5,458,599 s,421,6L4 7,7.60 79,775
Flnaficial Alisets at fVOCI
Unquoted C.lubs' preferred

shares 31,036,085 1,065,311 - 29,970,Tt4
P36,494,684 t6,486,92S 97,7.60 P- 8- F29,974,n4 ?29,725

'tx.ktding cosh on honC omounling ta fr2,341.

" Excluding 0dvonces tx officers dnd employees ond hc{uding noncutrent $oftiaa al trode teceivobles omounting to F4,869 ilnd 811,424, ftspectively

[ln Thousands)

December 31. 2017

Past Dre But Nol lmptsired Past Due

I'Jeither Past Du0
Total nor lmpaired Days Days

61-90 More thar And
DaVs 90 Oays lmpair€d

1*30 i 1*60

P. P-
62,28.2 lX 1.846

F214,265
2,145,647

2,718,477
1 101

48,258

F214,265

1,947,530

2,778,471
1,183

r.i8,258

F-
71,562

P.
8,344

P.
4,078

Loans and Beceivables
Cash and cash equivalents'
Tr,sdE and other re6eivables*i
Aovantes t0 an associate and

related companies
Reslric(ed cilsh
Refundable ieposits

a

j'

I.,_ffi
:

hH*hI
)

h-"}T
i:

*
!c.ht
hah{I
:

hh
Tdl
It!r.Lfl,

&
B
B
B
h
{
L
fr.l

E}
tsrt
bri!

B
m
s
bia
hs-
d

s
n
h.

*

tr
n
il*
s
q*

s
|!r*
Lh.

{
:nfl

5,187,419 4,989,307 11,562 8,3d4 4,078 62,28;! 111,846
AFS Financi;rl Asssts
Urquoted C ubs' prele,rred

shares 30,064,268 30,054,268
P35.251,687 p35,053.575 ,.11.562 F8,34{ P62,28',L F11 1,845

'ExciudinA cash on honct dmountlng to tl1,328.
*aF-xclrding tdvontes t.t olfbars ona enpldyees and includinE noncurrcnt partioo aJ'trcde receivables olfiounting to P8,7gd ond p49,088, rspectivety.

lnterest Rate Risk
lnterest rate risk arises from the possibility that chaniles in interest rates will affect future cash flows
or the fair valles of financial instruments, The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates
primaril!'to its financiai instruments with floating interest and/or fixed interest rates. Fixed rate
financial instruments are subject to fair value interest rate risk while floating rate financial
instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risl<. Re-pricing of floating rate financial
instruments is tjone every three to six months, Interest on fixed rate financial instrum,ents is fixed
until maturity of the instrument. The details of financial instruments that are exposecl to inter€st
rate risk are disr:losed in Note 15.

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's
long-ternr debt subject to floating interest rates as discussed in Note 15.

The other finan,cial instruments of the Group are noninterest-bearing ancl, therefore, not subject to
interest rate risk.

F4,078
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The folk:wing table dernonstrates the sensitivity of the 6roup's profit before tax due to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates in the next reportirrg period with all other variables hetd constant.
There is no other impact on the Group's equity other than those already affecting profit and loss,

Effect on lncorne
lncrease/Decrease in lnterest Rate before Tax Effect orr Equity

i
I

bhfl
I

H
liP
tm
I

htfl
I
tbrhtr
I

W
&
is
i

m
iN
&
!r
i

h
!E,

B
HN

ffi
ry
B
e
f,
IEF.
nv

m
B
xl
e
s
ul
B
lhrry

$
E
b+r{r

B

December 31, 2018

Decr:m ber :\1, 7A17

Decr:mber 31, 2016

+LA%
*L,A%

+1.0%

-1.0%
+7.0o/o

I no/

{F11,735}
L],,735

( 12,s65)
t2,565
(26,398)

26,398

(F8,215)

8,215
(8,796)

8,796
(18,47e)

18,479

Liquiditv Risk

Liquiditi risk is the risk that the 6roup will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time.
Management is responsible for liquidity, funding, as well as settlement management. ln addition,
liquidity and funding risks, related processes and policies are overseen by management, The 6roup
manages its liquidity risk based on business needs, tax, capital or regulatory consi,ierations, if
applicable, through numerous sources of finance in order to maintain flexibility.

The Group also maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. The policy of the
Group is to first exhaust lines available from affiliated companies before local bank lines are availed,
The Group seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash planning on a weekly basis. The Group

uses hisl.oricall'igures and experiences and forecasts from its coliections and disbursements. As part

of its liqr"ridity risk management, the Group regularly rlvaluates its projected and actualcash flows. lt
also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue fund
raising activities. Also, the Group only places funds in the money rnarket which are exceeding the
Group requirenrents. F'lacements are strictly rnade l:ased on cash planning assr:rnption:; and covers
only a sl"rort period of time.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group's financial tiabilities based on
undiscounted cash flows:

{ln lhousands}

Decemb€r 31, 2018

More than 90
31-€,0 Days 61-90 Days Days TotalOn Demand 1-30 Days

Financia I Li;rbilities
Trade and other

paya bles*

Long-term debt
Customers' ,Cer:osits

Advances frorn related
co nrpa nie s

9487,746 F2,798,752
* 8,448

3.592

245,752

F22,330

8,498
F- F-

274,977 5,982,098

- 7.66,117

P3,309,929

6,274,A2t
269,703

245,252
8736,590 F2,807,200 F30,828 ?274,977 ?6,748,2A9 P10,097,904

'Exciu(jing depasits fratn 5sle, uneorr,ed tent incane, opd statytary payables otnaunlittg ta p587,234.
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(ln Thousands)

December 31, ZALI
More lhan 90

On Oerrand 1-30 Days 3l-50 Days 61-90 Days Days Total

h
M
b
h
hh
h
b
h
h,
h
hrt
FI,
b
h
b
b
brp
b^
rr
P
F
m
I

ffi
Ib
I

FD

B
I

hl
m
m
h

Fiflancial liabilities
T!'ide a*d olher

i-**g'*rm debt
!lr,:nrers' deposits
j*..,arses from related

:C:ttg,a nies

B2'271'6s5 814'?8x 
,uun; ,,'':i: t*,iii ';'r;,iii

$"764 8L'7GA

?2,351,42Q F14,281 ?2,877 R358,455 ?6,545,972 P9,275,005

'tjaiJjln! i2posits lrofi sole, uileot ile!j reili iacoile cnd stslutoty p1tobles amauntinq lo 8,169,562.

t3gi ta I lVLa n ase m -e--n!

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that the Group has sufficient

funds in order to support its buslness, pay existing c,bligations and maximize shareholder value. The

Group manages its capital structure and makes adiustments to it, in light of changes in economic

ronditirrns, Trl manage or adjust the capital structure, the Group may obtain additionai advances

from stockhol,Cers, adjust the return capital to stockholders or issue new shares. No changes were

rnade in the objectives, policies or processes in 2018 and 2017. The Group monitors capital using

the monthly cash position report and financial statements. The Parent Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements, Certain sr:bsidiaries, however, are required to maintain a

debt to equity ratio as provided in the loan agreements^

The cornponents of the Group's capital are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

2AL8 20L7

Layer l:
Capital stock
A,dditional paid-in capital

2?,842,\74 P2,655,707

L2,769,730 1"4,740,079

15,611,904 13,395,786

Lay,er ll:
Retaine(J earnings - operating income 8,7.55,826 1,0,757,447

Parent Compan,y's shares held by a subsidiary (16,881,220) (15,881,220)

Treasury shares (1,2t4) 11,21.4)

(8,626,608) (6,124,987)
Layer Ill:

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial assets 22,891,678 23,432,497
Revalualion surplus 3,103,638 75,850
Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement
obligation 45,350 45,350

Retained earnings - gain on fair value change of
investrnent properties 36,277,787 28,824,264

Retainecl earnin,gs - gain on bargain purchase 76L,887 761",887

63,080,334 53,139,848
Total capital F70,065,630 P60,414,647
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l-ayer I is composed of tlie Group's contributed capital;

l-ayer ll is conrposed of irrcorrre frorrr operations, excess of
interesl; and treasury shares; and

l-ayer lll is composed of income from fair value changes of
bargain purchase and unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial

acquisition price over acquired

investment properties, gain on
assets.

?5, Fair "Value Measurements

The followirrg table provides the fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

{ln Thousands)

December 31, 2018

Fair value measurement usinB

Quoted prices Significant Sl8nificant
in observable unobservable

active markets inPuts

Note Carrying Value Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2)

in puts
(Level 3)

Measured at F,rir Value
lirJnrial Assets -

e qL,ity securities designated
as FVOCI {formerly
ciass!fied as ArS fina ncial
a ssets)

Non-financial A.sset -

lnvestment properties

5erriced residences
Airr:r'afts

Fair Values are Disclosed
Finarrcial Asset -

Loans and receivables -

N0ncurrent trade
recei,;able5

Financial Liabiliry -

Custorners'deposits

10

L1

72

72

F31,036,085

47 ,675,812
8,149,852
1,636,459

\2,424

269,703

F31,035,085

47,675,812
18,149,852

r,536,459

72,424

269,703

P- F31,036,085 F-

* 47,675,8:1.2

- 8,149,852

- 1,636,459

t7,424

7,69,703

11

10

(ln Thousands)

December 31, 2017

Fair value rneasurement using

Note Carrying Value i:air Value

Quoted prices in
active markets

(Level r)

Significant Significant
observabie unobservable

inputs inputs

{tevel 2} (Level 3)

Measured at Fair Value
Financial Assets -

Equ;ty securities designated

ar; FVOCI {iormerly
classified ars AFS financial

Non-financial Asset -

Inve:iiment propertie5
Ai rcrafts

Fair Values are Disclosed
Fi*anciai Asset -

l-can: and receivables "

Noncurrent trade
receivablert

Financial Liability -

Custorners'deposits

10

11

1.2

F30,064,268

44,664,A13
1,534,710

4y,uoo

17 1,109

P30,064,268

40,564,073
r.,534,710

{y,Joo

177,994

s- P30,064,258 P-

13

- 40,664,073

- 1,534,710

49,088

117,95410

%

ffi
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iS. Commitments, and Contingencies

f,qmmitments
The Group entered into various construction contracts for the developmerrt of its projects

{see Note 8), Total advances to contractors amounted to F560.2 million and P749.5 million as at

Decernber 31, 2018 arrd 2017, respectiveiy (see Notes 8 and 13).

ihe significant constrLrction contracts that gave rise to the advances are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

Sub,sidiary 2018 2A!7 Nature
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b
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b
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AMPI

ABli4 LH I

P280,9e5 Pt92,43"2

151,716 204,8L2

Civil, structural, masonry works
and supply and installation of materials

for Alphaland Makati Place

Supply of labor, materials, equipment
and all related construction works for

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges

Project

Setention Payable
Retention payable is based upon specifically identifield construction contracts that stipulate the right
of the Group to retain a portion of the progress billings of contractors. Depending on the terms of
the corrtract, all retention payable shall be released to contractors upon 100% cornpletion and

acceptance of works normally within one year after completion. Total retention payable amounted
to P409.0 milli,rn and P407.5 million as at December31,20LB and2011, respectively (see Note 14).

Significant cortract with retention clause arises from the civil, structural and masonry works for
Towers 1 to 3 and the construction of the Podium. I'otal retention payable recognized by AMPI as at
Decemlrer 31, 2018 and 20L7 related to such contract amounted to P329.0 million, and
F351.4 rnillion, respect.ively.

Contingencies
As a result of the dispr"rte between the Croup and urith the WG (see Note 16), the cases have [:een

filed against each other. However, the agreement:;igned by the major shareholders r:f ALPHA, as

discusserd in Note L, includes the transfer of the Grcup's interest in ABCC, AMC and At\tlCl including
the assumption by BDC of the responsibility of handling all litigation and/or settling all clisputes with
the WG.

Deficiency VAT Assessrnent for ASTI and AMPI. The Bureau of lnternal Revenue (BlR) issued a Final
Decisiorr on Di:;puted r\ssessment (FDDA) to ASTI and AMPI on June 20,z}rc covering the taxable
year 2Ct14 amountin6l to P30.9 million. ASTI and AMPI filed their respective motions for
reconsideration, which were subsequently denied by the BlR. ASTI and AMPI elevated the cases to
the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA). The decision is still pending with the CTA.

Other Legol Coses. There are certain lawsuits and claims filecl by third parties agains;t the Group
which are either pending decision by the proper ludicial bodies or under negotiation, the outcome
of which are presently undeterminable. ln ihe opinion of the Group's management, the ultimate
disposition of these cases, disputes and assessments will not have a material adverse effect on the
financial positicin or re:;ults of operations of the Group.
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27. Note to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

The Group's noncash activities are presented below:

N ote

(ln Thousands)

2018 ZAU 2016

t*fl
rffi5
r{L5
ry"E5
h![t
*r,fl
hrfl
ttf,15
hLrflI
qrl
fl

W
b.rr.
hfl
ts.g

tq-

b
8m.fT
T*T
lr#r
fl

B
s
g
E-=I-

B
b
fl

t
fit

Transfers from land and development costs to;
Property and equipment
I nvestnrent prope rties

Transfers from investment properties to:
Land and development costs
Property and equipment

Forfeited sales:

LanrI and development costs

Park.ing lots for sale
AFS financial assets

C.ancelled sale -

Lancl and development costs

L1

P2,115,863

653,310
2,244

17L,543
13,447
2,794

57,222

or-
f ,ac f Ef

327.319
79,471-

392,383

P-

7

7

1U

The reconciliation of the Group's liabilities arising fronr financing activities is presented below:

{ln Thousands)

24fi Cash Flows

Non-cash

Flows 2018

Long-term debt
Accrued interest
Advancers from related parties
Other noncurrent liabilities

P6,596,620

75,376

81.,764

20,L78

{P411,1.16)

t?96,078)
163,488

9,792

773,427

468,993
F6,198,931.

188,291

245,252
29,910

P6,773,878 (F533,914) ?482,42A F6,662,384

(ln Thousands)

7416 Cash Flows

Non-cash
Flows 20L7

Long-term debt
Accrued interest
Advances frorn related parties
Other ncrncurrent liabilities

P5,522,357

47,492
a Ao?

89,809

P1,211,515
(605,945)

73,071
{69,6e1)

(p137,252) P6,596,620

574,229 1,5,376

87,764
* 20,11 8

p5,667,9s1 F608,95t) F436,977 p6,713,878
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